



REX640 Engineering Manual

RELION[®] PROTECTION AND CONTROL





Document ID: 1MRS759117 Issued: 2023-02-13 Revision: D

© Copyright 2023 ABB. All rights reserved

Copyright

This document and parts thereof must not be reproduced or copied without written permission from ABB, and the contents thereof must not be imparted to a third party, nor used for any unauthorized purpose.

The software or hardware described in this document is furnished under a license and may be used, copied, or disclosed only in accordance with the terms of such license.

Trademarks

ABB and Relion are registered trademarks of the ABB Group. All other brand or product names mentioned in this document may be trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective holders.

Open Source Software

This product contains open source software. For license information refer to product documentation at *www.abb.com*.

Warranty

Please inquire about the terms of warranty from your nearest ABB representative.

www.abb.com/mediumvoltage

Disclaimer

The data, examples and diagrams in this manual are included solely for the concept or product description and are not to be deemed as a statement of guaranteed properties. All persons responsible for applying the equipment addressed in this manual must satisfy themselves that each intended application is suitable and acceptable, including that any applicable safety or other operational requirements are complied with. In particular, any risks in applications where a system failure and/or product failure would create a risk for harm to property or persons (including but not limited to personal injuries or death) shall be the sole responsibility of the person or entity applying the equipment, and those so responsible are hereby requested to ensure that all measures are taken to exclude or mitigate such risks.

This product has been designed to be connected and communicate data and information via a network interface which should be connected to a secure network. It is the sole responsibility of the person or entity responsible for network administration to ensure a secure connection to the network and to take the necessary measures (such as, but not limited to, installation of firewalls, application of authentication measures, encryption of data, installation of anti virus programs, etc.) to protect the product and the network, its system and interface included, against any kind of security breaches, unauthorized access, interference, intrusion, leakage and/or theft of data or information. ABB is not liable for any such damages and/or losses.

This document has been carefully checked by ABB but deviations cannot be completely ruled out. In case any errors are detected, the reader is kindly requested to notify the manufacturer. Other than under explicit contractual commitments, in no event shall ABB be responsible or liable for any loss or damage resulting from the use of this manual or the application of the equipment.

In case of discrepancies between the English and any other language version, the wording of the English version shall prevail.

Conformity

This product complies with the directive of the Council of the European Communities on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to electromagnetic compatibility (EMC Directive 2014/30/EU) and concerning electrical equipment for use within specified voltage limits (Low-voltage directive 2014/35/EU). This conformity is the result of tests conducted by the third party testing laboratory Intertek in accordance with the product standard EN 60255-26 for the EMC directive, and with the product standards EN 60255-1 and EN 60255-27 for the low voltage directive. The product is designed in accordance with the international standards of the IEC 60255 series.

Safety information



Dangerous voltages can occur on the connectors, even though the auxiliary voltage has been disconnected.



Non-observance can result in death, personal injury or substantial property damage.



Only a competent electrician is allowed to carry out the electrical installation.



National and local electrical safety regulations must always be followed.



The frame of the protection relay has to be carefully earthed.



The protection relay contains components which are sensitive to electrostatic discharge. Unnecessary touching of electronic components must therefore be avoided.



Whenever changes are made in the protection relay, measures should be taken to avoid inadvertent tripping.

Contents

Int	roduct	tion	
1.1	This m	nanual	
1.2	Intend	led audience	
1.3	Produ	ct documentation	
	1.3.1	Product documentation set	
	1.3.2	Document revision history	
	1.3.3	Related documentation	14
1.4	Symbo	ols and conventions	14
	1.4.1	Symbols	14
	1.4.2	Document conventions	15
	1.4.3	Functions, codes and symbols	16
Rel	ay eng	gineering process	24
2.1	Monito	oring and control system structure	25
2.2	Defaul	It configuration	26
2.3	Workfl	low	26
PC	M600.		29
3.1	Conne	ectivity packages	
3.2	PCM60	00 and relay connectivity package version	
	3.2.1	Installing connectivity packages	
	3.2.2	Activating connectivity packages	
3.3	PCM60	00 projects	
3.4	Techni	ical key	33
	3.4.1	IEC 61850 naming conventions for an IED	
	3.4.2	Setting technical key	
3.5	Comm	nunication between PCM600 and the protection relay	
	3.5.1	Setting up IP addresses	
3.6	IED Up	odate	39
	3.6.1	Prerequisites for local and remote updates	
	3.6.2	Updating firmware or language	
Set	ting u	ıp a project	44
4.1	Creati	ng a new project	44
4.2	Buildir	ng plant structure	
4.3	IED ins	sertion	
	4.3.1	Inserting an IED in online mode	
	4.3.2	Inserting an IED in offline mode	
	Int: 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 Rel 2.1 2.2 2.3 PC 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 Set 4.1 4.2 4.3	Introduct 1.1 This m 1.2 Intend 1.3 Produ 1.3 Produ 1.3 Produ 1.3 Produ 1.3 Produ 1.3.1 1.3.2 1.3.3 I.4 1.3.1 I.3.2 1.3.3 I.4 1.4 Symbol 1.4.1 I.4.2 1.4.2 I.4.3 Relay eng 2.1 Monit 2.2 Defau 2.3 Workf PCM600. 3.1 Conne 3.2 PCM6 3.1 Conne 3.2 PCM6 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.5 Comm 3.4.1 3.4.2 3.5 Comm 3.6 IED Ug 3.6.1 3.6.2 Setting u 4.3 IED in 4.3 IED in 4.3 IED in 4.3 <t< td=""><td>Introduction. 11 This manual. 12 Intended audience 13 Product documentation set. 1.3.1 Product documentation set. 1.3.2 Document revision history. 1.3.3 Related documentation 1.4 Symbols and conventions. 1.4.1 Symbols. 1.4.2 Document conventions. 1.4.3 Functions, codes and symbols. Relay engineering process. </td></t<>	Introduction. 11 This manual. 12 Intended audience 13 Product documentation set. 1.3.1 Product documentation set. 1.3.2 Document revision history. 1.3.3 Related documentation 1.4 Symbols and conventions. 1.4.1 Symbols. 1.4.2 Document conventions. 1.4.3 Functions, codes and symbols. Relay engineering process.

		4.3.3	Inserting an IED from the template directory	56
		4.3.4	Inserting an IED by importing a .pcmi file	57
	4.4	Setting	g IED's IP address in a project	
	4.5	Using	the Web HMI	
	4.6	Relay u	Jser management	61
	4.7	PCM60	00 project's IEC 61850 version identification	62
5	Pro	tectio	on and control engineering	63
	5.1	Applica	ation Configuration	63
		5.1.1	Function blocks	64
		5.1.2	Signals and signal management	65
		5.1.3	Function block execution parameters	65
		5.1.4	Execution order and feedback loops	
		5.1.5	Connections and variables	67
		5.1.6	Hardware channels	
		5.1.7	Online monitoring	72
		5.1.8	Validation	73
		5.1.9	Configuration load calculation	74
	5.2	Param	eter Setting	75
		5.2.1	Configuration parameter	75
		5.2.2	Setting parameter	
		5.2.3	Setting group	75
		5.2.4	Parameter import and export	75
		5.2.5	Parameter organization	76
	5.3	Config	gure Autosynchronization	76
		5.3.1	Example case	77
		5.3.2	Configuring autosynchronization scheme	79
		5.3.3	Finalizing of generated autosynchronization configuration	
	5.4	Signal	Matrix	
	5.5	Load P	Profile tool	
		5.5.1	Opening and closing Load Profile tool	
		5.5.2	Load Profile tool user interface	89
		5.5.3	Information fields	91
	5.6	Fault R	Record tool	91
		5.6.1	Opening and closing Fault Record tool	
		5.6.2	Fault Record tool interface	92
	5.7	IED Co	mpare	
		5.7.1	Starting IED Compare	93
		5.7.2	IED Compare tool interface	94
	5.8	Protec	tion and control blocking examples	
		5.8.1	Protection blocking example	96
		5.8.2	Control blocking example	96

6	НМ	lengi	neering	
	6.1	Graphi	ical Display Editor	
		6.1.1	Creating complete local HMI page configuration	
		6.1.2	Creating complete switchgear HMI configuration	
		6.1.3	ABB built-in pages	
		6.1.4	Page Organizer	
		6.1.5	Switchgear HMI Page Editor	
		6.1.6	Page Editor	
		6.1.7	Symbol Editor	
		6.1.8	SLD Editors	118
		6.1.9	Language Translation	
		6.1.10	Saving, reading and writing configuration to IED	
		6.1.11	Previewing configuration	125
		6.1.12	Using HMI Client	
		6.1.13	GDE configuration export and import	
	6.2	Switch	gear HMI Configuration	
		6.2.1	Configuring switchgear HMI navigation page	128
	6.3	HMI Ev	/ent Filtering	129
		6.3.1	Starting HMI Event Filtering	130
		6.3.2	Setting visibility of HMI events	130
		6.3.3	Saving event filter configuration	
	6.4	User d	efined names	
	6.5	Alarm	configuration	
		6.5.1	Alarm list	
		6.5.2	Virtual programmable LEDs	
7	IEC	61850	0 communication engineering	
-	71	IFC 618	850 protocol references and pre-conditions	139
	7.2	IEC 618	850 interface	
		7.2.1	IEC 61850 interface in the protection relay	
		7.2.2	Function view for IEC 61850 in PCM600	
		7.2.3	Station configuration description file types	
	7.3	IEC 618	850 engineering process	
		7.3.1	Exporting SCL files from PCM600	
		7.3.2	Engineering vertical and horizontal communication	
		7.3.3	Importing SCL files to PCM600	
		7.3.4	Writing communication configuration to IED	150
8	Fle	xible r	product naming	152
-	8.1	IEC 618	850 Structure Mapping	

8.1.1

	8.1.2	IED and signal naming convention	153
8.2	Import	ing substation configuration description file	154
8.3	Startin	ig IEC 61850 Structure Mapping	156
8.4	IEC 618	350 structure mapping	157
	8.4.1	IED mapping	
	8.4.2	Data attribute mapping	160
8.5	Setting	g data attribute value	165
8.6	Validat	ion	
8.7	Templa	ate creation	
	8.7.1	Mapping template creation	167
	8.7.2	Applying of a mapping template to IED	167
	8.7.3	Exporting FPN templates	
	8.7.4	Reporting and printing	168
~			

9	Glossary	
---	----------	--

1 Introduction

1.1 This manual

The engineering manual contains instructions on how to engineer the protection relays using the different tools in PCM600. The manual provides instructions on how to set up a PCM600 project and insert relays to the project structure. The manual also recommends a sequence for engineering of protection and control functions, LHMI functions as well as communication engineering for IEC 61850 and other supported protocols.

1.2 Intended audience

This manual addresses system and project engineers involved in the engineering process of a project, and installation and commissioning personnel, who use technical data during engineering, installation and commissioning, and in normal service.

The system engineer must have a thorough knowledge of the application, protection and control equipment and the configured functional logic in the relays. The installation and commissioning personnel must have a basic knowledge of handling electronic equipment.

1.3 Product documentation

1.3.1 Product documentation set



Figure 1: The intended use of documents during the product life cycle

1.3.2 Document revision history

Document revision/ date	Product connectivity level	History
A/2019-05-08	PCL1	First release
B/2020-02-13	PCL2	Content updated to correspond to the prod- uct connectivity level
C/2020-12-09	PCL3	Content updated to correspond to the prod- uct connectivity level
D/2023-02-13	PCL4	Content updated to correspond to the prod- uct connectivity level

1.3.3 Related documentation

Name of the document	Document ID
TISSUES Implementation Conformance Statement (TICS) for the IEC 61850 interface in REX640	1MRS759027
Protocol Implementation extra Information for Testing (PIX-IT) for the IEC 61850 interface in REX640	1MRS759030
Protocol Implementation extra Information for Testing (PIX-IT) for the IEC 61850 9–2LE interface in REX640	1MRS759037
Protocol Implementation Conformance Statement (PICS) for the IEC 61850 interface in REX640	1MRS759029
IEC 61850 Ed2 Model Implementation Conformance State- ment (MICS) for REX640	1MRS759028



Download the latest documents from the ABB Web site *www.abb.com/ mediumvoltage*.

1.4 Symbols and conventions

1.4.1 Symbols



The caution icon indicates important information or warning related to the concept discussed in the text. It might indicate the presence of a hazard which could result in corruption of software or damage to equipment or property.



The information icon alerts the reader of important facts and conditions.



The tip icon indicates advice on, for example, how to design your project or how to use a certain function.

Although warning hazards are related to personal injury, it is necessary to understand that under certain operational conditions, operation of damaged equipment may result in degraded process performance leading to personal injury or death. Therefore, comply fully with all warning and caution notices.

1.4.2 Document conventions

A particular convention may not be used in this manual.

- Abbreviations and acronyms are spelled out in the glossary. The glossary also contains definitions of important terms.
- Menu paths are presented in bold.

Select Main menu > Settings.

• Parameter names are shown in italics.

The function can be enabled and disabled with the Operation setting

Parameter values are indicated with quotation marks.

The corresponding parameter values are "On" and "Off".

• Input/output messages and monitored data names are shown in Courier font.

When the function starts, the START output is set to TRUE.

- Values of quantities are expressed with a number and an SI unit. The corresponding imperial units may be given in parentheses.
- This document assumes that the parameter setting visibility is "Advanced".

1.4.3 Functions, codes and symbols

Table 1: Functions included in the relay

Function	IEC 61850	IEC 60617	ANSI
Protection			
Distance protection	DSTPDIS	Z<	21P,21N
Local acceleration logic	DSTPLAL	LAL	21LAL
Scheme communication logic	DSOCPSCH	CL	85 21SCHLGC
Current reversal and weak-end infeed logic	CRWPSCH	CLCRW	85 21CREV,WEI
Communication logic for residual overcurrent	RESCPSCH	CLN	85 67G/N SCHLGC
Current reversal and weak-end infeed logic for residual overcur- rent	RCRWPSCH	CLCRWN	85 67G/N CREV,WEI
Power swing detection	DSTRPSB	Zpsb	68
Line differential protection with inzone power transformer	LNPLDF	3Id/I>	87L
Binary signal transfer	BSTGAPC	BST	BST
Switch-onto-fault protection	CVPSOF	CVPSOF	SOTF
Three-phase non- directional overcurrent protection, low stage	PHLPTOC	31>	51P-1
Three-phase non- directional overcurrent protection, high stage	рннртос	31>>	51P-2
Three-phase non- directional overcurrent protection, instanta- neous stage	РНІРТОС	3 >>>	50P
Three-phase directional overcurrent protection, low stage	DPHLPDOC	31>->	67P/51P-1
Three-phase directional overcurrent protection, high stage	DPHHPDOC	31>>->	67P/51P-2
Non-directional earth-fault protection, low stage	EFLPTOC	lo>	51G/51N-1
Non-directional earth-fault protection, high stage	EFHPTOC	10>>	51N-2
Non-directional earth-fault protection, instantaneous stage	EFIPTOC	10>>>	50G/50N
Directional earth-fault protection, low stage	DEFLPDEF	10>->	67G/N-1 51G/N-1
Directional earth-fault protection, high stage	DEFHPDEF	10>>->	67G/N-1 51G/N-2
Three-phase power directional element	DPSRDIR	11 ->	67P-TC
Neutral power directional element	DNZSRDIR	12->,1o->	67N-TC
Admittance-based earth-fault protection	EFPADM	Yo>->	21YN
Multifrequency admittance-based earth-fault protection	MFADPSDE	lo>->Y	67NYH
Wattmetric-based earth-fault protection	WPWDE	Po>->	32N
Transient/intermittent earth-fault protection	INTRPTEF	lo>->IEF	67NTEF/NIEF
Harmonics-based earth-fault protection	HAEFPTOC	Io>HA	51NH
Touch voltage based earth-fault current protection	IFPTOC	IF>/UT>	46SNQ/59N
Negative-sequence overcurrent protection	NSPTOC	12>M	46M

Function	IEC 61850	IEC 60617	ANSI
Phase discontinuity protection	PDNSPTOC	12/11>	46PD
Residual overvoltage protection	ROVPTOV	Uo>	59G/59N
Three-phase undervoltage protection	PHPTUV	3U<	27
Three-phase overvoltage variation protection	ΡΗΥΡΤΟΥ	3Urms>	59.S1
Three-phase overvoltage protection	ΡΗΡΤΟΥ	3U>	59
Positive-sequence overvoltage protection	PSPTOV	U1>	59PS
Positive-sequence undervoltage protection	PSPTUV	U1<	27PS
Negative-sequence overvoltage protection	NSPTOV	U2>	47,59NS
Frequency protection	FRPFRQ	f>/f<,df/dt	81
Three-phase voltage-dependent overcurrent protection	PHPVOC	3I(U)>	51V
Overexcitation protection	OEPVPH	U/f>	24
Three-phase thermal protection for feeders, cables and distribution transformers	T1PTTR	3lth>F	49F
Three-phase thermal overload protection, two time constants	T2PTTR	3lth>T/G/C	49T/G/C
Three-phase overload protection for shunt capacitor banks	COLPTOC	3 >3 <	51,37,86C
Current unbalance protection for shunt capacitor banks	CUBPTOC	dI>C	60N
Three-phase current unbalance protection for shunt capacitor banks	НСИВРТОС	3dI>C	60P
Shunt capacitor bank switching resonance protection, current based	SRCPTOC	TD>	55ITHD
Compensated neutral unbalance voltage protection	CNUPTOV	CNU>	59NU
Directional negative- sequence overcurrent protection	DNSPDOC	12>->	67Q
Low-voltage ride- through protection	LVRTPTUV	UU	27RT
Voltage vector shift protection	VVSPPAM	VS	78VS
Directional reactive power undervoltage protection	DQPTUV	Q>-> ,3U<	32Q,27
Reverse power/ directional overpower protection	DOPPDPR	P>/Q>	32R/32O
Underpower protection	DUPPDPR	P<	32U
Three-phase under impedance protection	UZPDIS	ZZ	21G
Directional negative sequence impedance protection	DNZPDIS	Z2->	Z2Q
Three-phase under excitation protection	UEXPDIS	Х<	40
Third harmonic-based stator earth-fault protection	H3EFPSEF	dUo>/Uo3H	64TN
Rotor earth-fault protection (injection method)	MREFPTOC	lo>R	64R
Generator shaft leakage current	GSLPTOC	I>,GS	38, 51
Thermal overload protection for rotors	RPTTR	3lth>R	49R
High-impedance or flux-balance based differential protection	MHZPDIF	3dlHi>M	87HIM
Out-of-step protection with double blinders	OOSRPSB	oos	78PS
Negative-sequence overcurrent protection for machines	MNSPTOC	I2>M	46M

Function	IEC 61850	IEC 60617	ANSI
Loss of phase, undercurrent	PHPTUC	31<	37
Loss of load supervision	LOFLPTUC	31<	37
Motor load jam protection	ЈАМРТОС	lst>	50TDJAM
Motor start-up supervision	STTPMSU	ls2t n<	49,66,48,50TDLR
Motor start counter	MSCPMRI	n<	66
Phase reversal protection	PREVPTOC	12>>	46R
Thermal overload protection for motors	MPTTR	3lth>M	49M
Stabilized and instantaneous differential protection for ma- chines	MPDIF	3dl>M/G	87M/87G
Underpower factor protection	MPUPF	PF<	55U
Stabilized and instantaneous differential protection for two- or three- winding transformers	TR3PTDF	3dI>3W	87T3
Stabilized and instantaneous differential protection for two- winding transformers	TR2PTDF	3dI>T	87T
Numerical stabilized low-impedance restricted earth-fault pro- tection	LREFPNDF	dloLo>	87NLI
High-impedance based restricted earth- fault protection	HREFPDIF	dloHi>	87NHI
High-impedance differential protection for phase A	HIAPDIF	dHi_A>	87_A
High-impedance differential protection for phase B	HIBPDIF	dHi_B>	87_B
High-impedance differential protection for phase C	HICPDIF	dHi_C>	87_C
Circuit breaker failure protection	CCBRBRF	3I>/Io>BF	50BF
Three-phase inrush detector	INRPHAR	3I2f>	68НВ
Master trip	TRPPTRC	Master Trip	94/86
Arc protection	ARCSARC	ARC	AFD
High-impedance fault detection	PHIZ	HIF	HIZ
Cable Fault Detection	RCFD	CFD	CFD
Fault locator	SCEFRFLO	FLOC	FLOC
Load-shedding and restoration	LSHDPFRQ	UFLS/R	81LSH
Multipurpose protection	MAPGAPC	МАР	МАР
Accidental energization protection	GAEPVOC	U<,I>	50/27
Load blinder	LBRDOB	LB	21LB
Control			
Circuit-breaker control	CBXCBR	I <-> O CB	52
Three-state disconnector control	P3SXSWI	I<->0 P3S	29DS/GS
Disconnector control	DCXSWI	l <-> 0 DCC	29DS
Earthing switch control	ESXSWI	l <-> 0 ESC	29GS
Three-state disconnector position indication	P3SSXSWI	I<->0 P3SS	29DS/GS

Function	IEC 61850	IEC 60617	ANSI
Disconnector position indication	DCSXSWI	I <-> 0 DC	29DS
Earthing switch position indication	ESSXSWI	l <-> 0 ES	29GS
Motor controlled earthing switch and disconnector supervision	ESDCSSWI	ESDCCM	29CM
Emergency start-up	ESMGAPC	ESTART	EST,62
Autoreclosing	DARREC	0->1	79
Autosynchronizer for generator breaker	ASGCSYN	AUTOSYNCG	25AUTOSYNCG
Autosynchronizer for network breaker	ASNSCSYN	AUTOSYNC	25AUTOSYNCBT/ T
Autosynchronizer co-ordinator	ASCGAPC	AUTOSYNC	25AUTOSYNC
Synchronism and energizing check	SECRSYN	SYNC	25
Tap changer control with voltage regulator	OL5ATCC	COLTC	90V
Transformer data combiner	OLGAPC	OLGAPC	OLGAPC
Petersen coil controller	PASANCR	ANCR	90
High speed bus transfer	HSABTC	I<->O BT	HSBT
Condition monitoring and supervision			
Circuit-breaker condition monitoring	SSCBR	СВСМ	52CM
Hot-spot and insulation ageing rate monitoring for transformers	HSARSPTR	3lhp>T	26/49HS
Trip circuit supervision	TCSSCBR	тсѕ	тсм
Current circuit supervision	CCSPVC	MCS 3I	ССМ
Current circuit supervision for transformers	CTSRCTF	MCS 31,12	CCM 31,12
Current transformer supervision for high- impedance protec- tion scheme for phase A	HZCCASPVC	MCS I_A	CCM_A
Current transformer supervision for high- impedance protec- tion scheme for phase B	HZCCBSPVC	MCS I_B	ССМ_В
Current transformer supervision for high- impedance protec- tion scheme for phase C	HZCCCSPVC	MCS I_C	ссм_с
Fuse failure supervision	SEQSPVC	FUSEF	VCM, 60
Protection communication supervision	PCSITPC	PCS	PCS
Runtime counter for machines and devices	MDSOPT	OPTS	ОРТМ
Three-phase remanent undervoltage supervision	MSVPR	3U <r< td=""><td>27R</td></r<>	27R
Diesel Generator Monitoring	DGMGAPC	P><,U/f ><	32/40G
Measurement	•		•
Three-phase current measurement	СММХИ	31	IA, IB, IC
Sequence current measurement	CSMSQI	11, 12, 10	1, 2, 0
Residual current measurement	RESCMMXU	ю	IG
Three-phase voltage measurement	VMMXU	3U	VA, VB, VC
Single-phase voltage measurement	VAMMXU	U_A	V_A

Function	IEC 61850	IEC 60617	ANSI
Phase voltage measurement	VPHMMXU	3UL	VL
Residual voltage measurement	RESVMMXU	Uo	VG/VN
Sequence voltage measurement	VSMSQI	U1, U2, U0	V1, V2, V0
Three-phase power and energy measurement	PEMMXU	P, E	P, E
Load profile recorder	LDPRLRC	LOADPROF	LOADPROF
Frequency measurement	FMMXU	f	f
Tap changer position indication	TPOSYLTC	TPOSM	84T
Power quality			
Current total demand, harmonic distortion, DC component (TDD, THD, DC) and individual harmonics	СНМНАІ	PQM3IH	PQM ITHD,IDC
Voltage total harmonic distortion, DC component (THD, DC) and individual harmonics	VHMHAI	PQM3VH	PQM VTHD,VDC
Voltage variation	PHQVVR	PQMU	PQMV SWE,SAG,INT
Voltage unbalance	VSQVUB	PQUUB	PQMV UB
Traditional LED indication	-	-	_
LED indication control	LEDPTRC	LEDPTRC	LEDPTRC
Individual virtual LED control	LED	LED	LED
Logging functions	-	-	
Disturbance recorder (common functionality)	RDRE	DR	RDRE
Disturbance recorder, analog channels 112	A1RADR	A1RADR	A1RADR
Disturbance recorder, analog channels 1324	A2RADR	A2RADR	A2RADR
Disturbance recorder, binary channels 132	B1RBDR	B1RBDR	B1RBDR
Disturbance recorder, binary channels 3364	B2RBDR	B2RBDR	B2RBDR
Fault recorder	FLTRFRC	FAULTREC	FR
Other functionality	-	-	-
Parameter setting groups	PROTECTION	PROTECTION	PROTECTION
Time master supervision	GNRLLTMS	TSYNC	TSYNC
Serial port supervision	SERLCCH	SERLCCH	SERLCCH
IEC 61850-1 MMS	MMSLPRT	MMS	MMS
IEC 61850-1 GOOSE	GSELPRT	GSE	GSE
IEC 60870-5-103 protocol	I3CLPRT	I3C	ІЗС
IEC 60870-5-104 protocol	I5CLPRT	15C	15C
DNP3 protocol	DNPLPRT	DNP 3.0	DNP 3.0
Modbus protocol	MBSLPRT	MBS	MBS
OR gate with two inputs	OR	OR	OR
OR gate with six inputs	OR6	OR6	OR6

Function	IEC 61850	IEC 60617	ANSI	
OR gate with twenty inputs	OR20	OR20	OR20	
AND gate with two inputs	AND	AND	AND	
AND gate with six inputs	AND6	AND6	AND6	
AND gate with twenty inputs	AND20	AND20	AND20	
XOR gate with two inputs	XOR	XOR	XOR	
NOT gate	NOT	NOT	NOT	
Real maximum value selector	MAX3R	MAX3R	MAX3R	
Real minimum value selector	MIN3R	MIN3R	MIN3R	
Rising edge detector	R_TRIG	R_TRIG	R_TRIG	
Falling edge detector	F_TRIG	F_TRIG	F_TRIG	
Real switch selector	SWITCHR	SWITCHR	SWITCHR	
Integer 32-bit switch selector	SWITCHI32	SWITCHI32	SWITCHI32	
SR flip-flop, volatile	SR	SR	SR	
RS flip-flop, volatile	RS	RS	RS	
Minimum pulse timer, two channels	TPGAPC	ТР	62TP	
Minimum pulse timer second resolution, two channels	TPSGAPC	TPS	62TPS	
Minimum pulse timer minutes resolution, two channels	TPMGAPC	ТРМ	62TPM	
Pulse counter for energy measurement	PCGAPC	PCGAPC	PCGAPC	
Pulse timer, eight channels	PTGAPC	РТ	62PT	
Time delay off, eight channels	TOFGAPC	TOF	62TOF	
Time delay on, eight channels	TONGAPC	TON	62TON	
Daily timer	DTMGAPC	DTM	DTM	
Calendar function	CALGAPC	CAL	CAL	
SR flip-flop, eight channels, nonvolatile	SRGAPC	SR	SR	
Boolean value event creation	MVGAPC	MV	MV	
Integer value event creation	MVI4GAPC	MVI4	MVI4	
Analog value event creation with scaling	SCA4GAPC	SCA4	SCA4	
Generic control points	SPCGAPC	SPC	SPCG	
Generic up-down counter	UDFCNT	UDCNT	UDCNT	
Local/Remote control	CONTROL	CONTROL	CONTROL	
External HMI wake-up	ЕІНМІ	EIHMI	EIHMI	
Real addition	ADDR	ADDR	ADDR	
Real subtraction	SUBR	SUBR	SUBR	
Real multiplication	MULR	MULR	MULR	
Real division	DIVR	DIVR	DIVR	

Function	IEC 61850	IEC 60617	ANSI	
Real equal comparator	EQR	EQR	EQR	
Real not equal comparator	NER	NER	NER	
Real greater than or equal comparator	GER	GER	GER	
Real less than or equal comparator	LER	LER	LER	
Voltage switch	VMSWI	VSWI	VSWI	
Current sum	СМЅИМ	CSUM	CSUM	
Current switch	СМЅѠӏ	CMSWI	CMSWI	
Phase current preprocessing	ILTCTR	ILTCTR	ILTCTR	
Residual current preprocessing	RESTCTR	RESTCTR	RESTCTR	
Phase and residual voltage preprocessing	UTVTR	UTVTR	UTVTR	
Residual current preprocessing, current measured as voltage	RESUTCTR	lo(U)	lo(U)	
SMV stream receiver (IEC 61850-9-2LE)	SMVRCV	SMVRCV	SMVRCV	
SMV stream sender (IEC 61850-9-2LE)	SMVSENDER	SMVSENDER	SMVSENDER	
Redundant Ethernet channel supervison	RCHLCCH	RCHLCCH	RCHLCCH	
Ethernet channel supervision	SCHLCCH	SCHLCCH	SCHLCCH	
HMI Ethernet channel supervision	HMILCCH	HMILCCH	HMILCCH	
Received GOOSE binary information	GOOSERCV_BIN	GOOSERCV_BIN	GOOSERCV_BIN	
Received GOOSE double binary information	GOOSERCV_DP	GOOSERCV_DP	GOOSERCV_DP	
Received GOOSE measured value information	GOOSERCV_MV	GOOSERCV_MV	GOOSERCV_MV	
Received GOOSE 8- bit integer value information	GOOSERCV_INT8	GOOSERCV_INT8	GOOSERCV_INT8	
Received GOOSE 32- bit integer value information	GOOSERCV_INT32	GOOSERCV_INT32	GOOSERCV_INT32	
Received GOOSE interlocking information	GOOSERCV_INTL	GOOSERCV_INTL	GOOSERCV_INTL	
Received GOOSE measured value (phasor) information	GOOSERCV_CMV	GOOSERCV_CMV	GOOSERCV_CMV	
Received GOOSE enumerator value information	GOOSERCV_ENUM	GOOSERCV_ENUM	GOOSERCV_ENU M	
Bad signal quality	QTY_BAD	QTY_BAD	QTY_BAD	
Good signal quality	QTY_GOOD	QTY_GOOD	QTY_GOOD	
Received GOOSE Test mode	QTY_GOOSE_TEST	QTY_GOOSE_TEST	QTY_GOOSE_TES T	
GOOSE communication quality	QTY_GOOSE_COMM	QTY_GOOSE_COM M	QTY_GOOSE_COM M	
GOOSE data health	T_HEALTH	T_HEALTH	T_HEALTH	
Fault direction evaluation	T_DIR	T_DIR	T_DIR	
Enumerator to boolean conversion	T_TCMD	T_TCMD	т_тсмр	
32-bit integer to binary command conversion	T_TCMD_BIN	T_TCMD_BIN	T_TCMD_BIN	
Binary command to 32-bit integer conversion	T_BIN_TCMD	T_BIN_TCMD	T_BIN_TCMD	
Switching device status decoder - CLOSE position	T_POS_CL	T_POS_CL	T_POS_CL	
	•	•	•	

Function	IEC 61850	IEC 60617	ANSI
Switching device status decoder - OPEN position	T_POS_OP	T_POS_OP	T_POS_OP
Switching device status decoder - OK status	T_POS_OK	T_POS_OK	T_POS_OK
Controllable gate, 8 Channels	GATEGAPC	GATEGAPC	GATEGAPC
Security application	GSAL	GSAL	GSAL
Hotline tag	HLTGAPC	HLTGAPC	HLTGAPC
16 settable 32-bit integer values	SETI32GAPC	SETI32GAPC	SETI32GAPC
16 settable real values	SETRGAPC	SETRGAPC	SETRGAPC
Boolean to integer 32- bit conversion	T_B16_TO_I32	T_B16_TO_I32	Т_В16_ТО_І32
Integer 32-bit to boolean conversion	Т_132_ТО_В16	T_I32_TO_B16	Т_132_ТО_В16
Integer 32-bit to real conversion	T_I32_TO_R	T_132_TO_R	T_132_TO_R
Real to integer 8-bit conversion	T_R_TO_I8	T_R_TO_18	T_R_TO_18
Real to integer 32-bit conversion	T_R_TO_132	T_R_TO_I32	T_R_TO_I32
Constant FALSE	FALSE	FALSE	FALSE
Constant TRUE	TRUE	TRUE	TRUE

2

Relay engineering process

PCM600 is used for various tasks in the protection relay engineering process.

- Relay engineering management
 - Organizing the bay protection relays in the structure of the substation by defining voltage levels and bays below the substation. PCM600 manages the project.
 - Configuring the protection relay functions (for example, protection and control functions) by using Application Configuration.
 - Configuring the parameters and setting values for the protection relay and for the process functions by using Parameter Setting.
 - Configuring LHMI pages, drawing single-line diagrams and making links to dynamic process values by using Graphical Display Editor. The single-line diagrams are displayed on the LHMI and the WHMI on the bay protection relay.
 - Configuring connections between the application configuration function blocks and physical hardware inputs and outputs by using Signal Matrix or Application Configuration.
 - Configuring the events shown on the LHMI using HMI Event Filtering.
- Communication management
 - IEC 61850 station communication engineering is done using the internal IEC 61850 Configuration tool or the separate IET600. PCM600 interacts with IET600 by importing and exporting SCL files.
 - Configuring the GOOSE receiving data connections to the protection relay's application configuration function blocks by using the Application Configuration tool and the Signal Matrix tool.
 - Configuring protocol data mapping for Modbus, DNP3, IEC 60870-5-103 or IEC 60870-5-104 with the Communication Management tool.
 - Configuring the sampled values (process bus) between the devices using Application Configuration, IEC 61850 Configuration and Signal Matrix.
 - Configuring Ethernet ports and other network settings using Ethernet Configuration.
- Record management
 - Generating overviews of the available disturbance recordings in all connected protection relays by using Disturbance Handling.
 - Manually reading the recording files (in the COMTRADE format) from the protection relays by using Disturbance Handling or automatically by using PCM600 Scheduler.
 - Managing recording files with Disturbance Handling.
 - Creating overview reports for fast evaluation of the recording file content by using Disturbance Handling.
 - Reading fault records from the protection relay, saving records to a PC and clearing old records with Fault Record.
 - Reading load profile records from the protection relay, saving records to a PC and clearing old records using Load Profile.
- Service management

- Monitoring the selected signals of a protection relay for commissioning or service purposes by using Application Configuration, Parameter Setting and Event Viewer (including security logs)

There are also additional functions for managing projects and organizing user rights.

- PCM600 user management
 - Organizing users regarding their rights, profiles and passwords to use different tools and functions in the tools.
 - Defining allowed activities for user profiles to use tools in PCM600.
- Relay user management
 - Supporting user account management and role-based access control
 - Using IED Users for local user accounts and Account Management for central account management

Once the engineering of the protection relay is finished, the results must be written to the protection relay.

The connection between the physical IED and PCM600 is established via an Ethernet link on the HMI or LAN port of the protection relay.

2.1 Monitoring and control system structure

The monitoring and control system can be divided into three main parts which require specific engineering and configuration.

- Bay level devices
- Station communication
- Station level devices



IEC08000101.vsd

Figure 2: Principle structure of a monitoring and control system for a substation

A plant structure is used to identify each device in its location within the substation organization. The plant structure is a logical image of the substation and the bays within the substation. The device organization may differ from the structure of the primary equipment in the substation.

In PCM600 it is possible to set up a hierarchical structure of five levels for the device identification.

- Project
- Substation = name of the substation
- Voltage level = identifies to which grid type or part the device belongs in the substation
- Bay = bay within the voltage level
- IED = selection of the IED that is used in the bay; several IEDs can be inserted in a bay, for example, one control device and two protection relays

2.2 Default configuration

The protection relay contains a default configuration when delivered. The default configuration contains a simple application configuration and an LHMI configuration which can be used as a basis when the actual application configuration is created for the protection relay installation. The default configuration does not have output relays connected in the application configuration, so the relay and its configuration must not be used in installation as they are; modification of the application configuration is always required before commissioning.

The default configuration is available for IEC 61850 Edition 2 only, though the relay supports the IEC 61850 Edition 1 as well. For instructions on how to enable Edition 1 for the relay, see chapter IED insertion.

2.3 Workflow



Figure 3: Protection relay engineering workflow proposal based on practical experience and dependencies of the steps

It is possible to follow a different sequence based on the information available at the start of the project. This means that several iterations may be needed to complete the project.

PCM600 project setup

- The plant structure is built according to the substation structure.
- To add a protection relay to a project, a suitable connectivity package is needed. Protection relays can be added either while connected or disconnected or through other means such as an IED template.
- IED objects are uniquely named within the PCM600 project.

Application configuration in the Application Configuration tool

• Protection and control functions can be configured as needed.

• The configuration made in Application Configuration is saved to make the interfaces and signals available for other engineering tools within PCM600, for example, for Parameter Setting.

Parameter setting and configuration in the Parameter Setting tool

• The setting values are checked and adjusted with the Parameter Setting tool.

HMI engineering in Graphical Display Editor

 It is possible to create new pages, configure pages by adding widgets, set page visibility to different user categories, create single-line diagrams (shown on the LHMI and the WHMI) and symbols, and to provide language translations for the LHMI elements.

Communication protocol engineering

- The communication engineering details are protocol-dependent.
- The connectivity package creates the IEC 61850 configuration for vertical communication automatically and it is often directly suitable for IEC 61850 client configuration. Either IEC 61850 Configuration tool or IET600 is needed for configuring horizontal and vertical communication.
- The Communication Management tool is used for other protocols; for example Modbus.



The protection relay restarts automatically when writing a relay configuration where changes have been made. It is not possible to communicate with the protection relay during restart.

3 PCM600

Protection and Control IED Manager PCM600 offers all the necessary functionality to work throughout all stages of the protection relay's life cycle.

- Planning
- Engineering
- Commissioning
- Operation and disturbance handling
- Functional analysis

The whole substation configuration can be controlled and different tasks and functions can be performed with the individual tool components. PCM600 can operate with many different topologies, depending on the project needs.

PCM600 is used to conduct complete engineering and configuration activities needed for the bay-level protection relays.

Connectivity packages are separate software packages that provide type and version information to PCM600 and assist the tool with communications.

PCM600 communicates with devices over Ethernet using either IEC 61850 or the FTP/FTPS protocols. This communication allows PCM600 to configure and monitor the devices. In addition to IEC 61850, the devices have optional communication protocols and hardware to connect to station engineering tools. PCM600 provides the ability to export the configuration of the devices or an entire substation in a standard file format which enables station engineering in separate IEC 61850 system configuration tools.

A PC with PCM600 can be connected to any Relion protection relay within a station by using the Ethernet connection. The connection can also be used for service and maintenance purposes and to handle disturbance records from the protection relays.

The modern protection relays are designed using the concept of the IEC 61850 standard. This is mainly visible in how functions within the protection relay are modelled and how the protection relay is represented in the substation. The list of logical nodes available in the protection relay reflects the IEC 61850 parameter list. The logical nodes follow the structure and rules defined in part 7 of the standard.

The communication protocol engineering is a separate task and an addition to the engineering of protection and control functions.

As PCM600 can be used for different purposes throughout the protection relay life cycle, a set of tools is available for different applications.

The applications can be organized into groups.

- Relay engineering
- Communication engineering
- Record management
- Device monitoring and diagnostic
- User management



For more information, see the PCM600 documentation.

3.1 Connectivity packages

A connectivity package is a software component that consists of executable code and data which enable system tools to communicate with a protection relay. Connectivity packages are used to create configuration structures in PCM600. The latest PCM600 and connectivity packages are backward compatible with older protection relay versions.

A connectivity package includes all the data which is used to describe the protection relay. For example, it contains a list of the existing parameters, data format used, units, setting range, access rights and visibility of the parameters. In addition, it contains code which allows the software packages that use the connectivity package to properly communicate with the protection relay.

3.2 PCM600 and relay connectivity package version

- Protection and Control IED Manager PCM600 Ver. 2.12 or later
- REX640 Connectivity Package Ver. 1.3.0 or later



Download connectivity packages from the ABB Web site *www.abb.com/ mediumvoltage* or directly with Update Manager in PCM600.

3.2.1 Installing connectivity packages

 Install connectivity packages either by running the installer which can be downloaded on the ABB Web site or by using Update Manager when a network connection is available.



Download connectivity packages from the ABB Web site *www.abb.com/ mediumvoltage* or directly with Update Manager in PCM600.

3.2.1.1 Installing connectivity packages by using the connectivity package installer

- 1. Close PCM600.
- 2. Run the connectivity package installer.
 - ABB IED Connectivity Package REX640 Ver. n.msi
 - ABB IED Connectivity Package REX640 Ver. n. User Documentation.msi (optional)
 - (n = version number)

3. Follow the steps in the connectivity package installation wizard.

3.2.1.2 Installing connectivity packages by using Update Manager

1. In PCM600, click Help and select Update Manager.

Run Update Manager with administrator rights.

🚺 Update Manager	
Update Manager started without Administrator rights. You will not be able to install any updates without Administr If you have Administrator rights, please click on Run As Ad Note:- You can set the shortcut to run always as Administra	rator rights. Jministrator. ator in Advanced option.
Run As Administrator	Continue

Figure 4: Running Update Manager as an administrator

- 2. Select Get Connectivity Packages from the menu on the left column.
- 3. Select all the required connectivity packages.
- 4. Click Download and Install.

The status bar shows the installation status.

		Install available IED documentation	Show All	 Language Add-Ons English 	
🕽 Home		IED Products	Status		Size
😂 Saftuara Lindata (1)	😐 📃 670 Series				0 ME
Soliware Opdates (1)	B- 650 Series				0 MB
Get Connectivity Packages	B- 630 Series				0 MB
Manage Connectivity Packages	B- 620 Series				0 MB
	0 615 Series				0 MB
Settings	BX615			Product Web page	0 MB
	B REC615		Installed	Product Web page	0 MB
				Product Web page	0 MB
	⊕ REF615		Installed	Product Web page	0 MB
	E- REF615 ANSI			Product Web page	0 MB
	- REF615 CN 3.1			Product Web page	0 MB
	⊕-			Product Web page	0 MB
	- REM615 ANSI			Product Web page	0 MB
				Product Web page	0 MB
	⊕			Product Web page	0 MB
	E RET615 ANSI			Product Web page	0 MB
				Product Web page	0 MB
	B- 611 Series				0 MB
	- 610 Series				0 MR
				Download and Install 👻	Close

Figure 5: Selecting the connectivity packages

3.2.2 Activating connectivity packages

The relay connectivity package has to be installed before it can be activated in Update Manager.

- 1. Select **Manage Connectivity Packages** from the menu on the left column to access the installed connectivity packages.
- 2. Browse the tree structure to find the correct product.
- 3. Select the connectivity package version from the drop-down list beside the product name.



Figure 6: Selecting the connectivity package versions

PCM600 recognizes the installed connectivity packages during start-up, and the corresponding IED types are available in PCM600 when starting a new project.

3.3 PCM600 projects

A typical project in PCM600 contains a plant structure including one or several IED objects, where each IED object contains the engineering data created or modified using the different PCM600 tools.

Several projects can be created and managed by PCM600, but only one project can be active at a time.

Regardless of the protocol used in installation for each project, it is possible to have Edition1 and Edition2 relays configured in the same PCM600 project. The PCM600 project's SCL edition is the highest SCL edition relay in the project. If IEC 61850 is not used for station bus, either version can be applied. The protection relay's IEC 61850 version is by default Edition 2.

With PCM600, it is possible to do various tasks.

- Open existing projects
- Import projects
- Create new projects
- Export projects

- Delete projects
- Rename projects
- Copy and paste projects

The extension of the exported project file is .pcmp. The files are only used for exporting and importing projects between PCM600s.

3.4 Technical key

Both a physical IED and an IED object in PCM600 have a technical key. The technical key in the protection relay and PCM600 must be the same, otherwise it is not possible to download a configuration.

Each IED in a PCM600 project and in an entire substation must have a unique technical key. Therefore, it is not possible to set the same technical key for several IEDs in the same PCM600 project.



The protection relay is delivered with a factory default technical key. The validation of the technical keys between PCM600 and the protection relay does not occur if the protection relay contains the factory default technical key.



The technical key property in PCM600 corresponds to the IED name attribute in SCL files. Avoid changing the IED name attribute outside PCM600, because data in PCM600 may get lost when importing the SCL files.

When writing a configuration to the protection relay, PCM600 checks for a mismatch between the IED object and the physical IED technical key. The technical key can be read from the protection relay and updated to PCM600, or the PCM600 technical key can be written to the protection relay. Alternatively, a user-defined technical key can be defined.



Figure 7: Reboot suggestion



Ensure that the IED object in PCM600 has the same IP address as the physical IED to be connected through the technical key.



Change the technical key for an IED object in the **Object Properties** dialog box in PCM600.

3.4.1 IEC 61850 naming conventions for an IED

The IEC 61850 naming conventions to identify an IED are valid only when the IEC 61850 standard is used for station bus communication. According to IEC 61850-6, the SCL model allows two kinds of project designations in the object properties: a technical key and a user-oriented textual designation.

- The technical key is used in engineering drawings and for signal identifications. This is contained in the attribute name as an identification of each object. If the value is used as a reference to an object, it is contained in an attribute name starting with a string denoting the reference target object type and ending with the string *Name*. The technical key is used within SCL for referencing other objects. The name is a relative identification within a hierarchy of objects. The maximum length of the technical key is 28 characters for Edition 1 and 60 characters for Edition 2.
- User-oriented textual designation is contained in the *desc* attribute. Attributes are not allowed to contain carriage return, line feed, tab, greater than, less than, double quotes or ampersand characters. The semantics of *desc* must also be relative within an object hierarchy. The maximum length is 100.

PCM600 supports both possibilities. The two signal designations are available per object in Object Properties for all the hierarchical levels beginning with the station as the highest level.

The technical key is automatically generated based on the rules and type specifications of IEC 61346 and the extended definitions assigned for substations by a technical committee. The technical key is shown in the Object Properties dialog box under SCL Technical Key or Technical Key.

- The station is predefined by "AA1" where 1 is the index. To get the real station name that is used, it is possible to rename the SCL Technical Key for the station as the name used by the project. To minimize the word length, a short form should be used because this name is also used in the transmitted messages to identify the events, for example.
- The voltage level. In *Figure 8* it is 20 kV and J1 is selected from the list below SCL Technical Key in the Object Properties dialog box.
- The bay and the IED are appended with the coding defined in the IEC 61346 standard and the substation definition lists. In the example, the bay SCL Technical Key part is Q03 and IED is A1.

The user-oriented textual designation is visible in the Plant structure view for each object. It is the name given by default or changed by with the Rename function.

Project Explorer 🔹 🕂 🗙	Object Properties
Plant Structure	
Image: Substation Image: Substation <	
	Technical Key AA1J1Q03A1
	[300] Configuration Version

Figure 8: IEC 61850 signal designation concept in PCM600

The created technical key for the full path name of the IED would be: AA1J1Q03A1.

- AA1 = substation in the project
- J1 = voltage level from 20 to 30 kV
- Q03 = third bay in the voltage level
- A1 = first IED in bay Q03

3.4.2 Setting technical key



The maximum length of the technical key is 28 characters for Edition 1 and 60 characters for Edition 2.



1. In the **Plant Structure** view, right-click the IED and select **Set Technical Key in IED**.

Figure 9: PCM600: Setting the technical key on the IED level

A dialog box opens to inform about the technical key concept.


Figure 10: Technical key information

2. Click **OK**.

The technical key is read from the IED and the **Set Technical Key** dialog box opens.

Set Technical Key 🛛 🖄			
Please select the unique "Technical Key" to be used for communication. Choose "Technical Key in IED" to use the existing one from the IED, "Technical Key in PCM600" to use the one created by PCM600 or create custom one by selecting "User-defined Technical Key":			
AA1J1Q01A1 © Technical Key in IED			
AA1J1Q01A1	AA1J1Q01A1 O Technical Key in PCM600		
	C User-defined Technical Key		
	OK Cancel		

Figure 11: Setting the technical key

- 3. In the **Set Technical Key** dialog box, select the technical key to be used. There are three alternatives.
 - Use the technical key in the IED
 - Use the technical key defined for the IED object in PCM600
 - Set a user-defined technical key, which changes the technical key for both the physical IED and IED object in PCM600
- 4. Click **OK** to confirm the selection.



It is not possible to set a user-defined name or select **Technical key in IED** if the value is already given to another IED object in the PCM600 project. An error message is displayed if this happens.

3.5 Communication between PCM600 and the protection relay

The communication between the protection relay and PCM600 is independent of the used communication protocol within the substation or to the NCC.

All communication is done over Ethernet using either IEC 61850 or the FTP/FTPS protocol.

When an Ethernet-based station protocol is used, the same Ethernet port and IP address can be used for PCM600 communication.

Two basic variants have to be considered for the connection between PCM600 and the protection relay.

- Direct point-to-point link between PCM600 and service port X1.2 on the protection relay's LHMI or, if an LHMI is not used, the HMI port X0 of the communication module
- Indirect link via station LAN or remotely via network
- 1. If needed, the IP address for the protection relay is set.
- 2. A PC or workstation is set up for a direct link (point-to-point), or the PC or workstation is connected to the LAN/WAN network.
- 3. The protection relays' IP addresses in the PCM600 project are configured to match the IP addresses of the physical IEDs.
- 4. Technical keys of the IEDs in the PCM600 project are configured to match the technical keys of the physical IEDs.

For successful protection relay engineering and usage, the workstation firewall TCP and UDP port configurations should be checked, especially for IEC 61850 and FTP. Other protocols are not used for engineering or they are optional.

3.5.1 Setting up IP addresses

The IP address and the corresponding subnet mask can be set via LHMI for the Ethernet interface in the protection relay. Each Ethernet interface has a default factory IP address when the protection relay is delivered. The configured Ethernet interface IP address is preserved if the communication card is replaced.

 Set the IP address for the protection relay's rear port and the corresponding subnet mask via the LHMI paths Configuration > Communication > Ethernet > Network1 address and Configuration > Communication > Ethernet > Network2 address.

Only the Network1 interface is enabled by default. See the cyber security deployment guideline for more information.

Table 2: Default IP addresses for the LAN port interfaces and the corresponding subnet masks

Interface	IP address	Subnet mask	Default mode
Network1	192.168.2.10	255.255.255.0	Enabled
Network2	192.168.3.10	255.255.255.0	Disabled



When using redundant Ethernet (HSR or PRP), configure all devices in the network before connecting cables to ports LAN A and LAN B. Avoid using the LAN A or LAN B ports on redundant communication modules while changing the *Switch mode* parameter.

3.6 IED Update

The firmware update tool is used for updating the following:

- IED firmware
- HW module firmware
- LHMI firmware and application
- License in case of Modifications Sales related update

The tool can also be used for adding or replacing IED languages. Update packages are provided by Customer Support.

The update tool can be used either locally or remotely.



Separate update packages are needed for updating the communication card, the LHMI and license and default configuration files. If the new communication card firmware, LHMI firmware or application need new IED firmware, it is updated at the same time, otherwise a second update with the same package is needed to update the IED firmware.

3.6.1 Prerequisites for local and remote updates

Local update

• It is recommended to use the LHMI's service port X1.2 or, if an LHMI is not used, the HMI port X0 of the communication module. The IED should be removed from the network especially with redundant network topologies (HSR or PRP).

Remote update

- Communication should be secured either by setting up a VPN connection or by enabling secure communication in the IED via LHMI (Configuration > Communication > Protocols > Network1FTP or Configuration > Communication > Protocols > Network2 > FTP).
- Remote update can be enabled in the IED either via the LHMI (Configuration > Authorization > Security > Remote Update) or by an administrator in Parameter Setting in PCM600 (IED Configuration > Configuration > Authorization > Remote Update. If the IED is in local control mode, remote update proceeds only after a confirmation is received from the user.
- Remote update can be disabled manually after the update.
- Remote update only works when the IED is connected from the Ethernet interface connector of the communication module with a custom IP address.
- Remote update via a network gateway can be assigned either to Network 1 or Network 2.

3.6.2 Updating firmware or language

- 1. Select the update mode.
 - Firmware
 - Language
- 2. Select the update package and click **Next**.

📮 Firmware Update		
	Step 1 - Choosing the update package Update package location	Update mode:
	C:\REX640.bin	Browse
	Update package information IED Type: REX640 Configuration: XX401 SW Version: 1.0 SW Date: 2018-11-10 08:06 PM	
	Note: Before proceeding please verify that up-to-da configuration data is available and that the IED is d redundant Ethemet network.	ite backup of IED lisconnected from

Figure 12: Choosing the update mode and package

3. Select the relay to be updated and click **Next**.

Currently only one relay can be selected.

Firmware Update	
	Step 2 - Choosing the IEDs
	IED
	REX640
IIII a a I	IED version information IED Type: REX640
	Configuration: XX401 SW Version: 1.0 SW Deta: 2019.11.10720.06.00.000.00.00
	SW Number: 2RCA045911A
	Production Date: 2017-12-14T00:00.000+00:00
	IP Address: 192.168.2.15
	< <u>Back</u> <u>N</u> ext > <u>C</u> ancel

Figure 13: Choosing the relay for the update

4. If required, clear the life cycle handling indication by selecting the **Clear Lifecycle Handling indication on Local HMI after update** check box.



Figure 14: Clearing lifecycle handling indication

- 5. When updating remotely, wait for 30 seconds for the local user confirmation before proceeding with the update.
 - The local user can cancel the update via the LHMI by pressing Cancel Update during the 30-second window.
 - IED use is allowed after the update is completed successfully.



Figure 15: Waiting for local user confirmation with remote update



Figure 16: Completing the update

4 Setting up a project

4.1 Creating a new project

- 1. Start PCM600.
- To see the projects that are available in the PCM databases, click File and select Open > Manage Project on the menu bar.
- 3. In the **Open > Manage Project** window, click **Projects on my computer**.
- 4. Click **New Project**.
- 5. If there are projects or object tools open, a confirmation dialog box opens.

New Proj	ect 📃 📈
	Currently open project and object tools shall be closed before a new project can be created. Do you want to close them now?
	Yes No

Figure 17: Confirming project and object tool closing

- 6. In the **Create New Project** dialog box, fill in the project name and optional description.
 - In the **Project Name** box, type a unique name for the project.
 - In the **Description** box, type a description of the project.

Open/Manage	Project
	Currently available projects:
	Projects on my computer
New Project	Create New Project
6	Server name: My computer [CN-L-6790368\PCMSERVER]
Delete Project	Project name:
Import Project	Description:
Export Project	
	Create Cancel
	Project description:

Figure 18: Creating a new project

7. Click Create.

PCM600 sets up a new project that is listed under **Projects on my computer**.

4.2 Building plant structure

- 1. Create a new plant structure in one of the alternative ways.
 - Right-click the **Plant Structure** view, point to **New** and select **Create from Template**.
 - Right-click the **Plant Structure** view, point to **New**, select **General** and select either **IED Group** or **Substation**.
- 2. On the **View** menu, select **Object Types**.



3. Select the needed elements and drag them into the plant structure.

Figure 19: Project with IEDs placed but not renamed

4. Rename each level in the structure by the names or identifications used in the grid.

Use one of the alternative ways.

- Right-click the level and select **Rename**.
- Rename the levels in the **Object Properties** view.

4.3 IED insertion

The context menu or the **Object Types** view shows the available IEDs that can be inserted on the bay level of the plant structure according to the installed connectivity package.

It is possible to do various tasks in the plant structure.

- Insert either an offline or an online IED
- Import a template IED that is available in the template library as a .pcmt file
- Import a preconfigured IED available as a .pcmi file



PCM600 uses two kinds of IED files: .pcmt and .pcmi. Both files include the complete IED configuration but their usage differs. The .pcmt files are always accessed through the PCM600 template manager while the .pcmi files are meant for sharing the IED instances between different PCM600 users enabling quick import and export from the plant structure context menu.

4.3.1 Inserting an IED in online mode

To set up an IED online, the protection relay must be connected to PCM600.

When the protection relay is connected to PCM600, PCM600 can read the composition code directly from the relay. It is possible to read the full configuration from the relay by using the Read from IED function.

1. In the **Plant Structure** view, right-click the bay, point to **New**, point to the relay application area such as **Multiapplication IEDs** and select the protection relay type to be inserted.



Alternatively, drag an IED from the **Object Types** view to the bay level.



Figure 20: Selecting the protection relay type

2. On the **Configuration mode selection** page, select **Online Configuration** and click **Next**.

REX640 Configuration Wizard	_ _ ×
Configuration mode selection	
This wizard helps you to create configuration for your IED. Configuration wizard sets the be hardware and communication properties. The configuration can be made either online or offline.	asic
Configuration mode	
Online configuration	
Offline configuration	
Cance	el Next >

Figure 21: Selecting the configuration mode

3. On the **Communication protocol** page, select the communication protocol from the **IED Protocol** list and click **Next**.

Communication protocol IED Protocol: IEC61850	
IED Protocol: IEC61850	
Carrel	< Back Nevt >

Figure 22: Selecting the communication protocol

- 4. On the **IEC61850 communication protocol** page, select the port from the **Port** list.
 - If the LAN port is selected, type the correct IP address (of the physical protection relay to be configured) to the **IP address** box.

REX640 Configuration	n Wizard		
IEC 61850 com	munication settings		
Port: IP address:	LAN Port 192 . 168 . 2 . 10		
		Cancel	< Back Next >

Figure 23: Selecting the communication port and IP address

Communication configuration is now defined.

- 5. Click **Next** to scan/read the composition code of the protection relay.
- 6. On the Composition code detection page, click Next.

REX640 Configuration V	Vizard	
Composition cod	e detection	
Please click the Next E REX640B10NN APP APP12 ADD1 ADD Main Code A	Jutton after the composition code has been read from the IED into the fields. 1 APP2 APP3 APP4 APP5 APP6 APP7 APP8 APP9 APP10 APP1 APP5 COM1 BIO1 AIM1 PSM2 CMP4 LNG1 SCT2 PCL1 Copy Connectivit	Paste
Product	REX640 Multiapplication IED	
Standard	B TIEC	
Product Version	1 •	
Interface Level	•	
Reserved	N *	
Conformal Coating	N T No	
	Cancel < Back	Next >

Figure 24: Detecting the composition code

- 7. On the **Configuration selection** page, select the configuration type and click **Next**.
 - Select Empty Configuration to create an empty configuration.
 - Select **Import configuration from file (PCMI/PCMT)** to import any existing example configuration.

Click **Browse** to select the .pcmi or .pcmt file that has the example configuration.

• Select **Default configuration (available only for IEC 61850 Edition 2)** to generate a default configuration.

REX640 Configuration Wizard		
Configuration selection		
Select initial IED configuration. © Empty configuration © Import configuration from file (PCMI/PCMT)	Browse	
Default configuration (available only for IEC 61850 Edition)	on 2)	
	Cancel < Bac	k Next >

Figure 25: Selecting the configuration type



If a default configuration is selected, the next page is skipped as default configuration is only supported for the IEC 61850 Edition 2 IEDs. To configure an IEC 61850 Edition 1 IED, select empty or example configuration and make the proper selections on the next page.

REX640 Configuration Wizard			
Version Selection			
Select SCL edition and click	the 'Next' button to generate the co	onfiguration.	
		Cancel	Back Next >

8. On the Version Selection page, select the IEC 61850 version and click Next.

Figure 26: Selecting the IEC 61850 version



Regardless of the protocol used in the installation for each project, it is possible to have Edition1 and Edition2 relays configured in the same PCM600 project. The PCM600 project's SCL edition is the highest SCL edition relay in the project.

9. On the **Summary** page, click **Finish** to confirm the configuration and insert the IED.

The **Summary** page shows the protection relay's IED type, IP address and the selected composition code.

REX640 Configuration V	Vizard
Summary	
Setup is complete with	the following configuration.
IED Type	REX640
IP Address of IED	192.168.2.10
Composition Code	REX640B10NN+APP1+APP2+APP3+APP4+APP5+APP6+APP7+APP8+APP9+APP10 +APP11+APP12+ADD1+ADD2+COM1+BIO1+AIM1+PSM2+CMP4+LNG1+SCT2+PCL1
	Cancel Finish

Figure 27: Confirming the configuration



If an error is shown on the **Summary** page, it is not possible to go back and make modifications. If an error is detected, cancel the insertion by clicking **Cancel** and insert the IED again.

4.3.2 Inserting an IED in offline mode

When the protection relay is not available or is not connected to PCM600, engineering can be done offline. The offline configuration in PCM600 can be written to the protection relay later when it is connected.

Working in the offline mode has an advantage over the online mode because the preparation for the configuration can be started even though the protection relay is not available.

1. In the **Plant Structure** view, right-click the bay, point to **New**, point to the relay application area such as **Multiapplication IEDs** and select the protection relay type to be inserted.



Alternatively, drag an IED from the **Object Types** view to the bay level.

2. On the **Configuration mode selection** page, select **Offline configuration** and click **Next**.

Setting up an IED in the offline mode is similar to the online mode; however, with the offline mode it is not necessary to type the correct IP address in the **IP address** box.



Figure 28: Selecting the configuration mode

3. On the **Composition code selection** page, select the correct composition codes and click **Next**.



Ensure that the composition code is correct. PCM600 verifies that the composition code matches the relay. If the composition code digits related to the configuration, I/O or version do not match the relay, PCM600 does not allow writing the configuration to the relay. If other digits in the composition code do not match, PCM600 informs about the mismatch with a dialog box.

REX640 Configuration	Vizard	X		
Composition cod	e selection			
Please paste the composition code to the composition code field or use the selections below to insert the composition code.				
REX640B10NN COM1 BIO1 AIM1 PSM1 CMP1 LNG1 PCL1 Copy Paste				
🖉 Main Code 📀	pplications 🛛 😨 Slots 🖉 Protocols 🛛 🥸 Languages 🛛 😨 Connectors 🖉 Connectivity			
Product	REX640 Multiapplication IED			
Standard	B TIEC			
Product Version	1 *			
Interface Level	• • •			
Reserved	N T			
Conformal Coating	N V No			
	Cancel < Back Next	>		

Figure 29: Selecting the composition code

- 4. On the **Configuration Selection Page**, select the configuration type and click **Next**.
 - Select Empty configuration to create an empty configuration.
 - Select **Import configuration from file (PCMI/PCMT)** to import an example configuration.

Click **Browse** to select the .pcmi/.pcmt file that has the example configuration.

• Select **Default configuration (available only for IEC 61850 Edition 2)** to generate a default configuration.



If a default configuration is selected, the next page is skipped as default configuration is only supported for the IEC 61850 Edition 2 IEDs. To configure an IEC 61850 Edition 1 IED, select empty or example configuration and make the proper selection on the next page.

5. On the **Version Selection page**, select the IEC 61850 version and click **Next** to generate the functions.

6. The **Summary** page shows the summary of the IED type, IP address and the selected composition code. Click **Finish** to confirm the configuration and conduct the insertion.

4.3.3 Inserting an IED from the template directory

IED templates can be used to replicate IEDs with the same order code in PCM600 projects. The template includes an IED application configuration, graphical display configuration (single-line diagram), communication protocol mappings and parameters. An IED in the plant structure can be exported as a template (.pcmt file). The template library can be built from all the exported IED templates.

It is also possible to insert an IED from the template library to create a new IED in the plant structure. After a template IED has been imported, *IP address* and *Caption* in IED's **Object Properties** and *Technical Key* of the physical IED have to be changed.

- 1. In the **Plant Structure** view, select the bay or IED group, right-click, point to **New** and select **Create from template**.
- 2. In the **Create New Object from Template** dialog box, select the IED under **Available Object Types**.

Create New Object from Template		— X
Available Object Types:	Available Templates for 'REX6	i40':
🖅 👘 Generic IEC61850 IED	Template name	Description
Multiapplication IEDs	Default template	A template without predefined data.
	REX640	É
Select the created object		
Dek	ete Template Import Template	Create Close

Figure 30: PCM600: Selecting an IED from the template library

3. Click the icon on the rightmost column in the list of available templates.

Template info		
Name:	Туре:	
REX640	User-Defined Template	
Creation time:	Protocol:	
1.2.2019 10:25:50	IEC61850	
Path:		
C:\PCMDataBases\Templates\PCM60	00\REX640.ied.pcmt	
Description:		
Created on		
Created on Product name:	Object type:	
Created on Product name: PCM600 2.9	Object type: REX640	
Created on Product name: PCM600 2.9 Connectivity Package:	Object type: REX640	
Created on Product name: PCM600 2.9 Connectivity Package: IED Connectivity Package REX640	Object type: REX640	

4. In the **Template Properties** dialog box, verify the template information and click **Close**.

Figure 31: PCM600: Template information

- 5. In the **Create New Object from Template** dialog box, delete, import or create a template by clicking the corresponding button.
 - To delete the selected template, click **Delete Template**.
 - To import a template from the selection window, click Import Template.
 - To insert the selected IED to the bay, click **Create**.



It is possible to insert more than one IED from the **Create New Object from Template** dialog box. The dialog box remains open until **Close** is clicked.

6. Click **Close** when finished.

Inserting an IED by importing a .pcmi file 4.3.4

In the **Plant Structure** view, right-click the bay and select **Import**. 1.



A .pcmi file can be imported only when the bay is selected in the plant structure.

🔤 Local Server\IEC 3.0 - P(EM600			
File Edit View Tools	: Window Help			
🗅 😅 🖬 👗 🖻 🛍				
Object Types 💿 🔻 🖡 🗙	Project Explorer			▼ ₽ ×
General 🎗	Plant Structure			
Line differential IEDs 🕈	r⊡ 🗊 IEC 3.0			
Feeder IEDs 🏠		je Leve	1	
Motor Protection IEDs		В	Collapse	
Transformer IEDs			Import	
		0	Site Information Tool	
			New 🕨	
		v	Ot	
		0 ⊒≂⊾	Cat	
			Delete	
			Rename	
			Properties	

Figure 32: Importing IED configuration

2. In the **Import** dialog box, select the .pcmi file to be imported and click **Open**. After importing, the IED object is created in the plant structure.

After the .pcmi file has been imported, the IP address, the name and the technical key of the physical IED have to be changed.

4.4 Setting IED's IP address in a project

The IP address and subnet mask of the IED object in PCM600 must match the HMI and LAN ports of the protection relay (physical IED) to which the PC is connected. The IP address of the protection relay can only be set via the LHMI or Parameter Setting in PCM600. The PC and protection relay need to be on the same subnet.

There are two ways to set the IP address of an IED object in PCM600: on the first page of the wizard when including a new IED into a project or in the IP address box of the IED's Object Properties pane.

Choosing between the two ways depends on when the IP address is set. Typing the IP address via the IED's Object Properties pane is possible at any time while entering it via the configuration wizard can only be done when inserting the IED in online or offline mode.

REX640 Configuratio	n Wizard			
IEC 61850 com	imunication settings			
Port: IP address:	LAN Port • 192 , 168 , 2 , 10			
		Cancel < Back Next >		

Figure 33: Alternative 1: Setting the IP address on the first wizard page

- 1. In the **Plant Structure** view, select the IED whose IP address must be entered.
- 2. On the **View** menu, select **Object Properties**.



3. In the **Object Properties** pane, type the IP address in the **IP Address** box.

Figure 34: Alternative 2: Setting the IP address in the IED's Object Properties pane

4.5 Using the Web HMI

Connection to WHMI can be established using different communication card ports or the LHMI service port. WHMI is disabled by default and can be enabled with a setting parameter. As only secure communication is supported for the WHMI, it must be accessed from a Web browser using the HTTPS protocol. Three simultaneous LHMI and WHMI sessions are supported.

- 1. To enable the WHMI, select **Configuration > HMI > Web HMI mode** and set the parameter to "On".
- 2. Reboot the relay for the change to take effect.
- 3. Log in with the proper user rights to use the WHMI.

If the WHMI is accessed through the LHMI service port, use the corresponding IP address of the relay communication port. The IP address can be obtained via the Engineer pages. Tap the relay's name on the LHMI menu bar to open the Relay address dialog box.



To establish a remote WHMI connection to the protection relay, contact the network administrator to check the company rules for IP and remote connections.



HTTPS is enabled for all ports by default. To disable the HTTPS for station ports, select **Communication** > **Protocols** > **Network1** > **HTTPS** or **Communication** > **Protocols** > **Network2** > **HTTPS** and set the parameter to "Off". HTTPS is always enabled for the X0/HMI port.



The WHMI write access can be limited with the parameter HTTPS write access in **Configuration > Authorization > Network1** or **Configuration > Authorization > Network2**.



Disable the Web browser proxy settings or make an exception to the proxy rules to allow the protection relay's WHMI connection, for example, by including the relay's

IP address in Internet Options > Connections > LAN Settings > Advanced > Exceptions.

4.6 Relay user management

The user account management and role-based access control in the protection relay have been handled as specified in IEC 62351-8. The relay supports both local user account and central account management. For information on how to set up user account management, see user management in the cyber security deployment guideline.

4.7 PCM600 project's IEC 61850 version identification

The IEC 61850 version of a PCM600 project can be identified from the Object Properties pane of the project.



Figure 35: Project's IEC 61850 version

To change IEC 61850 version Edition 1 of an IED to Edition 2, the configuration has to be written to the IED from a PCM600 project that has IEC 61850 version Edition 2. A dialog box notifies of the version difference.



Figure 36: IEC 61850 version change

5 Protection and control engineering

5.1 Application Configuration

Application Configuration is used to modify an application configuration for a protection relay and is based on IEC 61131-3 Function Block Diagrams.

The function blocks are dedicated to different functions such as control related, protection related, monitoring or communication functions. For more information on the function blocks, see the technical manual.

Most function blocks are mapped as logical nodes according to the IEC 61850 standard. See the IEC 61850 parameter list for more information.

If a function block is removed with Application Configuration, the functionrelated data disappears from the menus as well as from the IEC 61850 data model, with the exception of some basic function blocks, which are mandatory and thus cannot be removed from the relay configuration by removing them from Application Configuration. The mandatory function blocks are: ETHLDEV1, ETHLDEV2, FTPLPRT1, GNRLLTIM1, GNRLLTMS1, GSAL1, GSELPRT1, HMILCCH1, HMILDEV1, HTTPLPRT1, LDEV1, LEDPTRC1, LINF1, LLN0, LPHD1, MMSLPRT1, RCHLCCH1, SA2LINF1, SBBIGGIO1, SBBOGGIO1, SBLINF1, SCHLCCH1, SCHLCCH2, SCHLCCH3, SCHLCCH6, SFAIGGIO1, SFLINF1, SGBOGGIO1 and SGLINF1.

Some of the protocol-related LPRT function blocks contain outputs which can be used to monitor protocol status. For example, the CHLIV output can be used to monitor if protocol-related messages are received from the client. However, all function blocks do not have outputs as they may just be visual objects to indicate protocol support when the sheet is printed out. This applies also to the PKIGSAL and LDEV function blocks. Security related function block GSAL has the DOS_ALARM and DOS_WARNING outputs for indicating denial of service warning and alarm event.

Other function blocks are not mapped as logical nodes; for example, logical gates.

The basic features of Application Configuration include the ability to organize a configuration into several MainApplications as well as providing different application programming features.

- Organizing an application configuration
 - Organizing an application configuration into a number of logical parts (MainApplication)
 - Organizing a MainApplication over a number of pages
- Features for programming an application configuration
- Inserting function blocks, making connections and creating variables
- Including the hardware I/O channels directly in the application configuration
- Calculating the execution order automatically by clicking Calculate execution order on the toolbar
- Documenting the application configuration, for example, by making printouts
- Saving application configurations as templates in an application library to reuse them in other protection relays. Function blocks and the related logic can be

fully or partially reused depending on the functionality available in the other protection relay.

Validating the application configuration during the configuration process on demand and while writing the application configuration to the protection relay



For instructions on how to perform the different tasks in PCM600, see PCM600 online help.

5.1.1 Function blocks

Function blocks are the main elements of an application configuration. They are designed for a various number of functions and organized into groups according to type. The different function block types are shown in the Object Types view. Function block data can be modified with Application Configuration in PCM600.

• User-defined names can be given for function blocks and signals.



Signals that have a user-defined name created with Application Configuration are visible in Parameter Setting in PCM600 only if the relay configuration is written to the protection relay and read back to PCM600. Otherwise, only the default signal name is shown in Parameter Setting.



Restart the relay to ensure that all user-defined names for the disturbance recorder's Channel id texts are updated on the LHMI, WHMI and Parameter Setting menus.



If possible, set the user-defined name to a signal before connecting the signal to other function blocks.

- IEC 61850, ANSI or IEC 60617 symbol standard can be set.
- IEC or ANSI naming style can be set.
- Function blocks can be locked.
- Visibility for execution order, cycle time and instance number can be set.
- Signals can be managed.
- Boolean inputs and outputs can be inverted.



REX640 Engineering Manual

- 8 Hardware, binary input channel
- 9 Hardware, analog input channel
- 10 User-defined signal name
- 11 User-defined input variable

12 Execution order

- 13 Cycle time
- 14 Instance number

Figure 37: Application Configuration: function block overview

5.1.2 Signals and signal management

The function block has a set of input and output signals. The placement of function block signals is from left to right. Input signals are placed on the left and output signals on the right.

Function blocks can contain more signals than needed in an application part. Unused signals can be hidden to get a clear picture.

Signals are located up and down on both sides of the middle position. When there is space left, some signals may be moved up or down for better visibility and connection routing.

Boolean input and output signals may need to be inverted to fulfil the logic. The Application Configuration tool supports the adding of inversion logic to a binary signal.

All input signals have a default value that is used when the signals are not connected in the configuration.



The input signal on glue logic function blocks can be inverted only if a glue logic function block with lower execution order in the same cycle time is available. Similarly, the output signal can only be inverted if a glue logic function block with higher execution order in the same cycle time is available. Up to two input signals and two output signals can be inverted for glue logic blocks in the same cycle time.

5.1.3 Function block execution parameters

Three function block execution parameters influence the runtime execution of the function block within the application configuration.

- Execution order
- Cycle time
- Instance number

When a new function block is inserted, these parameters are shown in the Function Block Instance dialog box in Application Configuration. The three parameters are selectable or not selectable depending on the function block type. The cycle time is predefined to one value. The instance number is a counter for the total possible number of function blocks of that type used within the application configuration.

Execution Order and *Instance Number* are a combination that is predefined within a product. It is possible to select a pair out of the list.



Figure 38: Application Configuration tool: an example of function block organization parameters

Cycle Time is automatically set and it cannot be modified.



To automatically calculate the execution order, click **Calculate Execution Order** on the tool bar.

5.1.4 Execution order and feedback loops

It is possible to draw a multi-layer configuration logic that contains feedback loops with the Application Configuration tool. The execution order of logic functions is calculated automatically in the Application Configuration tool, but it can also be set manually. If the automatically calculated value causes the function to be executed one task cycle time after the other logic functions in the same loop, the execution order number can be set manually to prevent delays, for example, in output activation.



To perceive accurate time stamps from binary input signals to function blocks, direct logic connection should be used in the Application Configuration tool. Due to the internal execution order, time stamps may not be accurate if an additional logic is used to connect priority signals to function blocks.

Figure 39 shows a simple situation where the execution order causes one cycle time delay if the NOT gate is executed in the order determined by the automatic calculation.



Figure 39: Feedback loop situation with automatically calculated execution orders

By setting a smaller execution number than in the AND port to where the NOT port is connected, it is possible to fix the execution order of all functions in a loop so that they are handled in the same task.



Figure 40: Feedback loop situation with manually fixed execution order for NOT port

The execution number can be changed by right-clicking the function and selecting Change CycleTime ExecOrder.

After manually defining the execution number, the function is excluded from the automatic execution order calculation. The function can be included back to the automatic calculation by right-clicking the function and selecting Include FB in calculation.

5.1.5 Connections and variables

A connection is the link or "wire" between function block outputs and inputs.

Connections can be made in two ways.

- Dragging a line between two signals
- Linking two signals by using variables



It is possible to search and replace variable names in Application Configuration tool.



Connect the variables to a destination, for example to a function block or a hardware output channel. The connectivity package automatically removes the orphan variables which are not connected to any destination.



Connect at least one analog input signal from AIM or SMVRCV.

Connection validation

A connection is only useful or even possible between two signals of the same base attribute type.



Figure 41: Application Configuration tool: an error message of a signal mismatch for a connection

5.1.6 Hardware channels

Hardware channels can be connected only to a function block input or output. A hardware connection can be established with Application Configuration or Signal Matrix.

When a hardware channel is connected, a graphical symbol appears in Application Configuration. The connection is also indicated in Signal Matrix with a cross mark. All hardware channels are always visible in Signal Matrix.





There are three types of supported hardware channels.

- Binary input channels
- Binary output channels
- Analog input channels

Hardware binary input channels may have multiple connections. A hardware binary output channel is taken from the list of available channels when a new channel is requested. This prevents using the same hardware binary output channel twice.

5.1.6.1 Hardware channel configuration

Instead of pre-configured I/O channel connections to pre-processing function blocks, user-customized configurations can be used. There are some rules which must be followed to create a working configuration. Application Configuration automatically checks if configuration is valid and results are shown in the output pane. See the technical manual for the minimum I/O requirement per application function block.



Figure 43: Missing required input connection for output



Figure 44: All required input connections configured for output

In *Figure 43*, the output connection requires more input channels to be connected. *Figure 44* has correction for *Figure 43* where all required inputs are configured and the input order is according to installation.



When an output is not connected to any function block, Application Configuration considers the configuration valid. Check validation warnings from the output pane for possible missing connections. Once the output is connected, the complete configuration is validated again.

Example 2



Figure 45: Output connection requiring only one input



Figure 46: Two output connections requiring two inputs

UTVTR ULx inputs can be used as one-, two- or three-phase connection. The ACT blocks connected to U3P may further demand two- or three-phase connection. URES input must be connected if URES_MEAS output is used. *Figure 45* illustrates the use case of only residual voltage being used in UTVTR1. *Figure 46* illustrates a case where one residual voltage and one phase voltage are sufficient.



Figure 48: Local inputs sent out as remote samples

Instead of local hardware inputs in *Figure 47*, remote samples can be used by local function blocks. Remote samples sender can also be configured as described in *Figure 48*, where GRP_OFF is used to indicate that channel is not available locally. See the technical manual for details about GRP_OFF.

NPS PPS FREQ



TVTR and TCTR function blocks accept analog channels connected only either from local or remote, that is, local and remote channels cannot be mixed within a TVTR/TCTR function block.



It is not possible to forward the received remote analog channels.



An analog input can only be connected to one function block. Triplets (for example, U3P and I3P) should be used instead in the application to connect analog inputs to other function blocks.



Figure 49: Hardware binary input channel shared by function blocks



Figure 50: GOOSE input shared by function blocks



Figure 51: RTD input shared by function blocks

GOOSE, RTD and binary inputs can be shared by multiple function blocks.

5.1.7 Online monitoring

Online monitoring enables the continuous monitoring of the signal or channel values in the configuration. In the Online monitoring mode, the configuration cannot be edited in the Application Configuration tool.

Online monitoring can be started by clicking the Work online button in the toolbar. If the application configurations in the IED and PCM600 are the same, the online monitoring starts. The online monitoring ends and the tool returns to the configuration mode if the Work Offline button is clicked.



Online monitoring cannot be started if the application configurations in IED and PCM600 are different.



In some cases when the function block input is directly mapped to the function block output, the input is internally forced to the correct value
depending on the function block's settings. This function block design is present in control blocks, setting group handling and tap changer.

5.1.8 Validation

Validation checks the application configuration for errors based on the rules that govern the application creation at three different times.

- During the logic creation, while making a connection or placing a function block
- On demand by starting the validation
- When writing the application configuration to the protection relay

5.1.8.1 Validation when creating application configuration

Certain conditions require the validation to be made when creating the application configuration.

- A connection between two input or two output signals is not possible
- A connection between two different data types is not possible: for example, from a binary output to an analog input

5.1.8.2 Validation on demand

The validity of an application configuration can be checked by clicking **Validate Configuration** in the toolbar. The Application Configuration tool checks the application configuration for formal correctness. The found problems are divided into warnings and errors.

- Warnings, marked with a yellow warning icon
 - Example: a variable connected to an output signal that is not connected
 - Example: if an output from a higher execution order function is connected to the inputs of a lower execution order function
- Errors, marked with a red circle with a cross
 - Example: unconnected hardware output

Warnings do not prevent writing to the protection relay. However, errors must be corrected before writing the application configuration to the protection relay. The application configuration can be saved and the Application Configuration tool can be closed with open errors, but the application configuration cannot be written to the protection relay.

These problems are listed in the **Output** view under the **Application Configuration** tab. Double-clicking the error or warning row navigates to the **MainApplication** > **Page** > **Area**, where the problem was identified.



Figure 52: Application Configuration tool: validation on demand

5.1.8.3 Validation when writing to protection relay

When writing the application configuration to the protection relay, an automatic validation is performed. Errors abort the writing.

5.1.9 Configuration load calculation

The connectivity package calculates an estimated application configuration load every time it is saved in Application Configuration or written to the IED. This functionality prevents too complex configurations from being used and possibly risking IED protection functionality.

Calculation results are divided into two different sections: OK and Error. At 100 percent, PCM600 can give either an OK or an error message because the connectivity package rounds the actual limit to the closest percentage. If the calculation result is above 100 percent, PCM600 always gives an error message and prevents writing the configuration to the IED as the configuration is too large for the IED to handle. The configuration is written to the IED if the result is below the error range.



The calculation result is visible only in PCM600 output window on the Logging tab.



Figure 53: Configuration load result: an example of different messages shown in PCM600

5.2 Parameter Setting

Configuration and setting parameters can be changed with LHMI, WHMI or with the Parameter Setting tool in PCM600.



Some parameters are only visible in the Parameter Setting tool and some only on the LHMI.



The Write to IED command from PCM600 to the protection relay overwrites any parameter changes made with the HMI.

All parameters displayed in the parameter list can be sorted into two groups.

- Configuration parameters
- Setting parameters

5.2.1 Configuration parameter

The configuration parameter specifies the operation mode of an application function or of the protection relay. These are basic configurations that are normally configured only once and then not modified again. The protection relay configures itself during start-up according to the given configuration parameter values.

5.2.2 Setting parameter

Setting parameter (short form: "setting") is a parameter that can be changed in the protection relay at runtime.

5.2.3 Setting group

Nearly all settings used by the protection relay for protection application functions are organized into a group of settings. Up to six setting groups can be configured with different values.

The protection relay supports the selection of a setting group at runtime.

5.2.4 Parameter import and export

The parameter export and import function can be used, for example, when the protection relay's parameters are set using the WHMI instead of PCM600. The relay

settings engineered with PCM600 can be exported to XRIO files and imported to the WHMI, which can be used to write the settings to the protection relays. The WHMI can also be used to read the relay setting parameters and to export those to files, which can be used by PCM600.



The setting export and import are sensitive to the protection relay's content. Settings are exported and imported for one protection relay at a time. The export files of a protection relay can be exchanged between PCM600, WHMI and the actual physical IED. To avoid errors and to efficiently manage the setting export and import, for example, in a substation with several protection relays, ensure that the names of the export files identify the protection relay to which the file should be imported.

The parameter import and export functionality is available via the File menu when the Parameter Setting tool is open.

File	Edit Vie	w Tools	i IED	Window				
D	New Project.		Ctrl+N					
è	Open/Manag	ge Project		Ctrl+O				
	Close Project							
	Save			Ctrl+S				
	Import para	meters	N					
	Export parar	neters	63					
6	Print			Ctrl+P				
	Create Repo	rt						
	Exit							

Figure 54: Parameter import and export

5.2.5 Parameter organization

The organization of parameters into a tree structure can be seen in the **Plant Structure** by expanding the setting tree.

5.3 Configure Autosynchronization

Manual configuration of the autosynchronization scheme in PCM600 is timeconsuming and complex in case the system contains both generator circuit breakers and non-generator circuit breakers, that is, non-source circuit breakers. Configure Autosynchronization in PCM600 can be used to simplify the configuration process. The autosynchronization scheme for a given project can be configured via userunderstandable terminologies regarding the system to understand the network topology.

The relay supports synchronizing of GCBs and NSCBs, such as grid connection or bus coupler circuit breakers, by providing dedicated function blocks to perform the synchronization process.

- ASGCSYN is used for GCB synchronization.
- ASNSCSYN is used for NSCB synchronization.

• ASCGAPC is a coordination function that handles the control request and allows communication among the relays connected to the autosynchronization system.

Configure Autosynchronization generates a configuration with IEC61850-8-1 GOOSE engineering, function block parameters in Parameter Setting and relevant connections in Application Configuration for ASGCSYN, ASNSCSYN and ASCGAPC. Further, the tool displays the configured network topology as an SLD preview.



Figure 55: Simple engineering flow for Configure Autosynchronization



After using Configure Autosynchronization, manually handle the connections for voltage measurements, inputs and outputs to ASGCSYN, ASNSCSYN and ASCGAPC in Application Configuration. For functional details, see the technical and application manuals.

5.3.1 Example case

Figure 56 presents a 11 kV network with a generator, grid connection, bus sectionalizers, local power generation and two feeder loads to illustrate a more realistic application. The target is to create a complete autosynchronization system were each of the breakers, except for CB1 and CB2, are capable of performing synchronized closing. The system is continuously aware of the relevant primary objects' switching status as well as the availability of the generator. Depending on which circuit breaker is selected for synchronization, the system checks the conditions and proceeds only if the selected circuit breaker is viable. As the feeder relays do not have any dependency on the autosynchronization system, they are not



explained further in this example. This example case is used in the selections made in the following chapters.

Figure 56: Example case for the autosynchronization scheme

Figure 57 presents the terminology used in a typical topology for different busbar arrangements containing an NSCB. It only depicts the logical connections and does not represent any primary network.



Single busbar arrangement

Double busbar arrangement

Figure 57: Terminology used in a typical topology containing a non-generator circuit breaker

Figure 58 presents the terminology used in a typical topology for different busbar arrangements containing a GCB. It only depicts the logical connections and does not represent any primary network.



Figure 58: Terminology used in a topology containing a generator circuit breaker

5.3.2 Configuring autosynchronization scheme

If Autosynchronization Configuration has already been used to successfully generate an autosynchronization configuration, relaunching the tool loads the previously made configuration to the respective pages. Any existing connections in Application Configuration or settings in Parameter Setting made to ASGCSYN, ASNSCSYN or ASCGAPC must be reconfigured as they are removed from the configurations of the respective relays after relaunching Autosynchronization Configuration.

1. In the **Plant Structure**, right-click **Substation** or **IED Group** and select **Configure Autosynchronization**.



Configure Autosynchronization can be opened only if there are at least two relays in the PCM600 project: one with the Generator autosynchronizer application package and the other with the Network autosynchronizer application package. No other tools should be open in PCM600.

- 2. On **Welcome Page**, click **Next** to configure first the topology for NSCBs and then for GCBs.
- 3. On the **Non-generator Configuration** page, configure the topology by adding, removing or clearing NSCBs.

The page displays the relays from the PCM600 project setup that support the Network autosynchronizer application package. It is possible to synchronize up to 17 NSCBs in the configuration.

- **IED Name**: Shows a list of relays with non-generator capabilities that can be selected and added to the configuration
- IP Address: Shows the IP address of the selected non-generator (read only)
- **Non-generator CB ID**: Shows an autogenerated non-generator circuit breaker ID to identify the breaker in the SLD preview controlled by the relay (read only)
- Breakers: Used to specify the number of breakers a relay can control

- **Bus A1**: Used to specify the Bus A1 value for a non-generator in a single bus system
- **Bus A2**: Used to specify the Bus A2 value for a non-generator in a single bus system
- **Bus B1**: Used to specify the Bus B1 value for a non-generator in a double bus system
- **Bus B2**: Used to specify the Bus B2 value for a non-generator in a double bus system



Bus A1 and Bus A2 are mandatory to configure for non-generators. Use unique values in Bus A1, Bus A2, Bus B1 and Bus B2 for a given non-generator.

osynchronization configur	ation Page 2 of 5						
Ion-generator Configu	uration						
dd Non-generators							
📥 Add 🚥	Remove	💢 Clear All					
IED Name	IP Address	Non-generator CB ID	Breakers	Bus A1	Bus A2	Bus B1	Bus B2
AA1J1Q01A2-NSCB1 👻	192.168.2.11	NonGeneratorCB1	1 -	BUS1 -	BUS2 -	Not Configured 👻	Not Configured
AA1J1Q01A3-NSCB2 👻	192.168.2.12	NonGeneratorCB2	1 •	BUS2 -	BUS3 👻	Not Configured 🔻	Not Configured
AA1J1Q01A4-NSCB3 🔻	192.168.2.13	NonGeneratorCB3	1 -	Grid 🗸	BUS3 👻	Not Configured 🔻	Not Configured
•							

Figure 59: Configuring the topology for non-generator circuit breakers

4. Correct any invalid selections highlighted in yellow to be able to proceed and click **Next**.

synchronization configura	ition Page 2 of	5					
on-generator Configu	ration						
ld Non-generators							
💠 Add 🚥	Remove	样 Clear All					
IED Name	IP Address	Non-generator CB ID	Breakers	Bus A1	Bus A2	Bus B1	Bus B2
AA1J1Q01A2-NSCB1 🔻	192.168.2.11	NonGeneratorCB1	2 🗸	BUS1 -	BUS2 -	Not Configured 🔹	Not Configured 🔹
AA1J1Q01A2-NSCB1 👻	192.168.2.11	NonGeneratorCB2		BUS2 👻	BUS2 -	Not Configured 🔹	Not Configured 🛛 🔻
AA1J1Q01A3-NSCB2 👻	192.168.2.12	NonGeneratorCB3	1 •	BUS2 -	BUS Bus A2 is either r	ot configured or has in	valid value. ured 👻
AA1J1Q01A4-NSCB3 🔻	192.168.2.13	NonGeneratorCB4	1 •	Grid 💌	BUS3 💌	Not Configured 🔹	Not Configured 🔹

Figure 60: Correcting invalid non-generator circuit breaker selections

5. On the **Generator Configuration** page, configure the topology by adding, removing or clearing GCBs.

The page displays the relays from the PCM600 project setup that support the Generator autosynchronizer application package. It is possible to synchronize up to eight GCBs to the configuration.

- **IED Name**: Shows a list of relays with generator capabilities that can be selected and added to the configuration
- IP Address: Shows the IP address of the selected generator (read only)
- Generator Name: Used to specify a user-defined name for the generator
- **Bus A**: Used to specify the Bus A value for a generator in a single bus system
- **Bus B**: Used to specify the Bus B value for a generator in a double bus system



Bus A and Generator Name are mandatory to configure for generators. Use unique values in Bus A and Bus B for a given generator.



The value in Generator Name is later shown in the SLD preview and the REX640 LHMI dialog where the synchronization for NSCBs is initiated. The generator name can be modified in this field only.

Autosynchronization configurati	on Page 3 of 5			
Generator Configuration				
Add Generators				
💠 Add 🛛 🚥 I	Remove 🛛 💥 G	lear All		
IED Name	IP Address	Generator Name	Bus A	Bus B
AA1J1Q01A1-GCB1 -	192.168.2.10	Steam Generator 1	BUS1	 Not Configured
			Cancel	K Back Next >

Figure 61: Configuring the topology for generator circuit breakers

6. Correct any invalid selections highlighted in yellow to be able to proceed and click **Next**.

synchronization configu	ration Page 3 of 5				
enerator Configuratio	on				
d Generators					
📥 Add 💻	🛚 Remove 🏻 🎽	Clear All			
IED Name	IP Address	Generator Name		Bus A	Bus B
AA1J1Q01A1-GCB1	▼ 192.168.2.10			Not Configured	 Not Configured
			Generator name is empty or more	than 64 characters.	
				Cancel	- Back Next
				Cancel	< Back Ne

Figure 62: Correcting invalid generator circuit breaker selections

7. On **Summary Page**, verify the configuration with the SLD preview and click **Next**.

The page shows an SLD based on the network topology entered in the previous pages and a report regarding the configuration changes made along with their impact on the relays. *Figure 63* shows a part of the page which displays the SLD generated based on the case presented in the *Chapter 5.3.1 Example case*.



Figure 63: SLD preview for the example case



If the SLD preview is compressed and not properly visible, doubleclick the SLD to open the preview in a separate dialog with zoom buttons and scroll bars.



The autosynchronization configuration for ASGCSYN, ASNSCSYN and ASCGAPC is modified in Application Configuration, Parameter Setting and GOOSE engineering. 8. Verify the configuration made against the SLD preview and click **Next** to initiate the generation of autosynchronization configuration for the respective relays.



In case Autosynchronization Configuration has already been used to complete the configuration, the impact of configuration changes for each relay is shown on Summary Page. Review the configuration changes by comparing the SLDs of the current and previous configurations before initiating the configuration generation.

ays modified A1J1Q01A2_39(NG1)		
A1J1Q01A2_39(NG1)		
ADIQUIA2_33(NOI)		
Config property	Current value	Saved value
Number of Breakers	2	1
AutoSyncItemType	Non-generator	Non-generator
Breaker Number1	NonsourceCB1	Non-generator
Breaker Number?	NonsourceCB2	NotBracent
Breaker Number3	NonsourceCB3	NotPresent
NonGeneratorBusA1-1	Bust	Bust
NonGeneratorBusA2-1	Bus2	Bus2
NonGeneratorBusB1-1	Notconfigured	Notconfigured
NonGeneratorBusB2-1	Notconfigured	Notconfigured
NonGeneratorBusA1-2	Bus2	NotPresent
NonGeneratorBusA2-2	Bus3	NotPresent
NonGeneratorBurg1-2	Notconfigured	NotPresent
NONCENERATOR DUSD1-2		
IonGeneratorBucR1-2	Notconfigured	NotPresent

Figure 64: Reviewing configuration changes

🔤 Configure Autosynchronization 📃 📼 💌
Generating internal configuration for AA1J1Q01A3(NSCB2)

Figure 65: Generating configuration

9. On Finish Page, click Finish to close the tool.

The page displays the configuration created as an SLD and the status of the autosynchronization configuration generation.

Figure 66: Finish Page

5.3.3 Finalizing of generated autosynchronization configuration

Configure Autosynchronization generates a partial configuration in Application Configuration and Parameter Setting and a complete GOOSE engineering for the function blocks ASGCSYN, ASNSCSYN and ASCGAPC. The remaining connections for voltage measurements and other inputs and outputs need to be handled manually in PCM600.



For functional details, see the technical and application manuals.

With reference to the example given in the *Chapter 5.3.1 Example case* chapter, the following figures show the partial configuration generated by the tool in PCM600.

Figure 67 shows the Application Configuration view of the relay controlling NSCB1. Similar connections are also generated for the other relays. The connections for the function blocks shown in the figure should be completed next.



Figure 67: Application Configuration view of relay controlling NSCB1

Figure 68 shows part of the Parameter Setting view of ASCGAPC of the relay controlling NSCB1. Similar settings are also made for ASCGAPC in other relays. The other settings for ASGCSYN, ASNSCSYN and ASCGAPC should be checked and modified, if needed.

NS	NSCB1 - Parameter Setting								
Group	/ Parameter Name	IED Value	PC Value	Unit	Min	Max			
v	Operation		on						
V	ASC CB Num1		Non source CB 1						
V	ASC CB Num2		Not Configured						
V	ASC CB Num3		Not Configured						
V	Max matching time		60000	ms	100	6000000			
V	Central PMS present		No						
v	Double busbar		False						
v	Setting Group 1		Ø						
v	Number of sources		1		1	8			
v	Number of NonSrc CB		3		1	17			
v	Src1 bus A Num		Bus 1						
v	Src1 bus B Num		Not Configured						
v	NonSrc1 bus A1 Num		Bus 1						
v	NonSrc1 bus A2 Num		Bus 2						
v	NonSrc1 bus B1 Num		Not Configured						
v	NonSrc1 bus B2 Num		Not Configured						
v	NonSrc2 bus A1 Num		Bus 2						
v	NonSrc2 bus A2 Num		Bus 3						
v	NonSrc2 bus B1 Num		Not Configured						
V	NonSrc2 bus B2 Num		Not Configured						
v	NonSrc3 bus A1 Num		Grid						
V	NonSrc3 bus A2 Num		Bus 3						

Figure 68: Partial Parameter Setting view of ASCGAPC in the relay controlling NSCB1

Figure 69 shows the GOOSE data sets generated by the tool containing all the entries required to be exchanged among the relays for the autosynchronization process. No further user actions are required regarding the GOOSE engineering for the autosynchronization process. However, GOOSE data exchange for any other logic or scheme may be handled manually.

Project Explorer 🛛 🔻 🕈 🗙	GOOSE Communication - IE	C 61	850	Con	figur	ation
Plant Structure		E.	P1)	P1)	EI.	
G	4	N N	2 (A	(3 (A	44 (A	
⊟		201/	201/	201/	201/	
		11	110	110	110	
		¥	¥	¥	¥	
	AA1J1Q01A1LD0/LLN0.GooseDS			V	>	
	AA1J1Q01A2LD0/LLN0.GooseDS					
- °	AA1J1Q01A3LD0/LLN0.GooseDS					
	AA1J1Q01A4LD0/LLN0.GooseDS					

Figure 69: GOOSE data sets in IEC 61850 Configuration

5.4 Signal Matrix

Signal Matrix is used to make cross-references between the physical I/O signals, function blocks and SMV and for the GOOSE signal input engineering.



Application Configuration is used for adding or removing function blocks, for example, GOOSE receiving function blocks.



Figure 70: Signal Matrix: operation principles

A binary input channel can be connected to one or more function block inputs. If a binary input channel is connected to several different function blocks in the Application Configuration tool, the connection appears as glue logic in Signal Matrix.

A binary output channel can only be activated from one function block output. If it is activated from more than one function block output, the glue logic has to be used.

Glue logic means inserting a logical gate (OR and AND blocks) between the binary input and the function blocks or between the function blocks and the binary output channel. This can be engineered with the Signal Matrix.



Connections made with Signal Matrix are automatically shown in Application Configuration.





Figure 71: Signal Matrix: a connection between binary input channels to binary input signals

Each SMVRCV block used in Application Configuration needs to be connected to the desired SMV stream in Signal Matrix. Connections need to be one-to-one and unconnected SMVRCV blocks are not allowed.

Signal Matrix has a separate sheet for each possible combination.

- Binary inputs
- Binary outputs
- Analog inputs
- GOOSE
- SMV

5.5 Load Profile tool

Load Profile tool is used for reading load profile records of COMTRADE format from a protection relay, clearing old records and viewing records via an external COMTRADE viewer. The default viewer included with PCM600 is Wavewin, but a third-party viewer can be used.

5.5.1 Opening and closing Load Profile tool

- To open the Load Profile tool, right-click an IED in the PCM600 project tree and select Load Profile Tool.
- To close the Load Profile tool, click Close in the tool. The Load Profile tool runs in the same process as PCM600 but in a separate window. Multiple instances of the tool can be run at the same time. Any open tool instances are closed without confirmation when PCM600 is closed.

🔤 Load	Profile Tool				
File					
IP:	192.168.0.254	Local Path: C:\PCM	DataBases\LPR		Load
	File Name	Created N	vlodified	Size (kB)	C
	020A0001	3/24/2011 2:28:11 7	/2/2010 5:59:44	37.5 -	Save
	020A0002	3/24/2011 2:28:11 7	/2/2010 5:59:44	37.5	Clear
					Open
					Close

Figure 72: Load Profile tool

By default, the Load Profile tool uses the $\PCMDataBases\LPR$ directory as a saving target directory.

5.5.2 Load Profile tool user interface

🔤 Loa	d Profile Tool					_ 🗆 X
File						
IP:	192.168.0.254	Local Path:	C:\PC	MDataBases\LPR		Load
	File Name	Created		Modified	Size (kB)	
Þ	020A0001	3/24/2011 2	2:28:11	7/2/2010 5:59:44	37.5	Save
	02040002	3/24/2011 2	2:28:11	7/2/2010 5:59:44	37.5	Clear
						Open
						Close

Figure 73: Load Profile tool interface

ce
(

Action	Description
Local Path	Default local path (C:\PCMDataBases\LPR) is the location from which the records are shown on the Load Profile tool. It is also the default path for saving records. The location where the records are saved can be changed in the Local Path field. The grid of the Load Profile tool shows only the records in the default local path including any unsaved records in C:\Temp\Load\Profile Tool. Therefore records can be saved at a user-specified location on the local machine but those records are not visible in the grid of the Load Profile tool.
Load	Clicking Load downloads all available records from C:\LDP\COMTRADE directory in the protection relay to a temporary folder C:\Temp\Load- ProfileTool on the local machine. In this temporary folder, the target file name is constant, and loading again overwrites the file. An unsaved record is deleted when the tool is closed.
Save	Clicking Save moves the records to the default or specified local path, Load transfers the records to a temporary folder. Each load profile record comprises two files with file extensions .dat and .cfg. Clicking Save adds a time stamp to the file names and moves the two files pertaining to the record to the default or specified folder. Saving another record creates a new record in addition to the old ones.
Clear	Clicking Clear clears the record from either the Load Profile tool or protec- tion relay or both. Before deleting the records, a confirmation dialog box is shown.

Table continues on the next page

Action	Description
Open	Clicking Open opens any selected record to be viewed in Wavewin, provided that this external software is installed. Additionally, any record row can be double-clicked to view that record.
Sort	Record rows can be sorted by any column by clicking the column header.
Close	Clicking Close closes the tool instance. All open tool instances are closed when PCM600 is closed.
File	All the actions are also available on the File menu.

5.5.3 Information fields

The **IP** box shows the IP address of the selected IED and the **Local Path** box shows the selected location for reading or viewing records.

The record grid shows the name, creation time, modification time and size of each record. The times and dates shown in the grid are the times when the files have been read rather than the original date stamps in the device.

File					
IP:	192.168.0.254	Local Path:	C:\PCMDataBases\LPR		Load
	File Name	Created	Modified	Size (kB)	
١	020A0001	3/24/2011 2:28:11 PM	7/2/2010 5:59:44 PM	37.5 -	Save
	020A0002	3/24/2011 2:28:11 PM	7/2/2010 5:59:44 PM	37.5	



5.6 Fault Record tool

The Fault Record tool is used for reading the fault records from the protection relay. The tool makes analyzing the fault records easier by showing them separately in their own user control components. It also includes save, copy and clear functions where all the fault records are saved or copied in text format for later viewing or cleared from the protection relay or the tool.



The fault record is saved to a local PC with the default name FaultRecords.txt. Rename the file before saving it to avoid overriding the old record.

5.6.1 Opening and closing Fault Record tool

 To open the Fault Record tool, right-click an IED node in the PCM600 project tree and select Fault Record Tool. • To close the Fault Record tool, click the **Close** button in the tool.

The Fault Record tool runs in the same process as PCM600 but in a separate window. Multiple instances of the tool can be run at the same time. Any open tool instances are closed without confirmation when PCM600 is closed.

The main functionality is divided into three parts: reading the fault record parameters from the protection relay, displaying their names, values and units on the user interface and saving them to a text file. It is also possible to clear all the fault records from both the tool and the protection relay and copy the fault records either individually or all at once to a word processor.

5.6.2 Fault Record tool interface

Fault number: 3 / Time	and date: 4.4.20	12 15:29:33.573	-	Read C 1 Fault Becord	Read
Fault number: 2 / Time	and date: 4.4.20	12 15 29 31 580	_		
Gui Humber, a 7 Hime	- and bale. 4.4.20	12 10.20.01.000		C 20 Fault Records	Save
Fault number: 1 / Time	e and date: 4.4.20	12 15:29:29.613		C ME AD	1.000
Name	Value	Unit		(* All Fault Records	Clear /
Protection	3(>>>(1)				
Start duration	100	%			
Operate time	0	s			
Active group	1				
Shot pointer	6				
Max current IL1	2.16	sin			
Max current IL2	0	sin			
Max current IL3	0	sin			
Max current lo	0	sin			
Current IL1	0.159	sin			
Current IL2	0	sin			
Current IL3	0	sin			
Current lo	0	sin			
Current Io-Calc	0.158	sin			
Current Ps-Seg	0.053	sin			
Current Ng-Seq	0.053	xin			
Voltage UL1	0	xUn			
Voltage UL2	0	sUn			
Voltage UL3	0	xUn			
Voltage U12	0	xUn			
Voltage U23	0	xUn			
Voltage U31	0	xUn			
Voltage Uo	0	xUn			
Voltage Zro-Seq	0	sUn			
Voltage Ps-Seq	0	sUn			
Voltage Ng-Seq	0	xUn			
Voltage UL1B	0	xUn			
Voltage U12B	0	sUn			
PTTR thermal level	0.444				
12/11> rat. 12/11	99.463	%			
Frequency	(50)	Hz			
Frequency gradient	(0)	Hz/s			
Angle Uo - Io	(0)	deg			
Angle U23 - IL1	(0)	deg			
Angle U31 - IL2	(0)	deg			
Angle U12 - IL3	(0)	deg		5	
1.	1000	1.2.3			Close

Figure 75: Fault record tool

Action	Description
Read	Clicking Read reads all available fault records from the protection relay into the tool. One fault record, 20 fault records or all fault records can be read. The Read button opens up a progress bar to indicate an ongoing read operation.
	Clicking Cancel on the Read progress bar cancels the read operation. On operation completion, the available fault records are shown in the record grid.
	Click the + icon to expand and view record details.
	Clicking the + icon expands the record details for viewing.
Save	Clicking Save saves the fault records on the local machine as .txt file.
Clear	A record can be cleared from the Fault Record tool, the protection relay or both. Before deleting the records, a confirmation dialog box is shown.
Close	Clicking Close closes this instance of the Fault Record tool. All open instances are closed when PCM600 is closed.
File	File menu for Save and Exit actions.
Edit	Copy All in the Edit menu allows to copy all the fault records which can then be pasted to a word processor and saved on the local machine without having to save the records as a .txt file.
	Additionally the user can select any particular fault record and right-click to copy the selected record.

Table 4: Available actions on the user interface

5.7 IED Compare

IED Compare is used to compare the IED configurations of two IEDs of the same type. It generates a text report which lists the differences between the IED configurations. IED Compare provides an option to compare an IED configuration stored in PCM600, IED or .pcmi file. IED Compare can compare certain types of IED configurations and parameters.

- Application configuration
- Display configuration
- GOOSE receive configuration
- Parameters



Application comparison also compares the system function blocks.



Display comparison compares the LHMI page configurations.



Detailed instructions are shown in PCM600 documentation.

5.7.1 Starting IED Compare

- Start IED Compare in the shortcut menu in plant structure.
 - a) In the PCM600 plant structure, right-click **Substation**, **Voltage level**, **Bay** or **IED**.
 - b) Select IED Compare.
- Start IED Compare from the PCM600 main menu.
 - a) Select **Substation**, **Voltage level**, **Bay** or **IED** in the PCM600 plant structure.
 - b) On the PCM600 menu bar, point to **Tools** and select **IED Compare**.

5.7.2 IED Compare tool interface

The comparison report shows differences in the configuration of two IEDs. Hardware, application, display, GOOSE and parameter configuration differences are grouped and listed under the corresponding headings.

IEDCompare - IED Compare	- 4 ▷
Compare Options	
Comparison Type	
Online	
Compare PCM600 configuration with configuration in IED	
Offline	
Compare PCM600 configuration with another IED of same IED type	
Compare PCM600 configuration with IED file(*,pcmi) of same IED type	
Compare PCM600 configuration between two IED files(*.pcmi) of same	IED type
- Compare Data	
Hardware Configuration	
Application Configuration	
V Display Configuration	
GOOSE Receive Configuration	
 ✓ GOOSE Receive Configuration ✓ Parameter(s) 	
GOOSE Receive Configuration Farameter(s)	
GOOSE Receive Configuration Parameter(s) Select IED Select	FD
♥ GOOSE Receive Configuration ♥ Parameter(s) Select IED ● ♣ Substation	ED
✓ GOOSE Receive Configuration ✓ Parameter(s) Select IED ○ २१२ Substation ○ २१२ Voltage Level	ED - Substation - 探 Voltage Level
♥ GOOSE Receive Configuration ♥ Parameter(s) Select IED ♥ \$\frac{2}{37}\$ Substation ♥ \$\frac{2}{37}\$ Substation ♥ \$\frac{2}{37}\$ Bay	ED - Substation ^ - 썄 Voltage Level
✓ GOOSE Receive Configuration ✓ Parameter(s) ✓ Select I Ølect IED Select IED ¬ ポ Substation ¬ ポ Substation ¬ ポ Substation ¬ ポ Select IED ¬ ポ Substation ¬ ポ Select I ¬ ポ Substation ¬ ポ Select I	ED - Substation - 쌳 Voltage Level - 쟝 Bay - 로 REF615_FE01
Image: Configuration Image: Configuration Image: Confi	ED Substation KV Voltage Level Say REF615_FE01 REF615_FE02
▼ GOOSE Receive Configuration ▼ Parameter(s) Select IED ● ☆☆☆ Substation ● ☆☆☆ Substation ● ☆☆☆ Voltage Level ● ☆☆☆ REF615_FE03 ■ REF615_FE03	ED Substation Voltage Level 다 당 Bay REF615_FE01 REF615_FE02 REF615_FE03 PTCP1_FE03
✓ GOOSE Receive Configuration ✓ Parameter(s) Select IED Select IED ♥ Arrameter(s) ♥ Arrameter(s) <t< td=""><td>ED - Substation - W Voltage Level - S Bay REF615_FE01 - REF615_FE02 - REF615_FE03 - REF615_FE04 - REF615_FE04 - REF615_FE04</td></t<>	ED - Substation - W Voltage Level - S Bay REF615_FE01 - REF615_FE02 - REF615_FE03 - REF615_FE04 - REF615_FE04 - REF615_FE04
✔ GOOSE Receive Configuration ✔ Parameter(s) Select IED ♥ Arameter(s) ● Arameter(s)	ED - Substation - W Votage Level - I Bay REF615_FE01 - REF615_FE02 - REF615_FE03 - REF615_FE03 - REF615_FE05 - REF615
Image: Good Select leb Select leb Image: Good Select leb Select leb Image: Good Select leb Image: Good Select leb Image: Good Select leb Image	ED - Substation - S Bay - Bay - Beref15_FE01 - REF615_FE02 - REF615_FE02 - REF615_FE03 - REF615_FE04 - REF615_FE05 - REF615_FE06 - REF615_FE06 - REF615_FE06 - REF615_FE06 - REF615_FE06 - REF615_FE07 - REF615_FE06 - REF615_FE07 -
✓ GOOSE Receive Configuration ✓ Parameter(s) Select IED Select IED → 👯 Substation → 👯 Substation → 👯 Bay → 👯 Bay → 👯 Bay → 👯 EF615_FE03 → ℝEF615_FE03 → ℝEF615_FE04 → ℝEF615_FE05 → ℝEF615_FE06 → ℝEF615_FE07 → ℙEF615_FE07 → ℙEF615_FE07	ED • Substation • KV Voltage Level • IS Bay • REF615_FE01 • REF615_FE02 • REF615_FE03 • REF615_FE03 • REF615_FE04 • REF615_FE05 • REF615_FE05 • REF615_FE07 • REF615_FE07 • REF615_FE07 • REF615_FE07 • REF615_FE07
✓ GOOSE Receive Configuration ✓ Parameter(s) Select IED Select IED ✓ The select IED	ED - Substation - KY Voltage Level - IS Bay - REF615_FE01 - REF615_FE02 - REF615_FE03 - REF615_FE03 - REF615_FE05 - REF615_FE05 - REF615_FE06 - REF615_FE08 - R
Image: Good Select leb Select leb Select lED Select leb Image: Good Select leb Select leb Image: Good Select leb Image: Good Select leb	ED - Substation - ST Bay - ST Bay - REF615_FE01 - REF615_FE02 - REF615_FE03 - REF615_FE03 - REF615_FE05 - REF615_FE05 - REF615_FE07 - REF615_FE07 - REF615_FE09 - REF615_FE09
Image: Good Select Vector	ED - Substation - \$7\$ Bay - \$7\$ Bay - \$8\$ REF615_FE01 - \$8\$ REF615_FE02 - \$8\$ REF615_FE03 - \$8\$ REF615_FE03 - \$8\$ REF615_FE05 - \$8\$ REF615_FE05 - \$8\$ REF615_FE07 - \$8\$ REF615_FE07 - \$8\$ REF615_FE08 - \$8\$ REF615_FE08 - \$8\$ REF615_FE09 - \$8\$ REF615_FE00 - \$8\$ REF61
✓ GOOSE Receive Configuration ✓ Parameter(s) Select IED Select IED ✓ To Substation ✓ To Substation ✓ To Bay ✓ REF615_FE01 ✓ REF615_FE03 ✓ REF615_FE10 ✓ REF615_FE11 ✓ REF615_FE12	ED - Substation

Figure 76: Compare options

Each configuration group can be expanded or collapsed by clicking the plus (+) or minus (-) button next to it in the result grid.

The reports must be read from left to right row-wise.

Figure 77: Compare report

Table 5: Acronyms used in a report

Acronym	Description
DA	Data attribute
DO	Data object
IED	Intelligent electronic device
LN	Logical node
SIG	Signal

5.8 Protection and control blocking examples

Test mode is selected through one common parameter via the HMI path **Tests** > **IED test**. By default, *Test mode* can only be set locally through LHMI. *Test mode* is also available via IEC 61850 communication (LD0.LLN0.Mod).

Table 6: Test mode

Test mode	Description	Protection BEH_BLK
Normal mode	Normal operation	FALSE
IED blocked	Protection working as in Normal mode but ACT configuration can be used to block phys- ical outputs to process. Control function commands are blocked.	TRUE
IED test	Protection working as in Normal mode but protection functions work in parallel with test parameters.	FALSE
IED test and blocked	Protection working as in Normal mode but protection functions work in parallel with test parameters. ACT configuration can be used to block physical outputs to process. Control function commands are blocked.	TRUE

The mode of all logical nodes located under the CTRL logical device is set with *Control mode*. *Control mode* is selected via the HMI or PCM600 path **Configuration > Control > General**. By default, *Control mode* can only be set locally through LHMI. *Control mode* inherits its value from *Test mode* but *Control mode* "On", "Blocked" and "Off" can also be independently set. *Control mode* is also available via IEC 61850 communication (CTRL.LLN0.Mod).

Table 7: Control mode

Control mode	Description	Control BEH_BLK
On	Normal operation	FALSE
Blocked	Control function commands blocked	TRUE
Off	Control functions disabled	FALSE

According to IEC 61850, the physical outputs to process should be blocked when the device is set to blocked or test blocked mode. The blocking logic must be implemented in the ACT configuration. In the protection blocking example the main trip from TRPPTRC1 is blocked, and in the control blocking example CBXCBR1 is blocked. Both comply with IEC 61850. In real applications some PTRCs might also be used for signalling purposes (GOOSE) and blocking and interlocking via I/O.

5.8.1 Protection blocking example

The physical outputs to process can be blocked with "IED blocked" and "IED test and blocked" modes. If physical outputs need to be blocked, the application configuration must block the signals or the function blocks that affect primary apparatuses. The blocking scheme needs to use the BEH_BLK output of the PROTECTION function block.



Figure 78: Master trip TRPPTRC blocked using Protection function block BEH_BLK output

5.8.2 Control blocking example

The physical outputs to process can be blocked with "Blocked" mode. If physical outputs need to be blocked, the application configuration must block signals or function blocks that affect primary apparatuses. Blocking scheme needs to use BEH_BLK output of CONTROL function block.



Figure 79: Circuit breaker control CBXCBR1 blocked using Protection function block BEH_BLK output

6 HMI engineering

6.1 Graphical Display Editor

Graphical Display Editor is used to configure the protection relay's HMI pages.

Graphical Display Editor can be used to create new pages, configure pages by adding widgets, set page visibility to different user categories, create single-line diagrams and symbols and provide language translations.

6.1.1 Creating complete local HMI page configuration

- Configure the protection relay functions such as protection, measurements and control functions with Application Configuration. The configuration made in Application Configuration can be saved to make the interfaces and signals available for other engineering tools within PCM600 such as Parameter Setting or Graphical Display Editor.
- Make connections between the application configuration function blocks and physical hardware inputs and outputs by using Signal Matrix or Application Configuration.
- Configure HMI pages by using Graphical Display Editor. Create new pages, configure the pages by adding widgets, set page visibility to different user categories, create single-line diagrams shown on the LHMI and WHMI and symbols, and provide language translations for the added LHMI elements.
 - 1. To configure the single-line diagram, check if any new symbols are required in addition to the default symbols in SLD Editor. Use Symbol Editor to create the missing symbols.
 - 2. Use SLD Editor to create a single-line diagram. Add bus bars, symbols and texts and create links between the symbols. Link the dynamic symbols to the corresponding function blocks in the application configuration. The function blocks control the objects represented by symbols on the HMI. Add 10 SLD pages at the maximum.
 - 3. Use Page Organizer to configure the main screen of HMI and to create main pages and linked pages by using the predefined ABB built-in pages and template pages. Set also the page visibility to Basic or Advanced access rights and define unique page names.
 - 4. Use Page Editor to configure the main and linked pages and, for example, to add widgets.
 - 5. Use Language Translation to translate the configuration data text into different languages. Configuration data includes widget properties, page properties and symbol captions. If needed, add a new language from the list of languages supported by the relay and set the translated text for the language for available configuration.
 - 6. Save the configuration.
 - 7. Preview the configuration before writing it to the relay.
 - 8. Write the configuration to the relay.

6.1.2 Creating complete switchgear HMI configuration

- Configure HMI pages for all the relays that are intended to be connected to the SHMI. These steps are described separately.
- Configure bay overview for each relay by using Graphical Display Editor. Create SHMI pages, configure SLDViewPort or Image widgets, and create single-line diagrams shown on the SHMI navigation page.
 - 1. To configure a single-line diagram for the bay overview, create a singleline diagram in Switchgear HMI SLD Editor. Create an SHMI page in Page Organizer, add an SLDViewPort widget to the SHMI page, and select the previously drawn SHMI SLD to be shown.
 - 2. To configure an image for the bay overview, create an SHMI page in Page Organizer. Add an Image widget to the SHMI page, and select the image to be shown in the bay overview.
 - 3. Save the configuration and write the bay overview configuration to the relay.
 - 4. Close Graphical Display Editor.
- Create an SHMI object in the plant structure.
- Start Switchgear HMI Configuration from the SHMI object to configure the navigation page for the SHMI.
 - 1. Set the substation name, voltage level and switchgear name according to the project requirements.
 - 2. Ensure that all bay overviews under the Switchgear HMI Navigation Page Configuration section are presented as intended in the SHMI navigation page. The order of bays can be changed and any bay overviews unintended for the SHMI can be moved to the Unallocated bays overview section.
 - 3. Preview the navigation page to ensure that the result is correct.
- Set up a connection to the relays through a station network so that all the relays are reachable.
- Write the SHMI configuration to all allocated relays.

6.1.3 ABB built-in pages

The ABB built-in pages contain information and functionality which are common to most of the applications. Widget properties are usually fixed on these pages but some, such as measurement page and phasors page contents, can be modified.

6.1.3.1 Measurements page

The Measurements page contains two configurable measurement lists. The buttons at the bottom of the page are used to navigate to other measurement-related pages: **Phasors, Load Profile, Harmonics** and **Temperatures**.

Only the Measurements and Phasors pages are user-configurable.



Figure 80: Measurements page



The **Measurements** page configuration data is also used by the WHMI, that is, even if the LHMI is not used with the relay, if the measurements need to be seen on the WHMI, the **Measurements** page configuration must be created in Graphical Display Editor.

Adding and removing measurements

- 1. In Page Editor, select the **Measurements** page and then select a measurement list by clicking it.
- 2. In the **Object Properties** pane, click ... on the **listId** row to browse the available signals.

i ol	bject Properties	▼ ∓ ×
	2↓ 🖻	
~	Common	
	objectId	measurementlist4
~	Measurement List	
	height	330
	listId	/measlist/measurementlist1list1d
	showLimits	false
	width	385
	x	15
	у	15

Figure 81: Accessing the signals

3. In the **Signal Group Selection** dialog, select check boxes to add the required signals or clear them to remove any unused signals.

Signal Group Selection × Select Signals Measurement1 CMMXU1:1.IL1-A:1 CMMXU1:1.IL2-A:1 CMMXU1:1.IL3-A:1 CSMSQI1:1.NgSeq-A:1 CSMSQI1:1.PsSeq-A:1 CSMSQI1:1.ZrSeq-A:1 FMMXU1:1.f-Hz:1 PEMMXU1:1.PF:1 PEMMXU1:1.P-kW:1 PEMMXU1:1.Q-kVAr:1 PEMMXU1:1.S-kVA:1 RESCMMXU1:1.lo-A:1 OK Cancel

Figure 82: Selecting signals

4. Click OK.

Configuring measurement items

The measurement limits, scaling and order can be independently configured in the Object Properties pane.



Click a measurement to select the measurement item. Then click the same item again to select the measurement list.

Set the measurement properties.

If the property value is set to "Automatic", the LHMI uses the value defined by the data model.

0	bject Properties	→ 中 ×		
•	ੈ ↓ 📼			
×	Measurement List Item			
	highHighLimit	Automatic		
	highLimit	Automatic		
	lowLimit	Automatic		
	lowLowLimit	Automatic		
	max	100		
	min	0		
	offset	Automatic		
	order	1000		
	scaling	Automatic		
	showLimits	true		
	source	CMMXU1:1.IL1-A:1		
	unit	Automatic		

Figure 83: Configuring measurement items

- Apply custom scaling, if needed.
 - In the scaling box, define the correct value which is a coefficient applied to the measurement value. The supported scaling is linear: new_value = read_measurement_value × scaling_property + offset_property.
 - 2. In the **offset** box, define the offset value.
 - 3. In the **unit** box, define the unit (string).
 - 4. Adjust the other limit properties to better fit the scaled measurement value.
- In the order box, define custom order for the measurements, if needed. The smaller the order property, the higher the measurement's position in the measurement list.

By default, all measurement list items are arranged in alphabetical order. Modifying the order property overrides the default behavior.

6.1.3.2 Phasors page

By default, the Phasors page template available in Page Organizer contains an empty Custom signal group. Measurements can be added to the Custom signal group or new signal groups can be added and removed by opening the **Phasors** page in Page Editor.

Opening Signal Grouping Editor

- 1. In Page Editor, open the **Phasors** page.
- 2. Click in the lower-right corner of the Phasors page.

The Signal Grouping Editor dialog opens.



Figure 84: Opening Signal Grouping Editor

Adding and removing signal groups

- Add a new signal group.
 - 1. In Signal Grouping Editor dialog, click Add.
 - 2. In Enter Group Name dialog, type the signal group name.
 - 3. Click OK.

Signal Grouping Editor			-		
List of All Signals	nts :1		Signal Group Custom	- Add	Remove
CMN CMN CMN CMN CSMSQ RESCMI ESCMI	Enter Group Name Group Name	Phase currents	Cancel		
VMMXU1 VSMSQI1	:1			ОК	Close

Figure 85: Adding a signal group

- Remove an existing signal group.
 - 1. In **Signal Grouping Editor** dialog, select a group from the **Signal Group** dropdown list.
 - 2. Click Remove.

Signal Group Phase currents
Add Remove Custom Phase currents

Figure 86: Removing a signal group

Adding and removing signals

- Add new signals.
 - 1. In **Signal Grouping Editor** dialog, select a group from the **Signal Group** dropdown list.
 - 2. In List of All Signals list, select the required signals and click



Add seven signals at the maximum to a single group.



Signal Grouping Editor List of All Signals List of All Signals Measurements CMMXU1:1 CMMXU1:1.IL1-A:1 CMMXU1:1.IL2-A:1 CMMXU1:1.IL2-A:1 CMMXU1:1.IL3-A:1 CMMXU1:1 RESCMMXU1:1 RESCMMXU1:1 RESCMMXU1:1 VMMXU1:1 CMMXU1:1	Signal Group Phase currents Add Remove CMMXU1:1.1L1-A:1 CMMXU1:1.1L2-A:1 CMMXU1:1.1L3-A:1
	OK Close

Figure 87: Adding a signal

- Remove existing signals.
 - 1. In **Signal Grouping Editor** dialog, select a group from the **Signal Group** dropdown list.
 - 2. Select the required signals and click
 - 3. Click OK.

6.1.4 Page Organizer

Page Organizer is used for configuring the main screen of LHMI by creating main pages, linked pages and switchgear HMI pages. Pages can be added, removed or reordered in Page Organizer and, for example, their visibility can be set to "Basic" or "Advanced". These access rights are mapped to user roles with User Management in PCM600 and the pages are filtered based on the mapping. The selection "Basic" or "Advanced" is not applicable to the WHMI. SHMI pages are used on the navigation page of the SHMI.



In the Add Page dialog, some of the pages in the ABB Built-in Pages category are marked with a padlock symbol. They are locked and cannot be modified in Page Editor. If such a page should be modified, it can be enabled by first saving it as a template.

REX640 - Graphical Display Editor							- 4 ▷ x	
Page Organizer	Page Editor	SLD Editor	Symbol Editor	Language Translation				
Main Pages - Pages visible in panel's main page list.								
Overview	Advanced	Events	sic Advanced	Fault Records	Timeline Basic Advanced	LoadProfileRecords		
Measurements	Advanced	+ /	Add Page					
Linked Pages - Pages that are referenced by home page items (links, buttons).							~	
Phasors		+ /	Add Page					

Figure 88: Page Organizer

6.1.4.1 Main pages and linked pages

Main pages can be navigated using the Home button on the LHMI. The main page visibility is bound to access rights. Linked pages are pages which are linked from other pages; they can be opened from a main page when a button is tapped. Depending on the selected role, linked pages are shown under the main page area.

Both the main pages and the linked pages are defined in Page Organizer.

6.1.4.2 Templates

Templates allow replicating the same configuration with less effort. New pages can be created by selecting a template page so that the new page becomes a new instance of the template page. Templates also contain empty pages.

In Page Organizer, the ABB built-in pages are seen as page templates. Both ABB built-in pages and template pages require unique names.

6.1.4.3 Creating pages

The relay supports 10 main pages, 20 linked pages and 2 SHMI pages at the maximum.

- 1. In Page Organizer, create new pages in one of the alternative ways.
 - Under Main Pages, click Add Page to create a main page.
 - Under Linked Pages, click Add Page to create a linked page.



Change the page type (main or linked) by dragging the page from one area to the other.



Figure 89: Adding pages

2. In the **Add Page** dialog, select a predefined ABB built-in page or a template page and click **Add**.

Define unique names for all main, linked and SHMI pages regardless



Figure 90: Using ABB built-in pages or templates

6.1.4.4 Changing page order

- In Page Organizer, change the order of the pages by dragging a page to the required place.
- Pages can also be dragged from Main Pages to Linked Pages and vice versa.

6.1.4.5 Creating templates

When a template is created out of an existing page, it becomes available under the Templates section in the Add Page dialog. Templates allow replicating the same configuration with less effort.

Save pages as templates in one of the alternative ways.

- Click **Options** in the upper-right corner of the page and select **Save as Template** from the shortcut menu.
- Right-click the page and click **Save as Template**.



Figure 91: Saving templates

6.1.5 Switchgear HMI Page Editor

Switchgear HMI Page Editor is used to configure the bay overview shown on the SHMI navigation page. SHMI pages can be configured by adding widgets that are the building blocks for configuring the bay overview. All the supported widgets are populated in the Object Types pane.

Page Browser is shown at the bottom of Switchgear HMI Page Editor. It displays all editable SHMI pages that are available in the Page Organizer. When a page is clicked, it opens in Page Editor. Page templates are not shown in Page Browser.



Figure 92: Page with Image widget

6.1.5.1 Adding widgets

• Add a widget to the page by dragging it from the **Object Types** pane.
• Set the widget properties.

Adding SLDViewPort

The SLDViewPort widget displays the single-line diagram configured in Switchgear HMI SLD Editor. The single-line diagram is shown on the bay overview area of the SHMI navigation page.

- 1. Drag the **SLDViewPort** widget from the **Object Types** pane to the page.
- 2. In **Object Properties**, select the required page from the **page** drop-down list.



Figure 93: Configuring the SLDViewPort widget

Adding Image

The Image widget displays a custom image on the bay overview area of the SHMI navigation page.

- 1. Drag the Image widget from the Object Types pane to the page.
- 2. In **Object Properties**, select the required image from the file selection dialog.



Slicing of a photo or a static SLD picture for multiple bays should be done in a separate editor application. Maximum size of the picture is 186 × 320 pixels.

6.1.6 Page Editor

Page Editor is used for configuring pages. Pages can be configured, for example, by adding widgets that are the building blocks of the LHMI configuration or by creating a single-line diagram.

Any graphical object drawn on the LHMI page is a widget. All the supported widgets are populated in the Object Types pane.

Page Browser is shown at the bottom of Page Editor. It displays all editable pages selected for the Main Pages and Linked Pages categories in Page Organizer. When a page is clicked, it opens in Page Editor. Page templates are not shown in Page Browser.

Object Types + 4 ×	REX640 - Graphical Display Editor 4 b 🗙	Object Properties • 4 ×
All Widgets 🕿	Page Organizer Page Editor SLD Editor Symbol Editor Language Translation	(m) 21 (m)
Antividanti Antividanti Continens & Monitors & Continens Monitors & Continens Monitors & Continens Monitors & Continens Monitors & Continens Continens Monitors & Continens Cont	Page Cognicies Page Ector Suite Educ Symbol Educ Language Translation Pasituat sciences and collapse 90° Max Values Io-A:1 0.0 Unit 0° Uo-KV:1 0.0 Unit 0°	Logential a Constali Constali Paget 4.30 help 100 name Phasana widh
Innicentation Minicevents Minicevents Minicevents Minicevents Minicevents Minicevents Minicevents TempMonButton TempMonButton WriteButton	Select Reference point: Default	
	· · · ·	height Height of the widget in pixels
Plant Structure Graphical Display Editor		REX640 Graphical Display Editor

Figure 94: Page with phasors

6.1.6.1 Adding widgets

- Add a widget to the page by dragging it from the **Object Types** pane.
- Set the widget properties.

Adding SLDViewPort

The SLDViewPort widget displays the single-line diagram configured in SLD Editor.

- 1. Drag the **SLDViewPort** widget from the **Object Types** pane to the page.
- 2. In **Object Properties**, select the required page from the **page** drop-down list.

Object Types • 4 ×	REX640 - Graphical Display Editor + 4 + X	Object Properties 🔻 🕈 🗙
All Widgets 🕿	Page Organizer Page Editor SLD Editor Symbol Editor Language Translation	E 21 E
Containers 🗸 🗸	*	# Common
Frame		objectid aldviewport1
SLDWewPot	Titles in 1	SLDViewPort contextScale 100
I VewPot	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	contentX 0
Monitors 🗶		contentY 0
Widgets 2		enableControl true
		enable/ECControl8 false
	U a	height 360
		margins 16
	¥	age1 (SLDPage1)
		x SLDPage1 (SLDPage1)
	φ	y 20
	Hold Shift to Ren / CTRL + Nouse wheel to Zoom	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	4. F	
		0808
	State State State State State State State State State	This is a link to an SLD Page
	Overview Events Fault Records Timeline LoadProfileRecords Measurements Blank Page Phaso	
in the second		ODVERS Combined Directory Editory

Figure 95: Configuring the SLDViewPort widget

Adding ViewPort

The ViewPort widget displays the contents of a page.

- 1. Drag the **ViewPort** widget from the **Object Types** pane to the page.
- 2. In **Object Properties**, select the required page from the **page** drop-down list.

6.1.6.2 Configuring pages

- Add new widgets by dragging them from **Object Types** to the page.
- Resize the selected widgets in one of the alternative ways.
 - Click and hold any resize point on the edge or corner of the widget and drag the mouse to resize the widget.
 - Change the width and height properties of the widget in the **Object Properties** pane.
- Set the properties of the selected widget by modifying the values in the **Object properties** pane.

Once widgets are placed on the HMI page, some of them (Monitors) can be linked to the corresponding function block in the application configuration by using the source property. The values are updated by the protection relay either periodically (measurement) or in case of an event.

Some of the widget properties can be in an automatic mode. When the property is in the automatic mode, the values are set automatically by the protection relay's LHMI. If a value is specified for an automatic property, the LHMI displays the specified value.



Some of the widget properties cannot be edited as they are read-only values.

• Group or ungroup multiple widgets regardless of their type.



Figure 96: Grouping widgets

When a group is created, all the individual widget properties such as the widget name followed by the dot and the property name, are shown in the Object Properties pane. Only properties x and y are common for all the widgets in the group.

The widget group property naming (aliases), visibility and read-only can be modified.

The grouped widgets can be ungrouped by right-clicking the group and selecting **Ungroup**.

Bind the widget property values to the same or to another widget property values or to signal values from the application configuration function.

It is possible to specify simple if...else conditions. The property values are then changed based on those conditions.

For example, the LED color can be changed to red if the signal value is high or to green if button2 is checked. Otherwise the LED color is yellow.

REX640 - Graphical Display Editor	• 4 ▷	× Object Properties	→ ₽ ×
Page Organizer Page Editor SLD Editor	Symbol Editor Language Translation	3 ∎ 2 ↓ 📼	
	Logic Window		X
	x - X-Coordinate of the top-left corner of the widget	~	5: 30
	y - Y-Coordinate of the top-left corner of the widget		
	width - Width of the widget in pixels	~	
× 1	height - Height of the widget in pixels	•	=
	color - This is the LED color	~	
button	IF CTRL.CBXCBR1 :1.Switch position == 1	. 🔶 💻 🗶	
	ELSE IF button1.checked == true	📕 🔶 🔳 🗶 🗶	
	ELSE 📃 🔻	+	-
		Apply Close	
*	· · ·		

Figure 97: Binding property data

6.1.7 Symbol Editor

Symbol Editor is used to create symbols for a single-line diagram. It has different drawing tools available such as line, rectangle and ellipse to draw the symbols.

6.1.7.1 Symbols

Symbols are used in the single-line diagram. Each symbol has at least one state that represents the graphics of a symbol at different positions.

Symbol Editor supports three types of symbol standards. New symbols can only be created under the custom standard.

- ANSI
- IEC
- Custom

Symbor Editor can be used to create dynamic symbols that have different states corresponding to the different signal values supported by the symbol. For example, the symbol states of a breaker (open, close, intermediate and faulty) can be illustrated in Symbol Editor with the help of drawing tools such as line, rectangle, ellipse, curve or polyline. The symbol State value should match the signal Enum value. On the LHMI the symbols are displayed according to the signal value and the matching symbol state value. One of the states is always the default state. Symbols used in SLD Editor show the default state graphics. There are several options for the symbol size: 1x1 (normal size), 1x2 (height is doubled), 2x1(width is doubled) and 2x2 (both the height and width are doubled).

Custom symbols can be exported from the Graphical Display Editor and reused in other projects.



Figure 98: Symbol Editor

6.1.7.2 Creating custom symbols

New symbols can only be created under the custom standard. The available options are the category, size and states. At least one state should be selected when creating any symbol.



Before creating a new custom symbol, check that the states and category required for the new symbol are available by default. Otherwise, it may be necessary to create new states or categories.

- 1. Create a new symbol in one of the alternative ways.
 - On the menu bar, point to Graphical Display Editor, point to Symbol Editor and select Create Symbol.
 - Right-click the symbol library and click Create Symbol.
 - On the toolbar, click 埦 .

2. In the **Create Symbol** dialog, specify a name, category, size and states and click **Create**.

ABB Create S	ymbol 🗆 🗆 🗙
Name:	MyCustomSymbol
Category:	CustomCategory 🔹
Size:	• 1x1 •
States:	Closed [2]
	Default [0]
	Disconnected driven outside
	Disconnector closed [4]
	Disconnector intermediate [
	Earthing switch closed [0]
	Earthing switch intermediate
	▼ Faulty [3]
	Intermediate [0]
	Create Cancel

Figure 99: Creating a new symbol

The new symbol becomes available in Symbol Editor with the states selected for drawing. Different drawing tools such as line, rectangle and ellipse can be used to draw the graphics for the different states.

3. Select the symbol state to be used as the default and set **is default** to **True** in the **Object Properties** pane.

REX640 - Graphical Displa	sy Editor						- 4 Þ ×	Object Propert	ies	₩ 4 ×
Page Organizer Page Editor	SLD Editor Symbol Editor	Language Ti	ranslation					21 🔟		
Custom CustomCategory		O	Ø	\oplus	Ð	Ð		Misc ception is default name	Open True Open	6
		Ó				Ð		value	1	
		Ð,				e				
		θ				θ				
		0	Đ	\oplus	Ð	-0				
	Intermediate Open	losed Faulty						is default		
(X:379, Y:303)	76							REX640 Graphics	al Display Editor	

Figure 100: Setting the default state

4. Select the signals that should be connectable in SLD Editor via the symbol's Signals property.

- a) On the menu bar, point to **Graphical Display Editor**, point to **Symbol Editor**, point to **Symbol** and select **Object Properties**.
- b) Select Signals property and click
- c) In the **Signals Selection** dialog, use **and to** add or remove signals and click **OK**.

The connectable signal types for symbols are shown on the left side of the Signal Selection dialog. Any signal type can be moved from the left side to the right side and vice versa. These signal types are used to connect to the symbol if the instance is available in the configuration.

Ass Signals Selection	
Function Block/Signal Filter	Signal Filter
 ✓ CBXCBR1 → POSOPEN → POSCLOSE → ENA_OPEN → ENA_CLOSE → BLK_OPEN → BLK_CLOSE → AU_OPEN → AU_CLOSE → TRIP → SYNC_OK → SYNC_ITL_BYP 	CBXCBR1.OPENPOS

Figure 101: Selecting the signals for a symbol

d) If the symbol is of control type, select the correct value in the **control dialog** drop-down list.

; 0	bject Properties	→ ∓ X
] ₽ ↓ 📼	
۵	Misc	
	caption	MyCustomSymbol
	category	CustomCategory
	control dialog	None 💌
	name	None
	Signals	Controllable
	eize	Petersen
	3120	I CICISCII
	3120	Tristate
	3120	Tristate AutoSyncGenerator
	3120	Tristate AutoSyncGenerator AutoSyncNonSource

Figure 102: Selecting the control dialog type

5. Save the symbol to make it available in SLD Editor.

6.1.7.3 Creating categories

- 1. Create a new category in one of the alternative ways.
 - On the menu bar, point to **Graphical Display Editor**, point to **Symbol Editor** and select **Create Category**.
 - Right-click the symbol library and click Create Category.
 - On the toolbar, click 🗣 .



Figure 103: Creating a category

2. In the Create Category dialog, specify a name and click Create.

6.1.7.4 Creating states

The symbol can have different states that represent the graphics for the symbol. The symbol graphics are different for each state. The state is selected when creating a new symbol.

- 1. Create a new state in one of the alternative ways.
 - On the menu bar, point to **Graphical Display Editor**, point to **Symbol Editor** and select **Create State**.
 - On the toolbar, click 🕮.
- 2. In the Create State dialog, select Create new state.

ABB Create State	
Create new state Both open [2] Closed [2] Default [0] Disconnected driven outside Disconnector closed [4] Disconnector intermediate [3]	Alle Create State
Earthing switch closed [0] Earthing switch intermediate [2 Faulty [3] Intermediate [0] Maintenance/ Pushed outside	1] switchge Cancel

3. Specify a name and numeric value and click **Create**.

Figure 104: Creating a state

6.1.8 SLD Editors

SLD editors are used to create single-line diagrams. In SLD editors, bus bars, symbols and text can be added from the object type window and links can be created between symbols. Graphical Display Editor has two separate editors.

- SLD Editor is used to draw single-line diagrams that are used on the normal HMI pages.
- Switchgear HMI SLD Editor is used to draw a single-line diagram that is used on the bay overview area of the SHMI.

Once the symbols are placed on the SLD page, they must be linked in Application Configuration to the corresponding function block that protects or controls the object represented by the symbol. The values are updated by the protection relay either periodically (measurement) or in case of an event.

Single-line diagrams support both ANSI and IEC standards. Single-line diagrams created in ANSI can be changed to IEC and vice versa by changing the symbol standard in PCM600. Custom symbols can be used in both ANSI and IEC standards. In the object type window, symbols are grouped by their category.

The single-line diagram created in SLD Editor can be used on the main pages with a special widget called SLDViewPort. The widget is available under the Container group and its page property populates the list of SLD pages. The single-line

diagram size can be selected from the Object Properties pane. In ViewPort the single-line diagram can be zoomed and paned on the LHMI.

Object Types 🔻 🕈	X REX640 - Graphical Display Editor	↓ ↓ ★ Object Properties ↓ ↓ ★
All Symbols 😵	Page Organizer Page Editor SLD Editor Symbol Editor Language T	ranslation
AS_Non_Source AS_Source As_Source Autotransformer BooleanStateText Breaker Breaker2 Busber_Junction BusBarHorizontal BusBarVertical Capacitive_Voltage_Transforms		Common Objecti SLDPage1 Mac Superative SLDPage1 ControllighLight faigh response SLDPage1 pageSize Normal symbolFamat IEC wedh sub
	SLDPage	backgroundColor Fallback background color of the SLD
Plant Structure Graphical Display Editor		REX640 Graphical Display Editor

Figure 105: SLD Editor

All SLD pages are shown at the bottom of SLD Editor. When a page is clicked, it opens in SLD Editor. New SLD pages can be added by clicking the Add Page button. To remove an SLD page, right-click the SLD page and select the Remove Page option in the context menu.



The relay supports a maximum of 10 SLD pages.

SLD Page Editor is used for various tasks.

- Adding static text
- Adding measurands
- Adding bus bars
- Adding symbols to the display page
- Drawing lines (creating links)

6.1.8.1 Adding bus bars

1. In SLD Editor, drag a **BusBarHorizontal** or **BusBarVertical** object from the **Object Types** pane to the page view.



Figure 106: Adding a bus bar

2. Select the left or right connection point and drag it to increase the size of the bus bar.

6.1.8.2 Managing bus bar coloring

Bus bar coloring is used to assign a color to a bus bar or links. New bus bar color groups can be created and each color group can have one or more logic conditions; each logic condition is associated with one color.

Apply the bus bar coloring

- 1. Right-click anywhere on the page and select Show Bus Bar Coloring.
- 2. In the **SLD Logic Window** dialog, click **+** to add a new color group or **x** to remove an existing color group.
- 3. Expand any color group and click + to add IF and ELSE conditions and x to remove them.
- 4. Click ... to add another **And** condition inline. Click **And** to change or remove the condition.
- 5. To add a value for a condition, click **Value Button**, select any signal value or widget property value and press ENTER.
- 6. Select any color from the drop-down list.
- 7. Select **Color Group** and click on any bus bar to apply the coloring.

Page Organizer	Page Editor SLD	Editor Symbol Editor L	Language Translation			
	<u></u>	CX- -CX- SLD Logic Window			8	
	Ļ	+ 🗶				
		Color Group 1			•	
		IF CBXCBR	t1:1.POSITION == open	+ =-	×	
		ELSE IF	R1:1.POSITION == closed	+ •	*	
4		ELSE 🔳 🛡			+	r in the second
E	+			Apply	Close	

Figure 107: Managing bus bar coloring

Remove the bus bar coloring

- 1. Right-click anywhere on the page and select Show Bus Bar Coloring.
- 2. Select any color group and click the bus bar to remove the bus bar coloring.

Bus bar coloring example based on the CBXCBR position value

If the CBXCBR position is open, all the bus bars and links associated with the "Color Group1" group should be displayed in red color. If the CBXCBR position is closed, it should be indicated in green color. Otherwise the color is black.

```
IF CBXCBR1:1. POSITION== open THEN Line Color is Red ELSE
CBXCBR1:1. POSITION== closed THEN Line Color is Green ELSE Line
Color is black.
```



Right-click anywhere on the page and select **Highlight Conditional Bus Bar** to show bus bars that have the coloring applied.

6.1.8.3 Adding symbols to an SLD page

- 1. In SLD Editor, prepare the body of the single-line diagram by placing symbols to the wanted positions on the page view.
- 2. Drag the apparatus or transformer symbols to the SLD Editor view.
- 3. Drag the connection symbols.
- 4. Place the junction points.

5. Connect the symbols where necessary by drawing lines between the symbols' source and destination ports.



Figure 108: Adding symbols to an SLD page

- 6. In the **Object Properties** pane, set the symbol properties.
 - Use the **x** and **y** coordinates to adjust the placement of symbols in the single-line diagram.
 - Use controlState to define the default state of the symbol to be displayed in the view.
 - Use indicationOnly to define if the symbol is controllable (true = status only; false = controllable).
 - Use **control** to link the symbol to the function block in the application configuration that protects or controls the object.
 - Use stateColorMap to specify colors for the different states of the symbol.



Figure 109: Setting colors for the different symbol states

If custom symbols have been used in the SLD configuration and then deleted, the symbol graphics show an error and all the related connections are removed from the configuration.

6.1.8.4 Creating SLD pages

- 1. On the Graphical Display Editor toolbar, select the symbol standard from the drop-down list.
 - IEC
 - ANSI
- 2. Ensure that the **Snap to grid** and **Show grid** functions are available. These are the default and recommended settings when designing a single-line diagram.
- 3. Place the primary equipment on the single-line diagram approximately in the wanted position.

If required, rotate the symbols using the Rotate Left or Rotate Right functions.

- 4. Consider the necessary symbol connections, that is, links.
 - a) Click on the source port and click on the desired position to add a connection point.
 - b) Draw a perpendicular line by moving the mouse while pressing SHIFT and clicking on the target port.
- 5. Connect the symbols where necessary.
 - a) Move the mouse pointer over the symbol's connection ports.

The connection ports of all symbols are activated.

b) Drag the connection from the source connection port and drop it in the target connection port.

A connection line between the source and target connection ports is drawn.

Alternatively, click on the source port and then click once at the target port to create the connection. Move the mouse pointer on the nearest connection port to ensure the target port. A "+" sign appears.

c) Right-click or press ESC to cancel the connection creation.

Once a link has been used to connect the symbols, the link follows the symbol when it is moved to a new position or when it is rotated.

- 6. Move the mouse pointer away from the symbol's port for all the connection ports of the symbols to become deactivated.
- 7. Select a symbol and modify its properties in the **Object Properties** pane.

The symbol name can also be changed by double-clicking the symbol.

8. In the **Object Properties** pane, use control to relate dynamic symbols to their source data.

6.1.9 Language Translation

Language Translation is used to translate widget properties, page properties and symbol captions into different languages. All the translatable properties, that is, text properties, are displayed on the language translation tab.

With Language Translation the users can add a new language from the list of languages supported by the IED and set the translated text for the language. Once the translations are written to the IED they can be displayed on the LHMI based on the language selected.

REX640 - Graphical Display Editor		- 4 ▷ ×
Page Organizer Page Editor SLD Editor S	ymbol Editor Language Transla	ation
Add Language		
Text Key	Default Text	English (us,iec)
page19.name	Disturbance Records	Disturbance Records
page4.name	Timeline	Timeline
page7.name	Measurements	Timeline
page7.phasorbutton2.text	Phasors	Timeline
page7.listId./measurementlist1listId	Measurement1	Measurement1
page7.listId./measurementlist2listId	Measurement2	Measurement2
page21.name	Clear	Clear
page12.name	Testing and Commissioning	Testing and Commissioning
page12.listId./testingandcommissioning1listId	Measurements	Measurements
page5.name	LoadProfileRecords	LoadProfileRecords
page15.name	Phasors	Phasors
page15.listId./group2	Residual currents and voltages	Residual currents and voltages
page15.listId./group1	Phase currents and voltages	Phase currents and voltages
page1.name	Overview	Overview
page2.name	Events	Events
page22.name	Relav Status	Relav Status
page3.name Select Lar	iguage	
SLDPage1.name		
page8.name Select Langu	age	
ocicer earigu		· ·
	Czech (cz,iec)	^ I I
	Danish (dk, iec)	
	English (us,ansi)	
	English (us,iec)	

Figure 110: Language selection

New languages can be added by clicking the **Add Language** button, selecting any available language and clicking the **OK** button. The options Language 1...10 can be used to specify a custom language.

PCM600 shows all the languages supported by the IED. When adding a new language and writing it to the IED, it must be ensured that the corresponding language binary is loaded in the IED and that the corresponding language pack for the connectivity package is installed in the PC.



A warning message is displayed by the tool if the language binary is not loaded in the IED.

6.1.10 Saving, reading and writing configuration to IED

- 1. Save the LHMI configuration in one of the alternative ways.
 - On the File menu, select Save.
 - Click the **Save** button on the toolbar.
 - Press CTRL+S.

2. To write the configuration to the IED, click the **Write to IED** button on the toolbar.

This action must be confirmed before it is carried out, because it overwrites the IED's existing display configuration. The writing operation can take a few seconds or minutes to complete.

3. To read the configuration from the IED, click the **Read from IED** button on the toolbar.

6.1.11 Previewing configuration

After the pages have been configured, the configuration can be previewed with a soft LHMI before it is written to the IED. The soft LHMI is a Windows version of the actual LHMI.

To launch the soft LHMI and to preview the configuration, click the **Show Preview** button.

Graphical Display Editor Window Help	
🛍 🗽 🖀 🖃 🖾 🕼 🛍 🛓 📲 🌄 🆓 🖉 67% 🔹 🕫 🖉 📑 🖷 🖷	• 🛅 🖪 8
▼ ₽ X REX640 - Graphical Display Editor	→ 4 Þ ×
Rage Organizer Page Editor SLD Editor Show Preview Language Translation	

Figure 111: Launching the LHMI preview

6.1.12 Using HMI Client

REX640 HMI Client can be launched from PCM600. It connects to REX640 via selected Communication Port and shows HMI view that is identical to actual physical HMI.

HMI client can't be paired with the REX640 and control operations are not possible.

- 1. Select context menu on the top of REX640 in plant structure using right click.
- 2. Select **Browse with HMI > HMI Client**. When connection is established "No pages configured for the current user" is shown.
- 3. Click LOGIN on and enter credentials.



4. HMI Client is showing the configured HMI pages.

Figure 112: HMI Client

6.1.13 GDE configuration export and import

The GDE configuration can be exported and then imported to any other IED.

6.1.13.1 Exporting GDE configuration

1. On the File menu, point to Display Editor Template and select Export.

2. In the **GDE Export** dialog, select the pages, SLD pages, custom symbols and translations to be exported.

GDE Export SDE Export Configurations SDE pages SDE Main Pages SLD Pages SLD Pages Translations	Pages	SLD Pages	Translations
			Export Cancel

Figure 113: Selecting objects for export

3. Click **Export**.

The selected items are exported in .pgdep format.

If the configuration contains custom symbols that are not selected, a warning dialog is displayed.

4. Select the location to save the template and click **Save**.

6.1.13.2 Importing GDE configuration

- 1. On the File menu, point to Display Editor Template and select Import.
- 2. Click **Browse** to select any previously exported template file in .pgdep format and click **Open**.
- 3. In the **GDE Import** dialog, select the pages, SLD pages, custom symbols and translations to be imported.
 - Items present in the current configuration have a green border.
 - Items present in the current configuration with differences have a red border.
 - Items not present in the current configuration (new items) have a blue border.

Import Pag Pag SID	Configurations es Main Pages Link Pages Pages			
	- uges	Verview	Events	Fault Records
		Timeline	☑ LoadProfileRecords	Measurements
	151 2019 17-09			
vale created	15/1/2015 17:05			

Figure 114: Selecting objects for import

4. Click **Import**.

All page names must be unique. If a page is imported with a name that is used by an existing page, a confirmation dialog is displayed. The options are to overwrite the existing page, to create a new page with a different name or to cancel the import.



Figure 115: Confirming action after name conflict

6.2 Switchgear HMI Configuration

Switchgear HMI Configuration is used to configure the SHMI navigation page after the bay overview area has been configured for each relay using Graphical Display Editor.

6.2.1 Configuring switchgear HMI navigation page



A maximum of 20 REX640 relays can be connected to one SHMI.

1. In the Plant Structure, right-click a substation, a voltage level or a bay and point to **New**, point to **General** and select **SHMI** to create an SHMI object.

Each SHMI object represents one SHMI in the installation.

- 2. Right-click the SHMI object and select Switchgear HMI Configuration.
- 3. Define **Substation Name**, **Voltage Level** and **Switchgear Name** to be shown on the SHMI navigation page.
- 4. Drag the bay overviews to change their order, to allocate them for the SHMI or to remove them from the SHMI.

All relays that support the SHMI are visible in the tool, and 20 relays are automatically assigned to the SHMI. The unallocated bay overviews are available to be assigned for other SHMIs in the project.



Figure 116: Allocating bay overviews to the switchgear HMI

- 5. Click **Preview** to test the result on the SHMI.
- 6. Click Write to write the SHMI configuration to all allocated relays.



Ensure that a connection is made to the relays through a station network. All relays should be reachable in the network when the SHMI configuration is written to the relays.

6.3 HMI Event Filtering

HMI Event Filtering is a tool that helps in configuring the visibility of the events shown on the IED's LHMI and WHMI. This tool does not modify the actual events on the protocol level.

The event visibility is modified in the event tree view. The events in the tree view are structured in the same way as the functions in the PCM600 plant structure.



Figure 117: HMI Event Filtering interface

6.3.1 Starting HMI Event Filtering

Start HMI Event Filtering in one of the alternative ways.

- Right-click an IED and select HMI Event Filtering.
- On the Tools menu, click HMI Event Filtering.

6.3.2 Setting visibility of HMI events

The event tree view is used to modify the visibility of the events shown on the LHMI and WHMI. Events in the tree view are structured similarly to the functions in the PCM600 plant structure.

Browse the event tree for the event.
 Event nodes in the tree have more detailed description in the tool tip.



2. Select or clear the check box next to the event name to specify its visibility.

Figure 118: Setting visibility of the HMI events

The event is visible on both LHMI and WHMI only when the check box is selected.



Select the check box of the parent node in the event tree view to modify the HMI visibility for multiple events.

Some events in the event tree are read-only and cannot be modified. The readonly events appear dimmed on the user interface.

4	Monitoring
	🔺 🔳 IED status: 0
	9-2 Synch accuracy
	🕡 Internal Fault
	Synch source
	V Synch status
	Warning

Figure 119: Read-only events are dimmed

6.3.3 Saving event filter configuration

Save the event filter configuration in one of the alternative ways.

• On the File menu, select Save.

• Click Save on the toolbar.

The **Save** button on the toolbar is activated when the configuration is modified.

6.4 User defined names

PCM600 has a feature to set user defined names for signals, function blocks and hardware channels. Functions and signals where setting user defined name is supported are having blue color in application configuration tool. These user defined names are used in different PCM600 tool components and on HMI to ease identification of function or signal usage.

In PCM600 Application Configuration tool user defined name can be set by selecting *Set User Defined Name* from context menu, or by editing *User Defined Name* property in *Object Properties* pane.

User defined names are not shown on REX640 HMI and Web HMI by default. User must enable them by setting parameter **Configuration** > **HMI** > **User defined name**.



REX640 REX640	Events	B ^{15.1}	11.2018 :06 Ø ?			≡	
Date & Time	Function	Filter	Description	Event			
15.11.2018 11:56:43.488	Q0		Q0 CLOSE ENA	False		•	
15.11.2018 11:56:43.488	Q9	ESSXSWI1 switch position		closed			
15.11.2018 11:56:42.286	Q0	CBXCBR1 switch position		open			
15.11.2018 10:51:37.319	Q1	Q1 OPEN ENA		True			
15.11.2018 10:51:37.319	Q1		Q1 CLOSE ENA	True			
15.11.2018 10:51:37.319	Q2		Q2 OPEN ENA	True			
15.11.2018 10:51:37.319	Q2		Q2 CLOSE ENA	True			
REX640 Pa	arameters	15.1 13	11.2018 :07 Ø ?			≡	
Setting group	General						
Settings	LHMI						
Configuration	Q0		Circuit breaker control				
- Control	Q1		Disconnector control				
Control	Q2		Disconnector control				
Information	Q9		Earth switch status				

Figure 120: Example how user defined names are shown in events view and menu structure

6.5 Alarm configuration

The HMI supports two alarm handling approaches.

- Alarm list
- Programmable LEDs

The alarm list approach uses event configuration to elevate an event to an alarm. The programmable LEDs approach is similar to the traditional programmable LEDs where instead of a physical LED, a virtual LED user interface element is used.

Programmable LEDs have three different presentation methods in the user interface.

- Programmable LEDs page
- Virtual Alarm LED widget
- Alarm Annunciator full-page widget

Programmable LEDs page is available in ABB Built-in Pages category in the Page Organizer. Programmable LEDs page automatically shows configured LEDs and alarm texts. Page has buttons for clearing LEDs and resetting trips.

Virtual Alarm LED widget is single programmable LED. It can be added on any operator page on HMI and it shows status and alarm text for configured LED. There are also button widgets available for clearing LEDs and resetting trips.

Alarm annunciator is full page widget where user configures up to 64 alarms. Alarms are presented in groups containing up to 16 alarms each.

6.5.1 Alarm list

HMI Event Filtering in PCM600 is used to configure the event visibility on the LHMI and WHMI. Any visible event can be configured as an alarm. See *Chapter 6.3.2 Setting visibility of HMI events*.

6.5.1.1 Elevating events to alarms

Alarm configuration is done in the HMI Alarm and Fault Selection view. Any visible events can be elevated to an alarm or priority alarm. An alarm configuration text can also be added to describe the alarm context.

Events can be grouped into a fault (group of selected events) on the LHMI and WHMI event list. Grouping of events as a fault starts when any of the events selected in the Fault column is activated and ends when all the events selected in the Fault column are deactivated.

The group of selected events is shown as a Fault Events row on the event list. Each event is visible by expanding this row.

1. Browse the **HMI Alarm and Fault Selection** view to find the event to be configured as an alarm.

The event rows in the data grid view have more detailed description in the tool tip.

2. Select or clear the check box in the **Alarm** column to elevate an event to an alarm.

The event is visible as an alarm on both LHMI and WHMI only when the check box is selected.

3. Select or clear the check box in the **Priority** column to elevate an event to a priority alarm.

When the check box is selected, the event is visible as a priority alarm on both LHMI and WHMI. The priority alarm is always the topmost in the alarm list. If the check box is cleared, the event is visible as a normal alarm on both LHMI and WHMI if the alarm check box is selected.

4. Select or clear the check box in the **Fault** column to create an event group on the HMI event list.

When the check box is selected, the event in question (if activated) is included in a fault.

REX640 - HMI Event Filtering						- 4 P X
HMI Event Filtening HMI Alarm an	d Fault Selection					
Search Alarms and descriptions						Q
Event Container	Event	📓 Alarm	Priority	El Fault	Alarm Configuration Text	
PARAMETERS	Device state		10			1
General events	Active group			/ - E		
General events	Status overflow	- 13	10	田		
General events	Meas overflow	0		10		
General events	Compos. has changed	E3	10	123		
IED status	Warning	V	🗹 Pri	prity alarm	IED status as Warning	
IED status	Internal Fault	V		1		
IED status	Boot up reason	13	10	10		
IED status	SMV Synch accuracy	10	B			
IED status	Synch status					
IED status	Synch source		No No	mal ələrm		
EIHMI1	CONNECTION	17	17	同		

5. In the **Alarm Configuration Text** column, write some text to describe an alarm context.

Figure 121: Elevating events to alarms



The alarm configuration text can be specified only if an event is elevated to an alarm.

Select the check box in the column header of a column in the data grid view to modify the alarm configuration, priority or fault selection of all events.

6.5.1.2 Searching for events and alarms

In HMI Event Filtering, locate an event or alarm in the event filtering or alarm selection views in one of the alternative ways.

- Use the predefined search strings.
- Type a search string manually.

6.5.1.3 Saving HMI alarm and fault selection

Save the HMI alarm and fault selection in one of the alternative ways.

- On the File menu, select Save.
- Click Save on the toolbar.

The **Save** button on the toolbar is activated when the configuration is modified.

6.5.2 Virtual programmable LEDs

6.5.2.1 Configuring LEDs in application configuration

Three steps must be completed to enable programmable LEDs in the relay's HMI.

1. Instantiate LED functions in application configuration and connect the OK and ALARM signals in application configuration.

- 2. Configure LED description texts in **Parameter Setting**. Parameters are in **IED Configuration > Configuration > Programmable LEDs**.
- 3. Clear all events elevated as alarms in **HMI Event Filtering** so that the HMI Home button LED can follow the programmable LED state instead of the alarm list.

6.5.2.2 Configuring Programmable LEDs page

- 1. Open Page Organizer in Graphical Display Editor.
- 2. Select Add Page... on Main Pages section.
- 3. Select **Programmable LEDs** from **ABB Built-in Pages** section.
- 4. Select Add to insert programmable LED page to operator pages.

6.5.2.3 Configuring Virtual Alarm LED widget

- 1. Open Page Editor in Graphical Display Editor.
- 2. Drag and drop **VirtualAlarmLed** widget on the page.
- 3. Keep LED widget active and select **LED1...LED66** in Object Properties pane's source property.

6.5.2.4 Configuring Alarm Annunciator page

- 1. Open Page Organizer in Graphical Display Editor.
- 2. Select Add Page... on Main Pages section.
- 3. Select **Blank Page** from **Templates** section.
- 4. Open **Page Editor**, and drag and drop **Alarm Annunciator** widget on the empty page.
- 5. Select in the lower-right corner of the alarm annunciator page to open function grouping editor.
- 6. Select **Add** to create new group.
- 7. Activate one of the created groups and select **Local HMI/LEDx** in the list of available functions.

8.

				_	
Function grouping editor			_		
unction groups					
Group 1				Add	
Group 2				Remove	_
Group 3					
Group 4					
elected group (Group 1)					
List of available functions:		Selected functions:			
▷ \$ Configuration	^	LED1:1			
▲ 稅 Local HMI		LED2:2			
▲ ♣ Local HMI ⊕ LED1:1		LED2:2 LED3:3			
 ♣ ♣ Local HMI ⊕ LED1:1 ⊕ LED10:10 		LED2:2 LED3:3 LED4:4			
 ♣ tocal HMI ⊕ LED1:1 ⊕ LED10:10 ⊕ LED11:11 		LED2:2 LED3:3 LED4:4 LED5:5			
 ♣ tocal HMI ⊕ LED1:1 ⊕ LED10:10 ⊕ LED11:11 ⊕ LED11:11 ⊕ LED12:12 		LED2:2 LED3:3 LED4:4 LED5:5 LED6:6			
 ♣ tocal HMI ⊕ LED1:1 ⊕ LED10:10 ⊕ LED11:11 ⊕ LED12:12 ⊕ LED12:13 	H	LED2:2 LED3:3 LED4:4 LED5:5 LED6:6 LED7:7			
 ♣ tocal HMI ⊕ LED1:1 ⊕ LED10:10 ⊕ LED11:11 ⊕ LED12:12 ⊕ LED13:13 ⊕ LED14:14 	Ξ	LED2:2 LED3:3 LED4:4 LED5:5 LED6:6 LED7:7 LED8:8			
 ♣ tocal HMI ⊕ LED1:1 ⊕ LED10:10 ⊕ LED11:11 ⊕ LED12:12 ⊕ LED13:13 ⊕ LED14:14 ⊕ LED14:14 	E	LED2:2 LED3:3 LED4:4 LED5:5 LED6:6 LED7:7 LED8:8 LED9:9			
 ♣ tocal HMI ⊕ LED1:1 ⊕ LED10:10 ⊕ LED11:11 ⊕ LED12:12 ⊕ LED13:13 ⊕ LED14:14 ⊕ LED15:15 	E	LED2:2 LED3:3 LED4:4 LED5:5 LED6:6 LED7:7 LED8:8 LED9:9 LED10:10			

Figure 122: Function grouping editor and 4 configured groups

- 9. Select **Save** to close the editor.
- 10. Activate **Short description** area for one of the LEDs and type description that is always visible on the annunciator page.

Description can be split on three lines.

Group 1	O LED1	O LED2
Group 2	+J01 3I>	Short descriptior
Group 3	Long description	Long description
Group 4	O LED5	O LED6
Group 4	O LED5 Short description	O LED6 Short description

Figure 123: Editor for short description in the alarm annunciator page

11. Activate **Long description** for one of the LEDs and type description that becomes visible when alarm is tapped on HMI page.

Group 1	O LED1	O LED2
Group 2	+J01 3I> Operate	Short descripti
Group 3	t protection trip at bay +J01	Long description
Group 4	O LED5	O LED6
	Short description	Short descripti

Figure 124: Editor for long description in the alarm annunciator page

7 IEC 61850 communication engineering

7.1 IEC 61850 protocol references and pre-conditions

To engineer the IEC 61850 protocol interface for the protection relay, the following additional manuals or knowledge of their contents is required.

- Knowledge of the IEC 61850 engineering process as described in the IEC 61850 standard
- The technical manual describes the function blocks defined as logical nodes
- IEC 61850 engineering guide
- IEC 61850 conformance documents for the protection relay to be engineered
- IEC 61850 parameter list

7.2 IEC 61850 interface



For more information on the implementation of IEC 61850 in protection relays, see IEC 61850 engineering guide and conformance documents.



7.2.1 IEC 61850 interface in the protection relay

Figure 125: IEC 61850 communication interface principle

IEC 61850 provides a method for identifying all signals that belong to a function. These signals are identified through the logical nodes representing the functions. All signal information for relay parameters, settings, control and monitoring are available in logical nodes.

Whenever a function block is instantiated in Application Configuration, PCM600 automatically generates the corresponding logical node data.

7.2.1.1 GOOSE data exchange

The IEC 61850 protocol supports a method to directly exchange data between two or more devices (IEDs). This method is described in the IEC 61850-7-2 clause 15.

The concept is based on sending a multicast over Ethernet. The receiver detects the telegram by its multicast destination address and application identifier, and decodes the telegram for further processing by the application.



Figure 126: IEC 61850: Horizontal communication principle, an example of three IEDs where each IED communicates with all others

When a GOOSE message is to sent, it is defined by configuring the data set with the defined trigger option and GoCB. This engineering process is done in a station configuration tool, for example, IEC 61850 Configuration tool or IET600. The task involves configuring lists with the signal, value and quality (data attributes or data objects) that belong to the GOOSE message data set.

In the opposite direction, the standard only defines the IED as a receiver of a GOOSE message. How the GOOSE input signals are handled must be defined in the device's application configuration. The SCL data generated by the IEC 61850 Configuration tool or IET600 (or any other station configuration tool) contains the GOOSE data sets as input data. The input data must be connected to a GOOSE receive function blocks in the Signal Matrix tool.

In the opposite direction, the standard only defines the IED as a receiver of a GOOSE message. How the GOOSE input signals are handled must be defined in the device's application configuration. The SCL data generated by the IEC 61850 Configuration tool or IET600 (or any other station configuration tool) contains the GOOSE data sets as input data. The input data must be connected to a GOOSE receive function block in Signal Matrix.

7.2.2 Function view for IEC 61850 in PCM600

The IED design is directly based on IEC 61850. Thus, the function blocks in PCM600 use IEC 61850 logical node naming for function blocks. This relation is automatically handled by the PCM600 tools.

In the IED, the IEC 61850 data for each function instance is available in the data model, even when the function is not used in the application. This means that it is not necessary to handle any instance information for the functions regarding IEC 61850.

7.2.3 Station configuration description file types

The IEC 61850 standard defines SCL file types in the engineering sequence. These files have a different definition, which is explained in IEC 61850-6. Three of the file types are used in the IED's engineering process.

• ICD = IED capability description

Capability description of the IED in logical nodes and their data. No information about, for example, the communication configuration is included.

An IED is already extended by default data sets and report control blocks. They are predefined by ABB. Changes or additional data sets, for example, are handled with IEC 61850 Configuration tool or IET600.

• SCD = Station configuration description

A complete configuration description of all IEDs in a station and the full engineering of the process signals and communication structure is included. This includes all the needed data sets and control blocks.

• CID = Configured IED description

The CID file contains the information needed for configuring one specific IED. The CID file contains the complete configuration description of the IED: the configured IED name, communication part, data sets and all control blocks.

• IID = Instantiated IED description

The IID file contains a complete IED configuration, like the CID file. The IID file can include references to other devices which are not present in the file. The IID file is meant for transferring configuration data from the IED configuration tool to a system configuration tool.

7.3 IEC 61850 engineering process

The IEC 61850 standard defines how information is communicated in a substation. The information communication can be divided into different parts.

- Description of the substation part, including the used logical nodes
- Description of the IEDs with their logical nodes
- Description of the communication network
- Description of the engineering process

When exporting an SCL file from PCM600, the tool builds a default substation structure and creates default data sets and control blocks for vertical communication between the substation client and IEDs. For more information, see the IEC 61850 standards.

In the following example, it is assumed that PCM600 and IET600 are used as the system configuration tools. Another option is to use IEC 61850 Configuration tool or Application Configuration in PCM600. In that case, the SCL file export and import (steps 1 and 3) are not needed. For more information on the GOOSE engineering

in IEC 61850 Configuration tool and Application Configuration, see the IEC 61850 engineering guide.

- 1. SCL files are exported from PCM600. In this case, a SCD file. It is also possible to export other SCL file types.
- 2. Horizontal and vertical communication is configured using the station configuration tool, for example, IEC 61850 Configuration tool or IET600.
- 3. SCL files are imported to a PCM600 project. In this case, it is the updated SCD file.



Figure 127: IEC 61850: signal engineering procedure flow when a complete station is exported as a SCD file

7.3.1 Exporting SCL files from PCM600

A pre-condition for exporting SCL files from PCM600 is that all IEDs in the project must be engineered in PCM600. The IEDs require a unique name and IP addresses and they must be set according to the project definitions. IED configurations must be finalized as far as possible before starting the IEC 61850 configuration part.

7.3.1.1 Exporting SCD files

1. In the **Plant Structure** view, right-click the substation and select **Export**.



Figure 128: IEC 61850: selecting the substation

2. In the **Export** dialog box, select the location to store the file and name it.

- 3. Click Save.
- 4. In the **SCL Export Options** dialog box, click **Advanced** to change the SCL file version if required by the receiving configuration tool.



Figure 129: Selecting the SCL file version

5. Click **Export** to generate the SCD file.

A progress window shows the ongoing export of the station.

7.3.1.2 Exporting ICD or CID files

- 1. Select the IED in the Plant Structure view.
- 2. Right-click the IED and select **Export**.
- 3. In the **Export** dialog box, from the **Save as type** list, select the type of file to export.
 - Configured IED description (.cid) for the IEC 61850 structure as needed for the IED at runtime
 - IED capability description (.icd) for the IEC 61850 structure

File name:	·		Save
Save as type:	IED Capability Description (*.icd)		Cancel
	IED File (*.pcmi) Configured IED Description (*.cid) IED Capability Description (*.icd)		
		IE	EC08000416.vsd

Figure 130: IEC 61850: Selecting the IED file type for export

4. Click Save.
5. In the **SCL Export Options** dialog box, select the export options.

SCL Export Options	— X —
Data	
Include Inputs	
Include GSE Controls	
Include Report Control Blocks	
Include DataSets	
Advanced >>	
	Export Cancel

Figure 131: IEC 61850: Selecting the export options

6. Click **Advanced** to change the SCL file version if required by the receiving configuration tool.

SCL Export Options	×
Data	
Include Inputs	
Include GSE Controls	
Include Report Control Blocks	
Include DataSets	
SCL file version	
IEC61850 Edition 1	
IEC61850 Edition 2	
<< Basic	
	Export Cancel

Figure 132: Selecting the SCL file version

7. Click Export.

7.3.2 Engineering vertical and horizontal communication

For IEC 61850 engineering a separate system configuration tool needs to be used with PCM600. The recommended tool for smaller projects is the IEC 61850 Configuration tool. For larger projects it is recommended to use IET600, which is available as a standalone tool.

1. Create a project in IET600.¹

- 2. Import the SCD file created by PCM600.¹
- 3. Conduct vertical communication engineering (monitoring direction).
 - a) Check the default data sets.
 - b) Configure the default data sets.



Data sets meant for vertical reporting can only contain data on the data object level, not on the data attribute level.



The data set for GOOSE can contain signals on the data attribute or data object level. Data object level GOOSE entries can only be received of the following CDC types: SPS, SPC, ACD, ACT, DPS, DPC, INC, INS, ENC and ENS.

- c) Configure additional **Report Control Blocks** when needed for each data set used for vertical communication.
- d) Link the IED clients to the Report Control Blocks.



Up to five report clients can be configured.

- 4. Conduct horizontal communication engineering.
 - a) Configure GOOSE control blocks for each data set configured for GOOSE messages.



One data can be included in the GOOSE data set only once.

- b) Define the client IEDs for each GOOSE control block.
- c) Link the IEDs to the GOOSE control block that must receive the GOOSE control block.
- 5. Export the updated SCD file.¹



All data sets, **Report Control Blocks** and GOOSE control blocks must be located in LLN0.

7.3.3 Importing SCL files to PCM600

The IED engineering tool must be able to receive an SCD file or an ICD file as an import to receive the engineered communication extensions, for example, for the different IEDs.

To be able to import an SCD file at station level, the option IED 61850 configuration engineering mode enabled has to be cleared in PCM600.

1. On the Tools menu, select Options and click IEC 61850 Configuration.

¹ Applicable when using IET600

2. On the **Engineering** tab, clear the option **IED 61850 configuration engineering mode enabled** and click **OK**.

Options	
Options Options Options Options Onguration Optication Configuration Official Configuration Offic	Engineering Miscellaneous IEC 61850 configuration engineering mode enabled Selecting this option will enable usage of the IEC 61850 Configuration tool of PCM600 and restrict further SCD file imports from other IEC 61850 system configuration tools.
Export Import	<u>QK</u> <u>Cancel</u>

Figure 133: Enabling SCD file import at station level

If the IED 61850 configuration engineering mode is enabled, SCD files cannot be imported and an error message is shown.



Figure 134: Error message when SCD files cannot be imported

7.3.3.1 Importing SCD files

To be able to import an SCD file at substation level, the option IED 61850 configuration engineering mode enabled has to be cleared in PCM600.

- 1. In the **Plant Structure** view, right-click the substation and select **Import**.
- 2. On the **Import** dialog box, select the file to be imported.
- 3. In the **SCL Import Options** dialog box, select how to handle the file during the import.

SCL Import Options	X
IED Types	
Oon't import IEDs of unknown	type
Replace unknown IED types w	rith generic IEC 61850 object type
Ignore PCM Object Type	
Import Type	
Ignore Substation Section	
Import Short Addresses	
Preview Changes	
	Import Cancel

Figure 135: SCL Import Options

- Click **Don't import IEDs of unknown type** to protect the existing IEDs in case the SCD file does not match the original configuration in PCM600.
- Click **Replace unknown** if the file includes additional IEDs that are needed. The IED of type "Generic IEC 61850 IED" is used to integrate this kind of IEDs into the plant structure, for example.
- Click Ignore PCM Object Type to update the IED object(s) in PCM600 from the IED type(s) in the SCD file, whether or not the IED type(s) in the SCD file matches the IED object(s) in PCM600. This option can be used, for example, when third party IEDs are included in the system and the SCD file sends GOOSE messages to ABB IEDs included in the project.
- Click Ignore Substation Section to not import the SSD file part of the SCD file.
- 4. Click **Import** when the file definition has been completed. A progress view displays the importing procedure.
- 5. Make connections from the sending IEDs to the receiving function blocks with the Signal Matrix.

Make connections between the signals that the server is send and the function blocks on the receiver's side.

6. Write the configuration to the IED.

In the Plant Structure view, select the IED, right-click and select Write to IED.



Figure 136: Write to IED menu



The engineered data is written to the IED when executing a common *Write to IED operation*.

7.3.3.2 Importing ICD or CID files

- 1. Select an existing IED.
- 2. From the **Files of type** list, select the IEC 61850 file type to be imported (ICD or CID).
- 3. In the **SCL Import Option** dialog box, select how the file is to be handled during the import.

SCL Import Options	X
IED Types	
Oon't import IEDs of unknown t	уре
Replace unknown IED types w	ith generic IEC 61850 object type
Ignore PCM Object Type	
Import Type	
Ignore Substation Section	
Import Short Addresses	
Preview Changes	
	Import Cancel

Figure 137: SCL Import Options

- **Don't import** protects the existing IEDs if the SCD file does not match the original configuration in PCM600.
- **Replace unknown** can be used when the file includes additional IEDs that are needed. The IED of type "Generic IEC 61850 IED" is used to integrate this kind of IEDs into, for example, the plant structure.
- **Ignore PCM Object Type** updates the IED objects in PCM600 from the IED types in the SCD file, whether or not the IED types in the SCD file match the IED objects in PM600.
- Ignore Substation Section does not import the SSD file part of the SCD file.
- 4. Click **Import** when the definition has been completed. A progress view displays the importing procedure.

7.3.4 Writing communication configuration to IED

IEC 61850 communication depends on the proper communication configuration in all IEDs that communicate via IEC 61850.

It is possible to make a configuration change in one IED, without affecting the horizontal communication (GOOSE or IEC 61850-9-2 LE) engineering between IEDs. For example, when the Application Configuration tool configuration is changed, but no changes are done to the instantiation or deletion of functions that represent a logical node.

When a changed configuration is written to the IED, the horizontal communication configuration needs to be updated.

Common	Write
	Horizontal communication configuration in PCM600 has changed.
	Please select configurations to write.
	GOOSE
	Process bus (IEC 61850-9-2)
	Continue Cancel

Figure 138: Updating the communication configuration in the IED with the configuration made in PCM600

- 1. Select which configuration part to include in writing.
 - Select **GOOSE** to update the GOOSE configuration part in the IED.
 - Select **Process bus (IEC 61850-9-2)** to update the IEC 61850-9-2 configuration part in the IED.

The options can be left unselected. In this case, other parts of the configuration are updated.

- 2. Select whether or not to update the configuration.
 - Click **Continue** to update the selected communication configuration parts in the IED.
 - Click **Cancel** to cancel the writing operation.

8 Flexible product naming

8.1 IEC 61850 Structure Mapping

IEC 61850 Structure Mapping is used to manage the IED's data model as required. This is done by mapping the data model to the customer-specific data model. IEC 61850 Structure Mapping is available only in FPN projects in PCM600. A PCM600 project can be converted into an FPN project by importing an FPN SCD file into it. FPN is supported for both IEC 61850 Edition 1 and IEC 61850 Edition 2.

FPN allows the use of standardized, predefined and IED vendor independent templates for building and maintaining substations. See the PCM600 documentation for more information about FPN.

Object Types *	X Project Explorer	V # X Flexible Product Naming - IEC 61850 Structs	are Happing		- 4 P H	Object Properties	**
General	8 Plant Structure	Outroad Data Stantian		Internal Data Security			
Generic IEC61850 IED	2 B- B PROJECT					and Z.*	
ender IEDa	B - th Substation					RTupe	Enun
enerator Protection IEDs	2 M E1	AATEIO1		d-CTRL		000	ENC
tor Protection IEDs	8 0	@- II LUND		-DR		DADeec	Owner
anaformer IEDa	8 ED Configurati	en GICSWIT				Dohg	faine
Association (EDs	8 Manáco	-S DER				DODesc	and a
Itation Merging Unit	* BLO					Dupd	fater
t Substation Control and Pr	E Gereni	GHET MUCT				FC .	00
	II- Control_M	nterlooking k- Prot				LDDesc	Turted
	R- Protecto	n				LDNane	AA1E1Q1
	R— Bupevia	bh .				LNDesc	
	ii - Pi Lode	re"ternine				LNNate -	LLNI
	ii - D Comuni	cation				Tipe	BehaviourModelKind
	B-B Q2					Valkind	Set
	The country are also					Value 1909 Internal Data J	an a
						8Type	from
		Customer Data Atribute	Mapping	Internal Data Attribute		COC	ENC
		AA1E101/LUID Med Oper offVal (00)	CTINULLING Mod Oper ctilled (CD)	CTPL/LING Med Conv erVal (CO)	10.0	DANamei	Down official
		AA1E101/LLN0 Mod.Oper.orgin.orCat (00)	CTRL/LLN0.Mod Oper origin orCat (CO)	CTRL/LLN0.Mod.Oper.orgn orGat (CO)	1	Deha	Faller
		AA1E101/LLND Mod-Oper origin orident (00)	CTRL/LLND Mod Oper origin orident (CO)	CTRL/LLNC Mod Oper orgin orldert (CD)	1	DODete	Control More
		X AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper athlum (CO)		CTRL/LLNG Mod Oper ctillum (CO)	0	Dupd	falter
		X AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper T (00)		CTRL/LLND Mod Oper T [CO]	0	RC .	00
		AA1E101/LLND Mod Oper Test (CO)	CTRL/LLND Mod Oper Test [CO]	CTRL/LLND Mod Oper Test (CD)	1	LDiret	CTRL
		AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper Check [CO]	CTPL/LLN0 Mod Oper Check (CO)	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper Check (CD)	1	LDName	IED YCTRL
		AA1E101/LLNO Mod at Val [ST]	CTRL/LLND Mod at Val (ST)	CTRL/LLNO.Mod arVal (ST)	1	LNDesc	Corteni LLNO
		AA1E1Q1/LLND Modia [ST]	CTRL/LLN0 Mod e (ST)	CTRL/LLND Modia [ST]	1	Number of Nappings	1
		AA1E1Q1/LLND Mod I [ST]	CTRL/LLN0.Mods [ST]	CTRL/LLNG Mode [ST]	1	Qubg.	fame
		AA1E1Q1/LLND Mod ctiModel [CF]	CTRL/LLN0 Mod ct/Model (CF)	CTRL/LLND.Mod.et/Model [CF]	1	Signal Name Tute	ABBEDERD Rev1 Bebauauch
		AA1E1Q1/LLN0.8eh arVal (ST)	CTRU/LUND Beh arVal [ST]	CTRL/LLNG Beh #V# (ST)	1	Valkind	Set
		AA1E1Q1/LLN0.8eh.q (ST)	CTRL/LUND Beh (ST)	CTRL/LUND.Beh.@ [ST]	1	Value	- 00
		AA1E1Q1/LLND.Behs [ST]	CTRL/LLN0 Behrs (ST)	CTRL/LLND Beh z [ST]	1.		
		1.1.1		CTRL/LLND NamPt vendor [DC]	0		
				CTRL/LLND NamPt swRev (DC)	0		
				CTRL/LLND NemPt d (DC)	0		
				CTRL/LUND NamPit configPare (DC)	0		
				CTRL/LLND NemPt MNa (EX)	0		
				CTRL/LLND.Loc at Val (ST)	0		
				CTRL/LLNG Loc a [ST]	0		
				CTRL/LLN0 Locs (ST)	0		
				CTRL/LLND LocKey atVial [\$7]	0		
				CTRL/LLNG Lockey (LST)	0		
				CTRL/LLND LocKey1 [ST]	0		
				CTRL/LLND LocSta Oper of Val (CO)	0 4	BType Basic time of the data atribut	te.
		IED Macong Access Port Macong Data Anthusa	Manoinn	A			
		Entering in the second second second	27. C. H			NAME OF TAXABLE PARTY AND ADDRESS OF TAXABLE PARTY.	a state of a

8.1.1 User interface

Figure 139: IEC 61850 Structure Mapping

Plant structure

The data tree displays the FPN IEDs under substation and internal IEDs under unassigned IEDs.

IEC 61850 structure mapping

The IEC 61850 structure mapping list displays the FPN objects based on the current selection in the plant structure. The list may display either IEDs or data attributes.

The FPN object's name is displayed in the column on the left and the mapped PCM600 internal object name is displayed in the column on the right. The customer data structure and attributes are on the left, and the internal data structure and attributes are on the right.

Object properties

The Object Properties pane displays the properties of the objects selected in the FPN mappings and Internal Data Attribute lists.

8.1.2 IED and signal naming convention

The names used for the internal objects can be defined to be either the names used in PCM600 or the names in the internal IEC 61850 model.



To change the naming convention, select the PCM600 naming style in use from **Options**.

8.2 Importing substation configuration description file

The SCD file can be imported only at the substation level.

- 1. On the **Tools** menu, click **Options**.
 - a) Select Flexible Product Naming. In the General tab, select Import as Flexible Product Naming SCD option enabled.
 - b) Select IEC 61850 Configuration. In the Engineering tab, clear the IEC 61850 configuration engineering model enabled check box.
 - c) Click **OK**.

Options >
Coptions Reporting and Printing Application Configuration Disturbance Handling Rexible Product Naming EC 61850 Structure Mapping IEC 61850 Configuration Category Manager Language Settings Category Manager User Manager User Manager

Figure 140: Enabling the FPN option

- 2. Right-click a substation level, and then click Import.
- 3. Browse and select the SCD file.
- 4. Click **Open** to open the file.

 SCL Import Options
 ×

 Import Type
 Include IED Name in Caption

 Flexible Product Naming
 Import as Flexible Product Naming SCD

 Selecting this option will convert the project into a FPN project and the conversion is irreversible.

 Preview Changes

 Import
 Cancel

5. Select Import as Flexible Product Naming SCD.

Figure 141: Importing as Flexible Product Naming SCD

The imported SCD file changes the substation structure. The internal IED from the original substation structure is replaced and pushed to the unassigned IEDs folder.



Figure 142: Unassigned IEDs

6. Drag the unassigned IED over the internal IED.



Figure 143: Assigned IED



Importing the FPN SCD file converts the project into an FPN project. The conversion is irreversible.



FPN projects do not support configuring GOOSE with Application Configuration.

8.3 Starting IEC 61850 Structure Mapping

The tool can be started from any node from the substation to IED level.

1. Right-click one of the IEDs and point to Flexible Product Naming.

2. Click IEC 61850 Structure Mapping.

The FPN object's name is displayed in the column on the left and the name of the mapped PCM600 internal object is displayed in the column on the right.



Figure 144: Flexible product naming tool

8.4 IEC 61850 structure mapping

8.4.1 IED mapping

The first step in the IEC 61850 structure mapping is to map the real IEDs to the customer-specific IEDs. IED mapping means that each server IED in the FPN model is mapped with a corresponding IED in the internal PCM600 model, that is, the real device in the substation. A server IED is an IED that has an access point containing a server. IED mapping does not map the data attributes between the IEDs unless the data attribute mapping is complete. IED mapping can be done in the PCM600 plant structure and in IEC 61850 Structure Mapping.

8.4.1.1 Mapping IED in PCM600 plant structure

• To map the IED in the plant structure, drag a PCM600 IED from the Unassigned IEDs group onto an FPN IED in the substation.

IED mapping status is indicated visually in the plant structure.

• To remove an IED mapping from the plant structure, drag a mapped FPN IED onto the Unassigned IEDs group.

The removed mapping is indicated visually in the plant structure. The PCM600 internal IED, with which the FPN IED was mapped, appears back in the Unassigned IEDs group if it is not mapped with any FPN IEDs.

8.4.1.2 IED mapping in IEC 61850 Structure Mapping

IED mapping

The tool displays all FPN IEDs and all PCM600 IEDs in separate lists. Mapping is done by dragging the PCM600 IED on the right-hand side to an FPN IED on the lefthand side. The tool indicates the mapping status visually. The mapping needs to be saved to apply it.

Flexible Product Naming - IEC 618	50 Structure Happing		• 4 Þ X Object	Properties •
Preside Product Names - IIC 618	Megong Isot	(Previd ED) (C)	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Troperties • Couteness IED aparties Version station VERSION eED (ESSC Files • Internet Test
			Contigu	telon (02) 0565 jon (02) 0555 dese (15) 162 10 dese (15) 162 10 dese (15) 162 10 dese (15) 162 1 dese (15) 162 1 dese (15) 16 dese (15) 1 dese (15) 1 dese (15) 1
IED Mapping Access Point Mapping Dat	a Attribute Macoing	<u>.</u>		

Figure 145: Mapping of IEDs in IEC 61850 Structure Mapping

Removing IED mapping

Removing IED mapping is done in IEC 61850 Structure Mapping by right-clicking the mapping and selecting the context menu option or pressing the DELETE key. The tool indicates the mapping status visually. The change must be saved.

Access point mapping

Flexible Product Naming - IEC 61850 St	ructure Happing	1	• 1 F X Object Properties	••
Caterer Acess Fort Could Jun 1941 Could Jun 2941 Could Jun 2941 Could Jun 2942 Could Jun 29442 Could Jun 294442 Could Jun 29442 Could Jun 29442	Macang Internet Access Part (dD1.AF1 (WA1) (dD1.AF1 (WA1) (dD1.AF2 (WA2) (dD1.AF2 (WA2)	Big 24 (ii) Big 24 (iii) Big 26 (iii) Bi	LAP3 UNDESIRED	
IED Mapping Access Port Mapping Data And	bute Mapping		Bit Rate Bit rate of the subnetwork the access	point is connected to

Figure 146: Access point mapping

Access point mapping defines the relations between REX640 internal access points and customer access points.

In the above example, REX640 access point AP1 is in subnetwork WA1, while access point AP2 is in subnetwork WA2. The configuration is created using Ethernet configuration.



The network configuration must be correct before the flexible product mapping is started.



REX640 supports one access point for data model. Second access point AP2 is based on the ServerAt concept and has the same data model in different IP addresses.

The REX640 access points are mapped to FPN project's access points IED1_AP1 and IED_AP2. The third access point IED1_AP2_UNDESIRED is excluded from the mapping since it does not have a network interface.

Data tree view

The data tree view consists of customer data structure in the column on the left and the name of the mapped PCM600 internal data structure in the column on the right.

TROOME Froduct manning - are usual processes	Ptapping		* 4 F X	Object Properties	
Customer Data Structure		Internal Data Structure		1 21 1	
				v (000) Customer Data	Atribute
		i⊕ition -∳cTRik -∲DR i÷LD0		Bityse COC DANess DANess DANess Dobase DObase DObase Dobas	Exx Exx Core atVal faire Mole Coretal AALEIQ3 LLMD Ether southeastford Set
				 (100) Internal Data A 	Vinbute
		1	-	BType	Enun
Customer Data Mathematic	Harris	A Description And an		DADesc	Enc.
AA1E101A1ND Mod Operation 200	and the second s	CTUE of LND Med Coverable 200		DANane	Oper.ct/Val
ANTENDER IND Mod Over oppin of at EDI		CTEL / LIND Med One online arCit (CD)		DODeec	-Cornel
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper orders (CO1		CTRL/LLND Mod Oper organ prident (CD)	0	DONane	Mod
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper ctNum IC01		CTRL/LLN0.Mod Oper ct/Num (COI	0	Dupd	Salar CD
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper T ICOI		CTRL/LLNO.Mod Oper T (CO)	0	LDDesc	100
AA1E1Q1/LLN0 Mod Oper Test ICO1		CTFL/LLN0 Mod Over Test ICO1		LDIvat	CTRL
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper Check ICO1		CTRL/LLN0.Mod Oper Check ICOI	0	Linbesc	Control LLND
AA1E1Q1/LLND Mod #V# (STI		CTFL/LLN0.Mod.#V#(IST)	0	LNNene	LUND
AA1E101/LLND Med o ISTI		CTRU/LLN0 Mod a (ST)	0	Number of Mappings	0
AA1E1Q1/LLND Med t ISTI		CTRL/LLND Mode ISTI		Signal Name	Later .
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod ctModel ICF1		CTRL/LLNO.Mod.etModel.ICF1	0	Type	ABBIED500_Rev1_Behavourt
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Beh.etval1STI		CTPL/LUND.Beh a/Vel (ST)	0	Valland	54
AA1E101/LLN0.Beb = ISTI		CTRU/LING Beh a 1971	0	1904	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0 Beh 1 (ST)		CTRL/LLN0 Seh (15T)			
AATE101/01/SWIT EngOrn #Val ISTI		CTRL/LLNO NamPt vendor IDC7	0		
AA1E101/01CSWITEraDecia ISTI		CTRL/LING ManPh surPey (DC)			
AA1E101/03CSWIT EngOrest (ST)		CTRL/LIND New Pr d IDC1			
AA1E101/01/SWI1 EvaDen 4 IDCI		CTRL/LIND NamPLowelle Bay IDC1			
AA1E101/01/SWI1 EnaDen detable (DC)		CTRLAINONAMPRIMIEN			
AA1E101/01CSWI1 Pea SROw ctive ICOI	CTRL/CRCSWIT Res SROW (#V/# COL	CTRL/LINO1ce atVal ISTI	0		
AA1F101/01CSWI1 PresSBOw reset arCat 1001	CTRL/CRCSWITERs SROw minin of at EDI	CTRL/LINGING & ISTI	0		
AA1E1Q1/Q1CSWI1 Pos SBOw oran arident ICDI	CTRL/CBCSWI1 Pag SBOw origin origent ICO1	CTRL/LIN0 Loc (IST)	0		
AA1E101/01CSWI1 Pos SBDw ctNum (CO)	CTRL/CBCSWI1 Pea SBOw clinker (COI	CTRL/LLN0LocKey at Val (ST)	0		
AA1E1Q1/Q1CSWI1 Pee SBOw T ICOI	CTRL/CBCSWI1 Pte SBOw T ICOL	CTRU/LLN0 LocKey & ISTI	0		
	CTRL/CBCSWI1.Pos SBOw Test ICOI	CTRL/LLN0.LocKey t ISTI	0		
AA1E101/01CSWI1 Pok SRDw Test ICDI	and a second sec				
AATE101/01CSWITPox SBOw Test [CO] AATE101/01CSWITPox SBOw Check #201	CTRL/CBCSWI1 Pos SBOw Dreck (CO)	CTFL/LLN0 Loc Sa Oper ct/Val CO1	0		

Figure 147: Data tree view

Data attribute list view

The data attribute list view consists of customer data attributes in the column on the left and the PCM600 internal data attributes in the column on the right.

Flexible Product liaming - IIC 61850 Structure Happing + 4 F X			Object Properties • •		
Customer Data Structure Internal Data Structure					
Support Andrews Street		1	1	[000] Customer Data	Atribute
		() - 801 - 今こ7RL - 今 DR - 山DD		Illyse CDC DANess DANess DANess Dobres Dobres Dobres Dobres Dobres Dobres Libre	Envir Der att Val falle Mater Constant ANEIRO1 LLMD Infalme Bahrwausflockföret Set
				 [100] Internal Data . 	Ninbule
		11		#Type	Erun
	M CONTRACTOR			DADeet	DVG
Customer Data Attribute	Mapping	Internal Data Attribute		DAMana	OperatiVal
		CTHURLING HIS Operative (CO)	0	Ocho	fahe
		CTPL/LING Med Oper pright arCit (DD)	0	DOName	Mod
ANTERUT/LENU Host Oper organizations (CO)		CTRUICING Host oper origin onders (CO)	0	Dupd	false
AATETOT/LLND Mod Oper diffum [CO]		CTRL/LLND Mod Oper cthum (CO)	0	FC (DOest)	00
AATE TUT/LLN2 Mod Oper. T [U0]		CTHU/LING Mod Oper 1 [CO]	0	LDinst	CTRL
AATE 101/LLN0 Mod Oper Test [CO]		CTRU/LLND Mod Oper Test (CO)	0	LDNane	IED ICTPL
LI AATETUT/LLND Mod Oper Check (CO)		CTHL/LDVD Mod oper Dreak (CD)	0	LNDesc	LLND
- AATE 101/LENG MOD #Val [31]		CTRU/LLND Red arvar [51]	0	Number of Meppings	0
AATETOT/LLNg Mod g [ST]		CTHL/LLN0.Mod.q [ST]	0	Gehg	false
L] AATETOT/LLN0 Med t [ST]		CTHL/LLND Modif (ST)	0	Troe	ABBEDG00 Rev1 BehavourMo
AATETUT/LUND Mod dimodel [CF]		CTHL/LLNU Mod RIModel [C+]	0	VelVind	54
AATE101/LLN0.Beh atVal [ST]		CTRL/LLN0.Beh atVal [ST]	0	Value	on
AA1E101/LLN0 Seh a [ST]		CTRUILING Beh q (ST)	0		
AA1E101/LLN0 Beh t [ST]		CTRL/LLN0.Beht [ST]	0		
AATE101/01CSW11EnaOpn.etVal [ST]		CTRL/LLN0.NamPt: vendor [DC]	0		
AA1E101/01CSWI1.EraOph.q.[ST]		CTRL/LLNO.NamPit.swRev [DC]	0		
AA1E101/01CSW1.EraOpht [ST]		CTHL/LLND.NamPt.d [DC]	0		
AATE101/01CSWITEna0pn.d [DC]		CTHL/LLN0.NamPt.configHev (DC)	0		
AATETOT/OTCSWITEraOphidataNa [DC]		CTRU/LLNO NamPEXISNS [EX]	0		
AATETUT/UTCSWITPee Selow dever (CO)	CTHL/CBCSWIT/Pea/SBOw/drivel(CO)	CTHL/LLNO Lite #V# [51]	0		
AATETUT/UTCSWIT Pee SBOw ergin erCat [00]	CTHL/CBCSWITPes SBOw orgin orCat [CO]	CTHL/LLNUL04 (ST)	0		
AATE 101-01CSW11 Pos SBOw orgin ordert [CO]	CTRL/CBCSW11 PostS80w origin orident (CO)	CTPL/LINGLOOD [51]	0		
AATE 101/01/03111 Pet SBOH clifum [CO]	CTRUCECSWITPERSEOW diffum [00]	CTHL/LLNU LICONY STVB [57]	0		
AND REPORT OF COMPLEX CONTROL TO CONTROL OF COMPLEX CONTROL OF CONTRO	CTRL/GCSW11P06360WT [C0]	CTRUCTING LOCKAY (C) ()	0		
AND INTRACTORY POR SECH. Test [CO]	CIRL/BUSWITPERSBOW Test [UD]	C INCLUSIC LOCKHY1[51]	0		
AATE TO IVOTCSTW1 Pos SBOW Dreck [CO]	CTPL/CBCSWITPos SBOw Oxeck (CO)	CTPL/LLNU LocSta Oper dfVal [CO]	0	EType	
Ante turi/Groswit Positier drive (CO)	CTHL/CBCSWITPOLODEr ETVal (CD)	C LINCLENC LOCOLA OPER ONDER (LOI		Besic type of the data athibu	đe.
D Mapping Access Point Mapping Data Acroute Map	aping				
ubstation/E1/Q1/IED1 DESC (IED1)				IED1 DESC IEC 63850 Sev	Icture Medding

Figure 148: Data attribute list view

Filters

The displayed objects can be filtered using the filtering options on the quick access toolbar.

📕 🗾 📕 🔀 | DR DO 🗛 LN LN K CDC FC BT TO VK

Figure 149: Filters

Free text filter

The objects are filtered by free text, showing all the objects with a certain name in both Data Structure level and Data Attribute level.

Show/hide objects by status

The objects are filtered by status, showing only the selected objects in Data Structure level and Data Attribute level.

Enable and disable type filters

Objects in the FPN can be filtered using additional filtering options available in the quick access menu.

8.4.2 Data attribute mapping

Data attribute mapping means that each FPN data attribute in the FPN model is mapped to a corresponding data attribute in the internal PCM600 model, that is, the real device in the substation.

The mapping status is indicated visually. It can be seen what FPN data attribute is mapped to what PCM600 internal data attribute and how many FPN data attributes are mapped to a PCM600 internal data attribute.

Data attribute mapping is complete when all data attributes of the FPN IED, which are not excluded from the mappings, are mapped to a PCM600 internal data attribute. Data attribute mapping must be complete to be able to write to IED.

Data attribute mapping is broken if any of the mapped data attributes - FPN or PCM600 internal - does not exist in the SCL database.

Table 8: Visua	l indication	of the	mapping	status
----------------	--------------	--------	---------	--------

Icon	Description
	Completely mapped
	Not mapped
	Broken mapping
	Partially mapped
	Excluded from mappings



All data attributes in the FPN model must be mapped or excluded, otherwise write to IED fails.

8.4.2.1 Mapping data attribute level

IEC 61850 Structure Mapping displays the FPN data attributes and PCM600 internal data attributes in separate lists.

- To map data attributes, drag the FPN data attribute onto a PCM600 internal data attribute.
- Remove a data attribute mapping in one of the alternative ways.
 - Right-click the mapping and select the remove option.
 - Select the mapping and press the DELETE key.

Flexible Product Naming - IEC 61850 Structu	re Happing	- 4 0 :	K Object Properties	- *
Customer Data Structure		Internal Data Structure	22 21 0	
			v (000) Customer Data	Atribute
10-21 (ED1		- LUX0	.07)pe	Erum
AATE101		- Beh (ERS)	DADent	ENC.
B- LIND		CendBik [SPC]	DAName	Oper otoin orCat
C C CSWIT		- Grief (CHG)	Dohg	False.
R-SC DER		- Lockey ISPSI	DODesc	
-C 100		- LocKey Al (SPS)	DOName	Mont
A- Meas		- LocKeyHMI [ENS]	Dopd BT	CO.
1 MU01		- LocKeyLoc [SPS]	LDDesc	
E-C Pet		- Lockey Off (SPS)	LDinst	Control
		-LockeySta (SPS)	LOName	A51E101
		- Loc RemMod (ENG)	UNDesc	11100
		- LoeSta (SPC)	Ocho	(LLNC)
		- MitLev (SPG)	Type	OntonatorCategory Kind
		-Mod (ENC)	ValRivd	Set
		-Staley Set IENGI	Value	nd exposed
		III-LPHD1 V	 [100] Internal Data 	Athibute
			CDC	CPLAK SPC
Colored Data Mathematica	Manager	Langed Data Math. as	DADesc	187.
Customer Lists Attribute	Mapping	Prema Luta Atricue	DAName	Oper origin or Cat
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Mod.Oper.dtVal [CO]	CTRL/LLN0.Mod Oper-dtVal (CD)	CTRL/LLNO NenPt.Idfie [EX]	Dehg	false
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper angin orCat (CO)	CTPL/LLN0 Loc9ta Oper origin orCat (CO)	CTRL/LLNO.Loc #Val [ST] 0	DODesc	Station operation
AA1E1Q1/LLND Mod Oper orgin orldent [CO]	CTRL/LLND Mod Oper origin orident [CO]	CTRL/LUNG Loc q [ST] 0	Dued	Locata Talse
AATETQ1/LLN0.Mod Oper.ctlNum (CO)		CTRL/LLN0 Locs (\$T) 0	FC FC	CO
AA1E1Q1/LLN0 Mod Oper T [CO]		CTRL/LLND LocKey etVal [ST] 0	LDDesc	
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper Test ICO1	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper Test (CO)	CTRL/LLN0 LocKey a ISTI	LDinat	CTPS,
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Over Overla E001	CTRL/LLND Mod Over Overla ICOI	CTRL/LINGLocKey1 (STI	LNDex	Control LLND
AATETO LOLING Mod average (ST)	CTRL/LEND Mod et/or ISTI	CTRUILING (or the Over of Vel ICO)	LNNime	LLN0
AATE TO THE INDIANA A IST	CTPL 01 NO Med a (STI	CTEL & LAND AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS ADDRES	Number of Mappings	1/2
AA1E101 (LIND Media (ST)	CTRL 01100 Mode IST	CTBL/LING Loc Ra Operation addert (70)	Sonal Name	ratee
AATEIOLOUND Mut and under TEI	CTEL & LND Mod of Muddel ICE	CTEL (INC I was a Draw of the ICOL	Type	OrginatorCategoryKind
AATETOTICING Bub etval (STI	CTRLATING Bab avail (STI	CT81.(130) (cc/9a Oper T 100)	Valland	Set
AA1E101/JUND Reb o ISTI	CTRL/LING Bab + ISTI	CTRLAINOLOGINA Door Test EDD	1000	The happened
451555141566-64197	CTRL 4110 Bub (PT)	CTR (130) and Our Cost (20)		
loose of the second second second	le mereens ann fait	C Inc care code creek (co)		
		C LUP, Photocola at Ala To Li		
		CTPL/LLN2LocStaq[ST] 0		
		CTRL/LLN0 LocStat [ST] 0		
		CTRL/LLN0 LocSta ctiModel (CF) 0		
		CTRL/LUNG Loc Rad (DC) 0		
		CTRL/LLN0 GrRef setSicRef (SP) 0		
		CTRL/LLNO MILev setVal (SP) 0		
		CTRULLING CridBik wVal ISTI		
		CTRL/LLNG CHARRIER & ISTI		
		CTRL 41MC Condition 1/5TT		
		CTR 41MCode #New FE		
		California California (1991)		
		CTHULENTERABIK & DEI 0	RTune	
		CTRL/LLND LocKeyHMI atVal [ST] 0	Basic type of the data athrow	te.

Figure 150: Data attribute level mapping

8.4.2.2 Mapping data object level

Create data attribute mapping on the data object level in one of the alternative ways.

- Drag a data object from the customer data structure onto a data object in the internal data structure.
- Drag a data object from the internal data structure onto a data object in the customer data structure.

riexible Product Naming - IEC 61850 Structu	re mapping			object Properties	- ,	
Customer Data Structure		Internal Data Structure		221 ==		
		1000000		v (000) Customer Data	Atribute	
■ ■		In AD1 Image: CPUL Image: CPUL<		CDC BNC DUMest Diffuent Diffuent Dotter Dotter Dotter Dotter Dotter CC DOtter Dotter D		
			-1	BT/pe CDC	BIC DIC	
Customer Data Atribute	Mapping	Internal Data Athibute #	~	DADesc		
AA1E1Q1/LLND Mod Oper celval KOD	CTRL/LLND Mod Oper ct/Val (CO)	CTRU/LLND Mod Oper ceVal ECO		DAName	Oper ct/Val	
AA1E101/LLND Mod Oper origin orCat ICO1	CTRL/LLN0 LocSta Oper origin orCat (CO)	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper prom or Cat ICO1 0		DODesc	Cirtni	
AA1E101/LLND Mod Oner otop orders (COI	CTRL/LLND Mind Oner atom orderst EDT	CTRL/LING MultiOner online onlinest ICO1 1	-111	DOName	Mod	
AATETO LOUND Med Over cells - EOL		CTRL/LING Mod Over officer (COL)	-111	Dued	false .	
AATEIO10100 Mot Over T COL		CTRL/11N0 Med Over T ICOL	-111	LDDesc		
	CTRL 41 NO Med Once Test (CO)	CTR (100 Matches Tet PO)	-111	LDinat	CTR6	
	CTPL 41 NO Mus Over Over 100	CTR: 41ND Med One Dark 100	-111	LDName	IEDICTRL Control 11 MIT	
AATE IGT/LEND MOD OPERIOROX (DO)	CTRUCEND Mod Oper Check (CO)	CTRUCENUMOS Oper Uneox (UU)	-80	LINName	LLNG	
	CTRUCERO MOD BY # [51]	CTRC/LINE MOD BY W [31]	-88	Number of Mappings	1.0	
AATETOT/LLNU Mod # [51]	CTHUCLING Mod q [51]	CTHL/LLNU Mod q [ST]	-80	Qohg Donal History	følse	
AA1E1GT/LLNC Mod (ST)	CTRL/LLND Mods [51]	CTRULLNQ Nodit [ST]	-81	Type	ABBIEDGOD Parv1 Behaviourth	
AATE101/LLND Mod.etModel [UP]	CTHL/LLNU Mod at Model (CF)	CTHL/LLND Mod.dtModel [CF]	-81	Valland	Set	
AA1E1Q1/LLND.Beh.aVal [ST]	CTRU/UN0.8eh.stVal [ST]	CTRL/LLND Ben #Val [ST] 2	-811	Value	95	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.8eh.q [ST]	CTRL/LLND.Beh c [ST]	CTRL/LLN0 Beh.q [ST] 2	-81			
AA1E1G1/LLND.Beht [ST]	CTRL/LIND.Beht [ST]	CTRL/LIND Beht [ST] 2	-111			
		CTRL/LLND NeriPit.vendor [DC] 0	- 11			
		CTRL/LLN0 NamPt av Rev [DC] 0	- 11			
		CTRL/LLNO.NemPt.d [DC] 0				
		CTRL/LLN0 NamPt.configRev (DC) 0				
		CTRU/LUND NamPa John (EX) 0				
		CTRL/LLN0 Loc #Vel [ST] 0				
		CTRL/LLN0 Loc a (ST) 0				
		CTRL/LLN0 Loet [ST] 0				
		CTRL/LLND LooKey #Vel [ST] 0				
		CTRL/LLN0 LecKey q [ST] 0				
		CTRL/LLN0 LocKey1 (ST) 0				
		CTRL/LLN0 Loc9ta Oper ctIVal (00) 0				
		CTRL/LLND LocSta Oper origin or Cat (CD) 1		BType		
			- 4	pasc type or the data attribut		

Figure 151: Completed data object mapping

8.4.2.3 Mapping logical node level

Create data attribute mapping on the logical node level in one of the alternative ways.

- Drag a logical node from the customer data structure onto a logical node in the internal data structure.
- Drag a logical node from the internal data structure onto a logical node in the customer data structure.

Flexible Product Naming - IEC 61850 Structu	re Mapping	~41×	Object Properties *	
Customer Data Structure		Internal Data Structure	: 21 =	
			~ [000] Customer Data	Attribute
El 101 Control Contro Control Control Control Control Co		- LL0 - - beh (BD) - - Oxdell, (SPC) -	BType CDC DAVence DAVence Davies Bring DODence Dod PC LDAve	BOCLEAN ENC Over Test false Co Correct Anteroot Anteroot false fa
			COC	ENC
Customer Data Attribute	Mapping	Internal Data Attribute #	DAName	Oper.Test
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper ct/Val [CO]	CTRL/LLNC Mod Oper ct/Val [CO]	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper ctival [CO] 1	Ochg	false
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper origin orCat [CO]	CTRL/LLN0 LocSta Oper origin orCat [CO]	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper origin orCat [CO] 0	DODesc	Control
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper origin orident [00]	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper origin orident [CO]	CTRL/LLND.Mod Oper origin orident [CO] 1	Dupd	false
AATE101/LLN0 Mod Oper cliNum (CO)		CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper ctlNum (00) 0	FC	CD
AA1E101/LLN0.Mod.Oper.T [CO]		CTRL/LLN0.Mod Oper T (CO) 0	LODesc	CTD:
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper Test (CD)	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper Test (CD)	CTRL/LLND Mod Oper Test (CO) 1 1	LDName	IED ICTRL
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod.Oper.Oveck (CO)	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper Check [CO]	CTRL/LLN0.Mod.Oper.Divedk [CO] 1	LNDesc	Control LLND
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod #Val [ST]	CTRL/LLN0 Mod.#Val [ST]	CTRL/LLN0 Mod #V#[ST] 1	Liviane	LLNO
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod.q [ST]	CTRL/LLN0 Mod q [\$T]	CTRL/LLN0 Mod e (\$T] 1	Cicha	false
AA1E101/LLN0.Modit [ST]	CTRL/LLND Mod t [ST]	CTRUILING Model [ST] 1	Signal Name	
AA1E101/LLN0.Mod.ct/Model (CF)	CTRL/LLN0 Mod.ct/Model [CF]	CTRL/LLND Mod alModel (CF) 1	Type	100
AA1E101/LLN0 Beh stVal [ST]	CTRU/LLN0 Beh stVal [ST]		Value	faine
AA1E101/LLND.Beh.g [ST]	CTRL/LLNG Beh a [ST]			
AA1E101/LLN0.Beh 1 [ST]	CTRL/LLND.Behr (ST)			
			BType Basic type of the data attribut	te. :
D Mapping Access Point Mapping Data Ambute M	leping		1074 CODE 107 41940 (De	

Figure 152: Logical node level mapping

8.4.2.4 Excluding data attributes from mapping

Exclude the data attributes in one of the alternative ways.

• Select the data attributes to exclude, right-click and select **Exclude Items**.

Flexible Product llaming - IEC 61850 Structure Mapping + 4 b X		Object Properties		**			
Customer Data Structure			Internal Data Structure		22 21 100		
				- 1	v (000) Customer Data	Attribute	
■ 21 E01 ● 21 LU0 ● 21 Cristing ● 22 Cristing ● 22 Cring ● 22 Cri			(→ LL0 → LL0 → CodBi, [274] → CodBi, [274] → CodBi, [274] → Lookey, [273] → Lookey,	•	IF Type EDC DAVene DAVene Davis Davis Davis Davis Davis Davis Dolisen	arttol ENC Operctitium falae Mod falae Corteol AATETOT LLING falae Se Q ertobuse	
					CDC	ENC	
Customer Data Atribute	Mapping		Internal Data Attribute	=	DAName	Oper of Third	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Mod.Oper.ct/Val (CO)	CTRL/LLN0.Mod.Oper	ct/Val (CO)	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper ctlVal [CO]	1	Deha	false	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Mod Oper origin.orCat (CO)	CTRL/LLN0.LocSta Op	periorigin orCat (CO)	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper origin orCet (CO)	0	DODesc	Controli	
AA1E101/LLN0.Mod Oper origin orident [00]	CTRL/LLND Mod Oper	origin orldent (00)	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper origin orident (00)	1	DoName	Silord Relate	
AATETQ 1/LLND Mod Oper ct/Num (CO)	and the second se	-	CTRU/LLN0 Mod Oper ctNum (CO)	0	FC	00	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0 Mod Oper T [CO]	Create Mappings	101	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper T [00]	1	LDDesc		
AA1E101/LLNG.Mod Oper.Text [CO]	Exclude Items	100]	CTRL/LLN0 Mod.Oper Text (CO)	1	LDeat	STPS.	
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod Oper Check [00]	CTRL/LLN0.Mod.Oper	Check [00]	CTRL/LLN0 Mod Oper Direck [CO]	1	LNDesc	Control LL110	
AA1E1G1/LLN0 Mod at Val (ST)	CTRL/LLNO Mod at Val	(57)	CTRU/LLNG Mod at Val [ST]	1	LNNane	LLN0	
AA1E101/LLN0.Mod g [ST]	CTRL/LLNO Mod o IST	1	CTRL/LLN0 Media (ST)	1	Runber of Mappings Onlys	Edlan	
AA1E1G1/LLNG Mode (ST)	CTRL/LLND Mod 1 [ST	1	CTRU/LUND Mode (ST)	1	Signal Name		
AA1E101/LLN0 Mod ct/Model ICFI	CTRL/LLND Med of Me	del ICFI	CTRL/LLNG Mod criModel ICFI	1	Type	1200	
AA1E101/LLN0.8eh.eVal (ST)	CTRL/LLND Beh eVel	57		-	Valler	Set.	
AA1E101/1LN0 Reh # ISTI	CTRU/LLNO Beh # IST	1			20.211	10	
AA1E1Q1/LLNO Behs (ST)	CTRL/LLND Beht (ST)						
	Tanan.				BType Basic type of the data attribu		
abstation/E1/Q1/IED1 DESC (IED1)	acong				HD1 DESC 80C 61850 Str.	cture Heaping	-

Figure 153: Excluding data attributes from mapping

• Exclude all unmapped data attributes from the data object at once by rightclicking the data object and selecting **Exclude Data Attributes**.

riexible Product naming - IEC 61850 Structure	rapping			Abject Properties	1.50
ustomer Data Shucture		Internal Data Structure	:	21 0	
				(000) Customer Data Attribute	
ED1 C LLAS C		db L00 - C-XMMRUT + C-SAME - C-XMMRUT - C-XMMRUT - C-XMMRUT - E-XMMRUT - C-XMMRUT - E-XMMRUT - C-XMMRUT - E-XMMRUT - C-XMMRUT - E-	•	Intrope W1780 CDC BNC DAMesic DAMesic Datas Doby Nation Doby Nation Dobat Dobat DChane Mod Dopd Islaw FC CO LDCesc LDCesc LDTest Mess LDTase I(D1Mess	92.m
				UNDesc UNDesc LLND Golg false Type Valke 0 1000 internal Data Attribute BType extTabute	
Contractor Parts March and	14 motors			CDC ENC DADesc	
Customer Data Attribute	Mapping	Prema Data Attroute		DAViame Oper ctil	Num
J Mees-LLNU Mod Oper citival (JO)		LOO CMICKO MOS Oper citival (CO)	_	Dong false	
1 Meas/2010 Mod Oper orgin ordat (201		EDD-C MILKO I MOD Oper pripri orcar (LO)	-	DOName Mod	
Meas/LLNU Mod Oper orgin prident (CO)		LDD/CMIOR/1 Mod Oper origin or devid (CO)		Dupd false	
Neer (Throwed oper damas (CO)		(DOCMODI) Not Oper certain (CO)		PC CD	
.) Meas-LLN2 Mod Oper.T [CD]		LDO/CMMXU1 Mod Oper T [CO]		LDivit LD0	
.] Meas-LLND Mod Oper Test [CO]		LDD-CMRXU1 Mod Oper Test [CO]	_	LDName (ED1LD)	0
J Meas/LLN0 Mod Oper Check [C0]		LDD/CMMXU1 Mod Oper Diedk [CO]	_	LNDesc CMMOU	1
Meas/LLN0.Mod.atVal [ST]		LDG-CMMDR/11 Mod.etVal [ST]		Number of Macpings 0	
Mees/LLN0 Mod q [ST]		LDD/CMMXU1 Mod.q [ST]		Qohg false	
Mees/LLNO.Mod 1 [ST]		LDD/CMMXU1 Mods [ST]		Signal Name	
Meas/LLND.Mod.ctModel [CF]		LDD-CMMXU1.Mod.etModel [CF]		Valkind Set	
Meas/LLN0.Beh.stVal [ST]		LDD/CM80XU1.Beh.atVal [ST]		Value 0	
Meas/LLN0.Beh.q [5T]		LDD/CMMXU1 Beh.q [ST]			
Meas/LLN0.Beht [ST]		LDG/CMMXU1 Beh1 (ST)			
Meas/PHASESMMXI/1 A.d (DC)	LDG/CMMXU1.A.d [DC]	LDD/CMMXU1.BK.#Val [ST]			
Meas/PHASESMMXUT.AphsAinstCVal.map1 (MX)	LD0/CMMXU1.AphsAinstCVal.map.f [MX]	LDD/CMMXU1.Bk.q (ST)			
Meas/PHASESMMXU1.AphsAinstCVal.ang.f (MX)	LD0/CMMXU1 AphsAinetCVal ang f (MX)	LDD-CMMXU1 Bk t [ST]			
Meas/PHASESMMXU1 AphsA eVal map F (MX)	LDG/CMMXU1 AphsAcVal map1 (MX)	LDD/CMMXU1 A # [DC]			
Meas/PHASESIMMXU1 AphsAcVist ang F[MX]	100 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	LDD-CMMXU1 AphsAmeCValmap1[MX]			
Meas/PHASESMM0(U1.A.phsA.range [M0(]	LDG/CMMXU1 AphsArange [MX]	LDS/CMMXU1 AphsAineCVal ang F [MX]			
Meas-PHASESMMXU1 AphaA.q [MX]	LDG/CMMXU1.AphsAg [MX]	LDG/CMMXUI ApheAcVal meg # [MX]			
Meas/PHASESMMXU/1 AphsAt [MX]	LDG-CMMXU1 AphaAs (MX)	LD0/CMMXU1 AphsAlange (MX)			
Meas/PHASESMMXU/I ApheAunts SILInit (CF)	LDG/CMMXU1 ApheAunta SIUnt [CF]	LDD/CMMXU1 AphsAg (MX)			
Meas/PHASESMMXU1.AphsAunts multipler [CF]	LDD/CMMXU1 A phaA units multiplier (CF)	LDD/CMMXUI AphaAz (MX)			
Meas/PHASESMMXU1 AphsAdb (CF)	LDD/CMMXUT ApheA.db [CF]	LDD/CMMXU1 AphsAunts Sillint (CF)			
Meas/PHASESMICKU1 AphsAperoDb (CF)	LDG/CMMXUT.AphsAperoDb (CF)	LD0/CMMX001 AphsAunts multipler (CF)			

Figure 154: Excluding data attributes from mapping

The data attributes that are excluded from the mapping are not excluded from the model. Excluded mappings are ignored when determining if an IED mapping is complete.



It is crucial to set a value to the excluded data attributes before initiating the mapping.

8.5 Setting data attribute value

Edit the Value field in the Object Properties pane.

- For enum type of data attributes, select the value from the list of available values.
- For numeric and string type of data attributes, type the value in the Value field.

Flexible Product Naming - IEC 61850 Struct	ture Happing		- 4 b X	Object Properties	- *	
Customer Data Structure		Internal Data Structure		20 21 00		
			_	~ [000] Customer Data	Atribute	
■1 E01 ●1 ●1 ●1 0.453		● E01 ⊕ CR ⊕ CR ⊕ CR ⊕ CR ⊕ CR ⊕ CRMARUT ⊕ ENFOCI ⊕ ENFOCI </td <td>•</td> <td>Il Type CDC DAVene DAVene DAVene DAVene DAVene DOMene DOMene DDA DAVene DDA DAVene DDA DAVene DDA DAVene DA</td> <td>Ervan Erva Operativis Heine Co Co Co Pet Ecothers Heine Bietranostikostikos Sei Sei Seised</td>	•	Il Type CDC DAVene DAVene DAVene DAVene DAVene DOMene DOMene DDA DAVene DDA DAVene DDA DAVene DDA DAVene DA	Ervan Erva Operativis Heine Co Co Co Pet Ecothers Heine Bietranostikostikos Sei Sei Seised	
Customer Data Atribute	Macting	Internal Data Attribute		CDC SADeec	test sest/blocked	
Prot/HEPTEC1 Mod Oper ctVol (CO)	- ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL AL	LOD CMMOUT Mod Dave ctive COL	0	DANane	20	
Prst/HPTRC1.Mod.Oper.org/n.orCet.IC01		LD0/CMMRU1 Mod Oper organ or Cat (CO1	0	DODesc	Operation	
Prot/HIPTRC1 Mod Oper origin orident (CO)		LDS/CMMXI/1 Mod Oper proin orident (CO)	0	DOName	Mod	
Rest /HIPTRC1 Mod Oper of Num (CO)		LD0/CMMXU/I Mod Oper ctNum ICOI	0	Dupd	false CD	
Rest/HIPTRC1.Nod.Oper.T (CO)		LD0/CMMXU1 Mod Oper T [C0]	0	LDDesc	Protection	
Prot/HIPTRC1 Mod Oper Text (CO)		LD0/CMM04J1 Mod Oper Text [C0]	0	LDHat	LDO.	
Rost/HIPTRC1 Mod.Oper Direck (CO)		LDD:/CMMXU1.Mod.Oper/Direck. [CO]	0	LNDesc	CMMAU	
Prot/HIPTRC1.Mod.etVal (ST)		LDS/CMMXU1 Mod at Val (\$7)	0	LNNane	CMMORUT	
Prot/HPTRC1.Mod.q (5T)		LDD/CMMxU/1 Mod q [ST]	0	Ocho	Calme	
Prot/HIPTRC1.Mod.t (ST)		LDG/CMMXU1 Mods (ST)	0	Signal Name	Without the second second	
Prot/HIPTRC1.Mod.ct/Model [CF]		LDG/CMMXU1 Mod ctModel [CF]	0	Type Validavi	ABBED600_Rev1_BehaviourMo Gat	
Prot/HIPTRC1.Beh atVal [ST]		LDG/CMMXU1.Beh arVal [ST]	0	Value	en .	
Prot/HIPTRC1.Beh.q [ST]		LDD/CMMXU1 Beh.q [ST]	0			
Prot/HIPTRC1.Beht [ST]		LDD/CMMXUT.Beht (ST)	0			
Prot/HIPTRC1.Op.general [ST]		LDO/CMMXU1.8k atVal [ST]	0			
Rel/HIPTRC1.Op.e [ST]		LDG/CMMXU1 Bik q (ST)	0			
Prot/HIPTRC1 Op : [ST]		LDS/CMMKUT.BK ± [ST]	0			
Rest/HIPTRC1.Tr.general [5T]		LDD/CMMXUT.A.6 [DC]	1			
Pot/HPTRC1.Tr.q [ST]		LDD/CMMXUT AphsAin#CVel map1 (MX)	1			
Proc/HIPTRC1.Trs [ST]		LDG-CMMXU1.AphaAinstCVal.ang.f [M/]	1			
Prot/HIPTRC1 Str general (ST)		LDD/CMMXU1.AphsAcVal.meg.f (MX)	1			
Prot/HIPTRC1 Str.q [ST]		LDC/CMMXU/I AphsArange [MX]	3			
Prot/HIPTRC1.Str1 [ST]		LOD/CMMXUT AphaAq [MX]	1			
		LDG/CMMXU1.AphsAt [MX]	1			
		LDD/CMM00.01 AphsAunts SIUnt (CF)	1			
		LDD/CMM00/1 A phoA units multiplier [CF]	1			
		LDG/CMMXUIT A phoA db ICFT	11	Value		

Figure 155: Setting the data attribute value



A value cannot be set for all data attributes types. For example, quality and timestamp values cannot be edited.

8.6 Validation

Once the FPN mapping is complete, all mapping can be validated in three ways using the validate options available on the toolbar.

Object Types - # # :	K Project Explorer	Voldete All Chi+Alt+A	Flexible Product Naming - IEC 61850 Strue	cture Happing		+ () 3
General 3	Plant Structure	Widete Current Chrl+Alt+C	Customer Data Structure		Internal Data Structure	
Generic (EC61850 (ED 5	E B PROJECT	W Validate Selected Chri+AR+S				
Feeder IEDe d	ST SUBSLIGHT		10-1 (ED1		3-00	
Generator Protection IECe d	8-B	01			and a state of the	
Motor Protection IEEs 3		CO HOT DESC				
Transformer IBDs 3	Cit Unantitated	LED.				
Multiapplication IEDe 3	3					
Substation Merging Unit 3						
Smart Substation Control and Pr. 3						
					1	
			Customer Data Abribute	Mapping	* Internal Data Abibuta	
			K LOG LLNG Miel Open of Viel (CC)		LDG-LLND Mod-Oper LEVel (CO)	1 C - 1
			LDG/LLNG Mod Oper origin arCat (CO)	CTRL/LLND Mod Oper origin orCat (CD)	LDG/LLNG Mod Oper origin or Cat (CO)	1.
			K LDD-LLND Mod Oper origin or ident (CO)	and an and a second	LDG-LLN0 Mod Oper organ arident (CO)	1
			LD0 LLN0 Med Oper at Num (00)	CTFL/LLN0 Mid Oper attrium (CO)	LDG-LLND Mod Oper at Num (DD)	1
			S LD0 LLND Mud Oper T (CO)		LOB/LLND Mod Oper T (CO)	1
			LDG/LLNG Mod Oper Test (CO)		LDG/LLN0 Mod Oper Test (CO)	1
			K LDD LLND Mod Oper Oreck (CD)		LDD-LLND Mod Oper Dreck (DD)	1
			K LDD-LLND Mod arver (ST)		LDD/LLND Mod arVe (ST)	1
			S LDG/LLND Mod g [57]		L00.5LN0.Mod.a (ST)	1
			S LDG-LLNG Mode (ST)		LOG/LLNO Mode (ST)	1
			K LDG-LLND Mod et Moder (CF)		LDD-LLND Med of Midder (CF)	1
			EDD-LLND Beh arvial (STI		LDG-LLND Beh arVel (ST)	1
			S LDO LLND Ben a (ST)		LDO/LLND Beh a (ST)	1
			100-LUNO Ben 1(57)		LDO-LLND Bent (ST)	1.
			The second s			
			100 L00 LPH01 Beh at Val (ST)		LDG/LLN0 Health at Val (\$1)	0

Figure 156: Validate mapping

8.7 Template creation

It is possible to create a template of an IED's data attribute mapping and store it for reuse. The template contains the description of the data attribute mapping of two IED SCL models.

All mapping templates created in PCM600 are stored in a template library. The template library is not specific to a certain PCM600 project, but it is common for all projects. Templates in the library can be managed in several ways.

- Delete selected templates
- Export templates: One or multiple template files can be exported.
- Import templates: One or multiple template files can be imported. If a template being imported already exists in the library, the user is asked whether to overwrite the existing one.
- Export project's templates: When a PCM600 project is exported, all templates used in the project are automatically included in the exported .pcmp file.
- Import project's templates: When a PCM600 project is imported, all templates included in the imported .pcmp file are automatically imported into the template library. If a template being imported already exists in the library, it overwrites the template in the library.

The mapping templates are also used by IET600 to translate the internal data references in the signal library to the FPN references, because IET600 needs to know what template to use to resolve the internal data references.



Create a template for each IED mapping.

8.7.1 Mapping template creation

Data attribute mapping templates can be created from mapped IEDs. If the template is created from an incompletely mapped IED, a dialog box is shown. The user can select an option to not show the dialog box again. The dialog box can be activated afterwards from the PCM600's Options menu.

The template can be created either from IEC 61850 Structure Mapping or from the PCM600 plant structure. The required template information must be filled in before it can be created.

8.7.2 Applying of a mapping template to IED

The template can be selected from a list of available templates. The FPN IED must be mapped with a PCM600 internal IED before the template can be applied.

The template can be applied either in IEC 61850 Structure Mapping or in the PCM600 plant structure. In IEC 61850 Structure Mapping, the template can be applied to one or several IEDs at once. In the plant structure, the template can be applied on one IED at a time by right-clicking an IED, or on all IEDs under a bay by right-clicking the bay.

8.7.3 Exporting FPN templates

- 1. Right-click the PCM600 plant structure.
- 2. Point to Flexible Product Naming and select Manage Mapping Templates.
- 3. Select the templates to export and click **Export**.

Mapping Template Ma	anager				×
IED type: All	~				
Name	Version	Created	IED Type	IED Version	Customer Name
Template Name	1.0	5.11.2019 15.39.25	REX640	PCL2	Customer Name
CDN exercise towalate					/
FPIN mapping template					
				Export Imp	ort Delete Close

Figure 157: Exporting FPN templates

4. Select the folder where to export the templates and click **OK**.

8.7.4 Reporting and printing

The report consists of a cross-reference list of the IED and data attribute mappings, that is, a table of all FPN objects together with the PCM600 internal objects they are mapped with.

Parameter	Customer IED	Internal IED
Technical Key	IED1	IED1
Description	IED1 DESC	IED1 DESC
IED Type	TEST	TEST
Configuration Version	VERSION	VERSION
Manufacturer	MANUFACTURER	MANUFACTURER
IP Address	192.168.2.10	192.168.2.10
IP-GATEWAY	192.168.2.1	192.168.2.1
IP-SUBNET	255.255.255.0	255.255.255.0
Voltage Level	E1 (E1)	E1 (E1)
Bay	Q1 (Q1)	Q1 (Q1)

Figure 158: IED mappings

Customer Access Point	Internal Access Point
IED1.IED1_AP1 [WA1]	IED1.AP1 [WA1]
IED1.IED1_AP3_SERVERAT [WA2]	IED1.AP2 [WA2]

Figure 159: Access point mappings

Customer Data Attribute	Internal Data Attribute	Signal Name
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Beh.q [ST]	CTRL/LLN0.Beh.q [ST]	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Beh.stVal [ST]	CTRL/LLN0.Beh.stVal [ST]	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Beh.t [ST]	CTRL/LLN0.Beh.t [ST]	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Mod.ctlltodel [CF]	CTRL/LLN0.Mod.ctlModel [CF]	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Mod.Oper.Check [CO]	CTRL/LLN0.Mod.Oper.Check [CO]	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Mod.Oper.ctlVal [CO]	CTRL/LLN0.Mod.Oper.ctlVal [CO]	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Mod.Oper.origin.orCat [CO]	CTRL/LLN0.LocSta.Oper.origin.orCat [CO]	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Mod.Oper.origin.orldent [CO]	CTRL/LLN0.Mod.Oper.origin.orldent [CO]	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Mod.Oper.Test [CO]	CTRL/LLN0.Mod.Oper.Test [CO]	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Mod.q [ST]	CTRL/LLN0.Mod.q [ST]	
AA1E1Q1/LLN0.Mod.stVal [ST]	CTRL/LLN0.Mod.stVal [ST]	

Figure 160: Data attribute mappings

9

Glossary

АСТ	1. Application configuration tool in PCM600
	2. Trip status in IEC 61850
AIM	Analog input module
ANSI	American national standards institute
ARP	Address resolution protocol
CID	Configured IED description
СМТ	Communication management tool in PCM600
COM600S	Substation management unit. An all-in-one communication gateway, au- tomation platform and user interface solution for utility and industrial distribution substations.
COMTRADE	Common format for transient data exchange for power systems. Defined by the IEEE standard.
Connectivity package	A collection of software and information related to a specific protection and control IED, providing system products and tools to connect and interact with the IED.
DA	Data attribute
Data attribute	Defines the name, format, range of possible values and representation of values while being communicated
DHCP	Dynamic host configuration protocol
DO	Data object
EMC	Electromagnetic compatibility
Ethernet	A standard for connecting a family of frame-based computer networking technologies into a LAN.
FPN	Flexible product naming
FTP	File transfer protocol
FTPS	FTP Secure
GCB	1. GOOSE control block
	2. Generator circuit breaker
GDE	Graphical display editor in PCM600
GoCB	GOOSE control block
GOOSE	Generic object-oriented substation event
НМІ	Human-machine interface
HSR	High-availability seamless redundancy
HTTPS	Hypertext transfer protocol secure
HW	Hardware
I/O	Input/output
ICD	IED capability description

Table continues on the next page

IEC	International electrotechnical commission
IEC 61850	International standard for substation communication and modeling
IEC 61850-9-2	A communication protocol based on the IEC 61850 standard series
IED	Intelligent electronic device
IET600	Integrated engineering toolbox
IID	Instantiated IED description
Instance	Identical protection function blocks available in a standard configuration. By setting the application-specific parameters of an instance, a protec- tion function stage can be established.
IP	Internet protocol
IP address	A set of four numbers between 0 and 255, separated by periods. Each server connected to the Internet is assigned a unique IP address that specifies the location for the TCP/IP protocol.
LAN	Local area network
LED	Light-emitting diode
LHMI	Local human-machine interface
LN	Logical node
MAC	Media access control
NCC	Network control center
PC	1. Personal computer
	2. Polycarbonate
PCM600	Protection and control IED manager
PRP	Parallel redundancy protocol
PST	Parameter setting tool in PCM600
RTD	Resistance temperature detector
SAB600	Substation automation builder tool
SCD	Substation configuration description
SCL	XML-based system configuration description language defined by IEC 61850
SLD	Single-line diagram
SMT	Signal matrix tool in PCM600
SMV	Sampled measured values
Subnet mask	A set of four numbers used to create IP address numbers that are used only within a particular network, subnet
VPN	Virtual private network
WAN	Wide area network
WHMI	Web human-machine interface
Widget	Any graphical object drawn on the LHMI page with Page Editor in PCM600
XRIO	eXtended relay interface by OMICRON



ABB Distribution Solutions
Digital Substation Products
P.O. Box 699
FI-65101 VAASA, Finland
Phone +358 10 22 11

www.abb.com/mediumvoltage www.abb.com/relion www.abb.com/substationautomation